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(The proceedi ngs were continued,
commencing at 9:01 a.m, Monday, April 28, 2008, as
follows:)

JUDGE WAHL: Good nor ni ng. | am Al Wahl
the adm nistrative | aw judge designated by the
Office of Adm nistrative Hearings pursuant to the
request of the North Dakota Public Service
Comm ssion to act as the hearing officer for the
suppl emental hearings of the Otter Tail Corporation
and Mont ana-Dakota Utilities Company advance
determ nation of prudence applications for their
respective participation and ownership interest in
the Big Stone Il Generating Plant.

The application of Otter Tail Corporation
is Public Service Case No. PU-06-481, and the
application of Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. is
Public Service Comm ssion Case No. PU-06-482.

Otter Tail, Montana-Dakota and ot her
utilities initially proposed to construct a
630- megawatt pulverized coal facility |ocated
adj acent to the existing Big Stone Generating Pl ant
in Big Stone City, South Dakota. The conpanies
requested that the Comm ssion determ ne the
construction of the Big Stone Il facility to be

reasonabl e and prudent in order to provide the
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basis for future rate stability proposals the
conmpanies will present to the Comm ssion.

A hearing of the conpanies' applications
was held in June 2007.

On September 17, 2007, the conmpanies
notified the Comm ssion that two of the project
co-owners had wi thdrawn fromthe project and
requested the Comm ssion to suspend further
consi deration of the applications until they
devel oped a recomendati on on how to proceed with
the project. The Comm ssion granted the request.

On Oct ober 4, 2007, the conpanies
requested | eave to supplement the record of the
hearings, and on Decenber 11, 2007, requested the
Comm ssion to establish a procedural schedul e for
suppl ement al hearings of their applications. Those
requests were each granted, |eading to these
suppl emental hearings today.

Bef ore proceeding with the hearings, |
wi |l ask the Comm ssioners for their comments and
any directions for the hearings. Conmm ssion
Presi dent Susan Wefal d.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Good nor ni ng. |t
seems something |like deja vu because, as the

hearing officer has already mentioned, we held a
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hearing | ast June and the Comm ssion was worKking
hard on a final order when we received information
fromthe applicants about the change in the
application. And so to ne it's a very unique
opportunity that the Comm ssion has to becone very
wel | -informed about this project before we make a
final decision, and that's why I'm | ooking forward
to this hearing today.

Al'l the Comm ssioners have had a chance to
| ook over the materials that have been provided by
t he conpanies prior to this hearing, and what
found was that it was easier, you know, to read
t hese new supplemental materials than it was the
original ones because of my background with this
project and nmy understandi ng already of the
proj ect. And so | am | ooking forward to this
hearing and the ability to make a very
wel | -informed decision by the time we get to that
poi nt. Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Tony Cl ark.

COWM SSI ONER CLARK: Just good norni ng and
wel come, | ook forward to a good heari ng.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Kevin Cramer.

COVM SSI ONER CRAMER: | would say good

mor ni ng and wel come, as well. | have to say,
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simlar to what Comm ssioner Wefald said, | found
this reading -- reading all of the direct, as well
as the rebuttal testinmony -- 1'lIl come up short of
saying it was fun. | said that earlier and Bill
corrected ne. It was nmore interesting. | don't
know it's any nore interesting, but it was clearer
to me as | read it, and to consider and to contrast
the econom cs of 630 megawatts to 580 or 500
megawatts was obviously nmuch easier than it was the
first time around.

Il will say, | also want to conpliment all
of the parties in their prefiled testinmony. It was
very thorough, it was very easily understood, and
it was very appropriate, so | think that will make
the rest of this proceeding go easier. It answered
more questions for me than it raised, which is
al ways encour agi ng. Sometimes | read these things
and | think, oh, wow, now |I'm nmore confused than
was before, but that has not been the case in this
particul ar case. So congratul ations to everyone,
including the intervenors, in their good work
| eading up to this and | ook forward to the rest of
t he process.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you, Comm ssi oners.

The record will show that it is a little after 9:00
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a.m, April 28, 2008, the time and date noticed for
t he suppl emental hearings of the advance
determ nation of prudence applications of Otter
Tail Corporation and Mont ana- Dakota Utilities Co.
for their respective participation and ownership
interest in the Big Stone Il Generating Pl ant,
Public Service Comm ssion Case Nos. PU-06-481 and
PU- 06- 482, respectively.

The issues for these supplemental hearings
remain as initially stated by the Comm ssion for
t he hearings of these applications. First, whether
the resource addition is reasonable and prudent;
second, whether the applicants have need for
additi onal generating resources; and, third, what
alternatives exist for meeting additional
generating needs.

M. Guerrero, will you state your
appearance for the record, please?

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.
Todd Guerrero here on behalf of Otter Tail Power
Conpany, along with Montana-Dakota Utilities.
That's G u-e-r-r-e-r-o. I'"'mwith the law firm of
Li ndqui st & Vennum M nneapoli s.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz, please.

MR. KUNTZ: Dan Kuntz for the applicant,
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Mont ana- Dakota Utilities Co.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen, Ms. La Seur.
MR. BREEN: Attorney Jack Breen for
intervenors.
MS. LA SEUR: Carrie La Seur for

i ntervenors Dakota Resource Council and Mark

824

Trechock. l'"'m from a nonprofit organization called

Pl ai ns Justice headquartered in Cedar Rapids, |owa.

JUDGE WAHL.: M. Binek, please, and al so

identify each nmember of the Comm ssion staff who

will participate for the hearing.

MR. Bl NEK: My name is WIIliam Binek. ' m
counsel for the Public Service Conm ssion, and in
this case | represent the Comm ssion's advocacy
staff. Seated to ny right is Terry Deason, the
Comm ssion's expert witness, and to M. Deason's
right is Mke Diller, who is a public utility
anal yst with the Comm ssi on.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Counsel , | think

we have at | east by my note two prelimnary
matters. First, M. Guerrero, do you still
mai ntai n your request to offer certain wtness

testinony by tel ephone?

MR. GUERRERO: That's correct, Your Honor.

That would be primarily wi tnesses Hewson, Klein and
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Rogel stad for the reasons indicated in the e-mail
that | had forwarded to you, Your Honor, on Friday,
given -- and primarily the reason is that the
Dakota Resource Council had kindly informed the
applicants Friday that they had intended to waive
cross-exam nation of witnesses Rolfes, Hewson, just
had a few questions for Klein, and they intended to
wai ve M. Rogel st ad. Messrs. Hewson and Klein are
comng in fromout East, and given the fact that
t he Dakota Resource Council has indicated that they
have few or no questions for them we certainly
want to make those witnesses available to the
Comm ssion and to the advocacy staff, but we're
wonderi ng whet her or not it made sense to have
t hose people -- persons appear by tel ephone really
for the primary purpose of just saving cost.

Both of those witnesses -- or actually all
three of those witnesses, Rogelstad, Klein and
Hewson, are prepared to appear if that is the
Comm ssion and Your Honor's predilection, but
they're also on standby in the event that we get
word this morning.

M. Rolfes, the project manager, is here
and we intend to present himlive notw thstanding

the DRC' s waiver of his questioning. Thank you.
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JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz, any objection?

MR. KUNTZ: No. Mont ana- Dakota joins in
t he request.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: | have no objection.

JUDGE WAHL: Does the Comm ssion have any
objection to hearing these witnesses by tel ephone?
COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: That's fine.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: No. And we're still
able to ask questions by telephone if we have them
isn't that correct?

JUDGE WAHL: Absol utely.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. The request is
granted. W tnesses Rogel stad, Klein and Hewson
wi Il be heard by tel ephone.

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, one
clarification question. Does it make sense to try
to schedul e those witnesses for a time certain, or
should we just put them on standby given the fact
that they're not here?

JUDGE WAHL: You know, | really think you

shoul d advi se those witnesses as best you can, but
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| really think they're going to have to be
avail able for my call just as if they were present
at the hearing.

Al'l right. Counsel, | next have Ms.
La Seur, the intervenors' notion to strike
suppl emental prefiled rebuttal testimny of Janes
Hei del | . | have only one question with regard to
your notion, Ms. La Seur, and that is -- | don't
want to split hairs, but my question really is not
whet her intervenors had sufficient time to prepare,
but whether they were prejudiced? There may be a
difference. The question -- the issue really is in
my mnd, are the intervenors prejudiced by the |late
filing?

MS. LA SEUR: Well, it's difficult even to
come up with an argument about whether or not we're
prejudi ced when we've had about 48 hours while
traveling to the hearing site to take a | ook at
this post-deadline exhibit. It's really just a
matter of tim ng. | have no objection to M.

Hei dell's offering responsive testinmny to M.
Deason's critique, but it's an undue burden on the
intervenors to attempt to review this information
on such a short tinmeline and be prepared to

respond.
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JUDGE WAHL: So your representation is to
me that you're unable to respond because of the
| ateness of the filing?

MS. LA SEUR: That's right.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO: Actually, M. Kuntz is
going to take this matter.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.

MR. KUNTZ: Thank you. Just by way of
background, as Ms. Stonberg will testify, after the
wi t hdrawal of the couple of participants, it
provi ded an opportunity for the company to go back
and revisit this particular project and try to
update its nodeling in |light of changed conditions,
and one of those conditions was the fact that the
production tax credits are scheduled to expire.
They have not been extended. So in one of the --
we asked when we asked M. Heidell to renmodel --
rerun the models, that was one of the assunptions.
Bef ore he had assuned that the production tax
credits would extend. We asked himto rerun the
model s with the assunption that they were going to
expire, which they're scheduled to do. He reran
t he model and the result remai ned the same as what

it was before when they were extended, that Big
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Stone Il was still an effective project.

But that wasn't the only update that was
included in his rerun of the nodels. M. Deason in
his testimony raised the question as to whether, if
you assunmed that the production tax credits would
be extended rather than expire, would that change
the result of this second run of nmodels.
Intuitively --

MS. LA SEUR: Excuse ne. s M. Kuntz
testifying?

MR. KUNTZ: " mjust providing background
of how we got here, Your Honor, as to why it was
filed when it was filed.

JUDGE WAHL: Let him proceed. If it was
an objection, it's overrul ed.

MR. KUNTZ: Intuitively, internally we
believed that based upon the prior nodeling that in
itself the expiration of or extension of the PTC
credits would not make a difference in the results
in M. Heidell's testinmony. M. Heidell informed
us, however, that he could not testify to that
wi t hout rerunning the models, and basically with
t he assunption that the PTCs woul d be extended.
When we | earned that, we asked M. Heidell to

reactivate the license for Strategist and run that
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model .

He, however, wasn't able to conplete that
in time when we filed the supplenmental testinony,
so in the testimony we indicated that we were going
to rerun the nodel, we would supplement the
testinony, and we did that two days after when we
filed the initial testimny, and the results were
as we -- as at |least we believed internally
expected that it didn't make any result.

| think that the intervenors clearly have
not been prejudi ced because they've indicated to us
previously that they no | onger have the license for
Strategist, so it's not |like they were going to
rerun the model thenselves. They were provided the
outputs. The results are what they are. M.

Hei dell will testify that that was the only thing
t hat he changed in this latest testinmny. What it
does, it provides a further supplement of the
record, if you will, to make perfectly clear the
fact that in thenselves the expiration of these
PTCs, either extended or expired, will not change
the result in terms of Big Stone being the
preferred generation alternative. So it's as we
expected and there is no prejudice to the

intervenors, they know what the results were as we
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expect ed.

What it does do, frankly, is the
intervenors were conpl ai ni ng about the fact at page
78 of M. Schlissel's testinmony that we had assunmed
the expiration of the PTCs and, therefore,
suggesting the result would have been otherwi se.

We' ve basically taken that argument away, so the
extent that there's a prejudice, that's what it is,
is that we've resolved one nore question in this
proceedi ng. So we would resist the notion and
request that M. Heidell's testinony be received
when of fered.

JUDGE WAHL: All that being true, M.
Kuntz, the problemis, this is a, seems to me, a
due-process issue. That is, fundamentally you have
a right to notice and an opportunity to be heard.
You can't be heard if you can't prepare. \hether
or not your view is correct the prejudice to the
intervenors, |I'mnot sure you're in a position
to -- to evidence that. |"mnot -- | don't think
' m prepared to wei gh whether or not the parties --
the intervenors have been prejudiced based on your
representation of what the testinony shows or
doesn't show. | have a problem with m ssing the

deadline in this case because it raises a due-
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process question that | don't think I can

adequately eval uate.

MR. KUNTZ: Well, | would disagree, Your
Honor . | mean, first of all, this is written
prefiled testinony. It's not like the intervenors

didn't have the opportunity to run their own
model s. They had nore than an opportunity to do
di scovery. They were provided with the output. I
mean, it's unusual in due-process standpoint where
you actually have the person's rebuttal testinmony.
It's not unusual in this proceeding -- before this
Comm ssion to have rebuttal given live. W' ve
of fered and agreed to do it by written testimony,
so they not only -- they've had 48 hours nore than
t hey would have had if M. Heidell were getting on
the stand giving this rebuttal testimny live,
which is more typical than not with these type of
proceedi ngs. Like I said, they had the
opportunity, if they wanted to run this thensel ves,
t hey could have run it to see if there was a
particul ar difference. So | would beg to differ.

| would also rem nd Your Honor that we are
on a very shortened time schedule here. W knew
that going in that the schedul e was going to be

tight. W agreed to a two-day extension at the
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request of staff to accommodate some additi onal
time that the staff wanted, which noved everything
back another two days for us. | apol ogize for the
fact that -- we got it done as quickly as we did.
We filed it as quickly as we could after M.

Hei del | had the approval to run the license.
Unfortunately, with the tight schedule that nmeant
that we weren't able to get that out until Friday
afternoon. That is what it is, but | disagree very
strenuously that that's a due-process problem

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.

MS. LA SEUR: There was a deadline, there
was an extended deadline. W agreed to that in
trying to expedite this proceedi ng and be
cooperative with other parties. They m ssed the
deadl i ne. |'"m sure if we had submtted, there's
also further scenario, at 2:20 p.m on Friday, M.
Kunt z woul d be objecting just as strenuously as |
am

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz, | have often
stated my reluctance to exclude evidence in
adm ni strative hearings, but the difficulty I have
here is this goes to the question of what I
perceive to be due process for the parties, and

| -- 1 have a great deal of difficulty reconciling




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

834
this occurrence with the fundamental requirement of
due process. | have a -- I"'mnot -- to my m nd,
the idea of prefiled testinmony was to all ow
everybody an opportunity to be able to respond.
That's lost by this late filing in these
circumstances, in nmy view, and whatever the
circumstances, whatever the reasons, however,
reasonable the late filing was, it still doesn't
address what | see to be the due-process issue.

The motion is granted, M. Heidell's

rebuttal testinmony filed late will be stricken.
MR. KUNTZ: Your Honor, | assume that when
we call M. Heidell, we'll be able to make an offer

of proof on that supplenmental testinony.

JUDGE WAHL: Absolutely. All right.
Counsel, anything further prelimnarily?

MR. GUERRERO: Just two things, Your
Honor. Wth M. Ward Uggerud's testinony,
suppl emental rebuttal from April 23rd, M. Uggerud
had attached OTP Exhibits 120 and 121, which were
filed as a trade secret request. They were letters
fromOtter Tail to the Burlington Northern and then
the letter fromthe Burlington Northern back to
Otter Tail on behalf of the project. W're going

to withdraw the request for trade secret protection
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and file those as public documents. We have copies
of those here and avail able for parties and for the
Comm ssion and we can pass those out now.

Then | ast, Your Honor, | guess --

JUDGE WAHL: All right. The record wll
be noted for Exhibit OTP 120 and OTP 121, those are
not filed as trade secrets. Next, M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO:. Just to |let people in the
hearing room know, we do have extra copies of the
testi mony books if anybody would |ike one to foll ow
al ong. So anybody that doesn't have one, we
certainly have extra copies. That's it, Your
Honor .

JUDGE WAHL: Anyt hing el se, counsel,
prelimnarily? |If not, M. Guerrero, you may
proceed when you're ready.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you, Your Honor. The
applicants would call to the stand M. Ward
Ugger ud.

JUDGE WAHL.: You may be seated, M.

Ugger ud. M. Uggerud, you -- or | have personal
knowl edge that you have been advi sed regarding
perjury and you understand, of course, that your
testinony continues under oath and subject to the

penalties of perjury for these suppl ement al
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hearings?
THE W TNESS: | understand.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.
MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.
WARD UGGERUD,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified as follows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GUERRERO:
Q Pl ease state your nane.
A. My name is Ward Ugger ud.
Q And by whom are you enployed and in what
capacity, please?
A. OCtter Tail Power Company, senior vice
presi dent.
Q How | ong have you been with Otter Tail ?
A 37 years.
Q And what do you do as senior vice
president?
A. ' mresponsible for the electric power
supply for our customers, our environmental
engi neering and our whol esal e power marketing.
Q What is your educational background, M.
Ugger ud?

A. |*"man electrical engineer, graduate of
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Q Did you have occasion
testimony and exhibits in this
A Yes, | have.
Q And do you have those
M. Uggerud?

A. Yes, | do.

837

to prepare prefiled

matt er ?

up there with you

Q And you have Exhibits -- Otter Tail
Exhi bit Nos. 112 through 116 and Otter Tail
Exhi bits 119 through 121; is that correct? 112 is
your --

A | have 112 and 119.

Q And | believe the exhibits are attached,

M. Uggerud.
A. Okay.

Q 112 is your

suppl enental - -

A Yes.
Q -- direct for March 10th, along with
Exhi bit 119 is your rebuttal testimny from April

23rd?

A. That's right.

Q And did you prepare that

exhi bits?

A. Yes, | did.

Q Do you have any corrections or

testi nony and

additi ons?
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A | do not.

Q And if we were to ask you -- if | were to
ask you those questions today on the stand, would
your answers be substantially the same?

A They woul d be.

MR. GUERRERO: Your Honor, we would offer
OTP Exhibits 112, 112A, 113, 114, 115, 116, 119,
120 and 121, all Otter Tail exhibits.

JUDGE WAHL: Let me -- let me check that,
M . Guerrero. 112, 112A, 113, 114, 115, 116, 119
and 1217

MR. GUERREROC: Yes.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen, who's | eading?

MS. LA SEUR: | am

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: | have no objection, but when
you were going through the exhibits, you said 119
and 121. | think 120 is also included.

JUDGE WAHL: No, | did not include 120.
s 120 included?

MR. GUERRERO: Oh, I'"m sorry. Yes, 120 is
i ncluded.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Exhi bits 112 --
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OTP 112, 112A, 113, 114, 115, 116, 119, 120 and 121
are each received.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have a question,
pl ease.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Wefald.

COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Wbuld you j ust
review for the Comm ssioners where these exhibits
can be found? Are they already in the material s?
Li ke 113 | have here. s that the 113 that you're
referring to?

MR. GUERREROC: Yes, OTP 113.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Al'l right. And 114
has already been given to the Conm ssioners, as
well. That's the U. S. inmports?

MR. GUERRERO: Correct.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Al'l right. And
then -- so 115, 116 we've received then. The new
ones today are -- what is --

MR. GUERRERO: 112A is the summary, and
M. Uggerud is going to give that here in just a
m nut e.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. And then 120
and 121 are new materials for the Comm ssioners?

MR. GUERRERO: That's correct.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: All right. Thank
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you. Just so | know where to find them

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: And you know t hat
119 is the -- what was received |ast week, the
prefiled rebuttal testimny, the other binder that
was received. | think it's the one -- m ght be
t hat one right there.

MR. GUERRERO: Just a clarifying note --

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: That's it.

MR. GUERREROC: -- clarifying note, the
bi nders that were passed out this morning include
the testinony and the exhibits by wtness.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Yes.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Yes. Okay. Thank
you.

JUDGE WAHL.: You may proceed, M.
Guerrero.

MR. GUERREROC: Thank you.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) M. Uggerud, do

you have Exhibit -- OTP Exhibit 112a?
A Yes, | do.
Q And that's the summary of your testimony?
A. That's correct.
Q Can you pl ease provide a short summary?
A | can. Questi on. | s there a renote?

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, right here.
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COMM SSI ONER CLARK: To operate the
Power Poi nt .

THE W TNESS: Thank you, Comm ssioners,
for this opportunity. What | would like to do with
my summary this morning is to try and put the Big
Stone Il project and the application for
determ nation of prudence of that project into the
context that we have as electric utilities to
provide electricity as reliably and econom cally
and environnmentally responsi bly as possi ble before
t he Comm ssi on.

It's a conplex case and you' ve been
i nundated with volumes of materials, and hopefully
this morning what | can do is just try and set some
context for what this project is.

|'d like to begin with the notion that
this project is not the only activity that Otter
Tail and MDU are engaged in in meeting our
responsibilities to provide electricity as reliably
and econom cally and environnentally responsi bly as
possible. This is just but a portion of what we do
as utilities providing electricity to the custonmers
of North Dakota, Montana, South Dakota and
M nnesot a.

So with that, some of these slides are a
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little busy, so if you will allow me, "Il take
sonme liberties and talk to them But | think that
probably as a starting point, it's inportant to put
into context the fact that this application for a
basel oad coal -fired power plant is not the only
thing that we are doing as electric utilities.
would like to talk in the slides that 1've got
i ntroducing nmy testinmony about the bal ance of
things that we are doing to try and meet those
responsibilities.

| indicated that Big Stone Il is not the
only thing that we're doing, and on behalf of Otter
Tail Power Conpany, there are other things that we
are doing in addition to Big Stone I1. You're well
aware of | aw that has been passed in M nnesota and
also recently in North Dakota that sets forth some
standards for both renewabl e energy and
conservation, and that is also a part of the
bal ance of resources that we intend to utilize in
order to meet our obligations as electric
utilities.

The standard in M nnesota is certainly a
very aggressive one, calling for 25 percent
renewabl e energy by 2025, and for achieving one and

a half percent of conservation efforts as a result
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of our activities as a utility. Taken together,
meeting those standards and still providing
electricity as reliably and econom cally and
environmentally responsi bly as possi bl e means t hat
for Otter Tail Power Conpany, for example, our
resource m x going forward to meet the changes in
| oad requirements in the upcom ng years results in
Otter Tail proposing as a part of our overall plans
to include resources that would add renewabl e
energy to the amount of 39 percent of our expected
additi onal needs will come from renewabl e energy
resources.

Because renewabl e energy is an
intermttent resource, there are things that we
have to do in order to provide continuous electric
service reliably fromthat resource, and that would
require for Otter Tail that we're proposing to add
about 24 percent of our additional resources going
forward would be natural gas units that would be
there to supplement and facilitate the devel opment
of the renewabl e energy resources.

The basel oad portion that we're proposing
and is the basis of our discussion here this
mor ni ng represents 23 percent of our resource

additi ons going forward, and the conservation
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efforts that we would hope to be able to achieve
woul d represent about 14 percent of the resource
m X on a going-forward basis. So even then with
t he assunptions of significant amounts of renewabl e
energy and significant amounts of generation
facilities necessary to facilitate the devel opment
of that renewabl e energy standard, we still show in
the materials that we are presenting to you in this
case that the Big Stone Il project is still needed
and justified to be a part of that overall m x.

Certainly people are aware of the fact
that there is a discussion on a national basis and
within M nnesota, too, there are issues of concern
with regard to potential carbon |egislation and
i mpacts on generation resources. And our filing
before this Conm ssion denonstrates that we have
consi dered the inpact of a range of possible
implications with regard to carbon, and we show
that Big Stone Il is still needed even when we have
made assunptions with regard to ranges of future
carbon costs. For exanple, we have applied as a
part of our integrated resource planning the
assunption that carbon would be penalized at $9 per
ton for every ton of em ssions. W have witnesses,

Tom Hewson and Dan Klein and Jeff Greig that have
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provided testinony to provide some context with
regard to the application of the numbers associ ated

with carbon.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have a question
about that. Why are we not striking those numbers
from-- like that $9 a ton if we're striking al
the specific nunmbers that are -- have been told to

be stricken from --

COVMM SSI ONER CRAMER: The externality.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: -- the intervenors
testi nony. | don't understand why all of that
information is not being stricken then also from
Oter Tail's.

JUDGE WAHL.: Because no one has objected,
Comm ssi oner. Now, | recognize that -- | recognize
the provision of the statute that the Comm ssion
may not consider. That being said, however, |
think that so long as there is no objection by any
party, | would allow it for the record.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Well, then why is

JUDGE WAHL: The Comm ssion should foll ow
the statute for its consideration, however,
obvi ously.

COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Then why was the
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issue raised by the intervenors -- by the parties
to strike all the information and why was that
granted by the hearing officer? | mean, | saw your
deci sion about that, and | just don't quite
understand why it's being allowed for one party to
di scuss it and not anot her.

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, that's a fair question,
Comm ssi oner, except that it was considered -- |
don't know what the strategy was in -- for the
motion, but | followed the -- | followed the
statute for my consideration of the notion as

seemed to me to be best and in conmpliance with the

statute. This addition -- this evidence is being
of fered, and unless it's objected to, | will
receive it. It's part of the record.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: So does the
Comm ssion objection count for anything or not?
JUDGE WAHL: Well, you have an advocacy - -
you have advocacy counsel and he is not objecting.
| don't -- and | don't think it's my place,
Comm ssioner, to exclude the evidence w thout a
moti on by counsel .
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Al'l right. Thank
you.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: If | could ask for
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clarification then, Your Honor, is it appropriate
to assume that once all of the -- once the record
is closed, the Comm ssion then has the
responsibility to consider things within the
context of the statute, including whether this
information should be included in our decision?

JUDGE WAHL: That woul d be ny view, but
will tell you as someone who has repeatedly
consi dered that statute, that sometimes the |lines
are not so clear as they may seem and | can only

suggest the Comm ssion needs to be guided by its

counsel

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Then | would al so
ask, is it -- maybe this is a discussion for the
Comm ssioners, | don't know, but do we need one

more time a primer on externalities 101 and the
di fference between potential real costs and, quote,
externalities in the law? And | only pose it as a
hypot heti cal question -- or a rhetorical question.
JUDGE WAHL: Under st ood. ' m sure counse
are |istening. You may proceed, M. Uggerud.
THE W TNESS: And perhaps | can put some
context into the numbers that |' m using, too. I
certainly understand and agree that there is a

Nort h Dakota statute that prohibits the
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consi deration of numbers for externalities, and ny
purpose here isn't to try and introduce those
numbers as regard to the consideration by North
Dakota of this project. However, the reason that |
have nunmbers in my summary here is that Otter Tail
operates within the context of a three-state
service territory, and M nnesota does have a
specific consideration for the request of these, so
by reason of putting forth this background
information, |'mjust attempting to show that with
regard to planning our resource expansion on an
integrated three-state basis, these are the
consi derations that we have put into the analysis
for the purpose of M nnesota, and | would certainly
agree with the Comm ssion that they're not
necessarily relevant for North Dakota other than
for you to know that in submtting a project that
meets the requirements of all three of our state
jurisdictions, that there has been due diligence
applied to the consideration of the nunbers.

And beyond the aggressive assunptions that
we have put in for those renewabl es and for
conservation, we have determ ned that there really
is not a viable alternative to Big Stone 11.

And, again, to try and put some context
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around that, we have denonstrated that there is a
need for basel oad generation. The alternatives to

basel oad generation are really relatively few and

t hey are sinple. | do not think that based on ny
experience within the utility industry that it
woul d be prudent for a utility to come forth before

this Comm ssion or any conmm ssion right now asking
for the approval for construction of a nuclear
power plant. That's not to say that nucl ear may
not reemerge as an option, but the experience that
utilities have had in the past of building nuclear
is going to suggest that it's going to be sometime
and | think some experience required before people
are confortable making the commtment to the suns
of money that would be necessary for the
installation of nuclear.

Utility scale biomss projects, in order
to displace the need for significant anmounts of
basel oad generation resources, would require us to
make sacrifices | think for the diversion of |and
in order to grow the renewabl es that would be
necessary for fueling basel oad power plants, and |
don't think that that would be feasible.

| don't think that there are any

significant amounts of additional hydro generation
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capable for installation in the United States.
There may be some in Canada, but those are sonetime
off and the costs that are energing for those
projects seemto be relatively high.

So | think that, absent the use of
basel oad coal -fired generation that one is | ooking
at, the only remaining alternative would probably
be generation option or options that would require
significant anmounts of additional natural gas. And
natural gas is a concern, | think, for purposes of
both price volatility and potential availability of
gas as a resource.

We have W tness Klein that will be
di scussing before this Comm ssion sonme of the
significant aspects of natural gas, and | think
that in order to put context into the application
of this project for a baseload coal-fired power
plant, it is appropriate to have information
presented to the Comm ssion and a di scussion
surroundi ng those issues of natural gas price and
availability, and Wtness Klein will do that in
detail .

The reason that we are continuing this
hearing fromlast year is to denonstrate before the

Comm ssion that Big Stone Il is still an
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appropriate resource given the fact that there are
now five partners proposing the application of this
project as contrasted to the seven that we had a
year ago. The entire purpose of the testinmony in
this round of proceedings is to denonstrate that
the need is still significant and the need is still
adequate in order to consune the entire resource
that we're proposing before you at this tine.

In addition to the participants that have
wi t hdrawn, there have been several entities that
have approached the project seeking discussion for
t he opportunity that m ght be available to themto
partici pate in the project. In fact, the amount of
interest shown by those parties that would seek to
be a part of the Big Stone project far exceeds the
amount of participation by those two entities that
have wi t hdrawn.

At this point we have not chosen to add a
particul ar new participant or participants at this
time. The evaluation and due diligence with regard
to the possible selection of an additional partner
is something that is ongoing and there are matters
that we are considering and that they are
considering with regard to whether that makes sense

or not, and it is for that particular reason that
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we have come forward before this Comm ssion
denmonstrating the economcs and the feasibility of
either a 500-megawatt project or a 580-megawatt
proj ect.

As a part of our appearing before you
today, we're also prepared to address sonme of the
guestions that Wtness Deason has proposed, and we
wi Il be discussing that in nore detail by Wtnesses
Rol fes, Morlock and Greig, but in summary, Otter
Tail continues to agree with the five conditions
t hat have been recommended by M. Deason. Bot h
Otter Tail and MDU certainly intend to continue to
moni tor things that are happening within the
i ndustry, whether it be with regard to construction
costs or emerging federal |egislation. W would
certainly expect that we woul d have conti nuing
di al ogue with the Comm ssion as the project
proceeds as would be expected to be the nornmal
course of events in anything. It's a project that
we wouldn't -- we wouldn't anticipate that
continuing discussion and di al ogue with the
Comm ssion ends with this proceeding, but that it's
a continuing process.

Wth regard to the response to the

i ntervenor witnesses, the Dakota Resource Council
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and Dr. Schlissel, | do submt to the Comm ssion
that | think that there is a good deal of concern
t hat should be present with regard to the future
avail ability and supply and price volatility with
regard to electric energy.

There is no question when one reviews the
informati on that has been made avail able by the
North American Electric Reliability Council, the
Department of Energy, a |lot of research
organi zations all point to the fact that the
surpluses of electricity that we've had for the
past 25 years are di m nishing. Credi bl e peopl e
suggest that absent the construction of new
basel oad resources, that we do face a time when
electricity can well be expected to be a product in
whi ch the bal ance between supply and demand is
altered, and when the bal ance between supply and
demand is altered, there is the real concern and
risk that we could have future price volatility for
electricity that can only be reduced by the
construction of new appropriate electric generation
resources, and so we submt to you we believe that
Big Stone Il is a cost-effective way of meeting
t hose future electric energy needs. And with that

| conclude nmy summary.
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JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR
Q Good morning, M. Uggerud. Wuld you
agree that this Comm ssion -- can you hear me?
Woul d you agree that this Comm ssion
shoul d have the nost current, most up-to-date
i nformation about the Big Stone Il project when it

makes its decision in this proceeding?

A. | woul d.
Q Is it fair to say that OTP has confidence
in the Big Stone Il capital cost estimte presented

in this proceeding by M. Rolfes?

A Those numbers are the nost current and the
most up-to-date information that we have.

Q s that a yes?

A That's a yes.

Q And woul d you agree that OTP has
confidence in the evidence in the rebuttal
testinony presented by M. Rolfes in this

proceedi ng regarding capital costs?

A. Yes, | do.
Q ' m going to ask you a series of questions
that | would |like just yes or no answers, and your

counsel can ask you to explain on redirect if you
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want . s OTP willing to commt to limt its rate
recovery fromthe Big Stone Il project to its share
of the current project capital cost estimte?

MR. GUERRERO: ' m going to object on the
basis of relevancy, and |I'm not going to allow ny
witness to answer yes or no in the event that the
guestion -- despite counsel's caution to the
contrary. ' m going to object on that question on
t he basis of relevancy.

JUDGE WAHL: How is that relevant, Ms.

La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: M. Uggerud is testifying as
to the prudency of the full application that's been
put before this Comm ssion. | f he doesn't have
sufficient confidence to back that up with a
commtnment to stand on the figures he's offered to
the Comm ssion, then it's very relevant to the
Comm ssion's consideration of what weight to attach
to those nunbers.

JUDGE WAHL: | agree. The objection is
overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: It's interesting. | had
written down one question that | thought that |
m ght expect first, and that was the question that

|'ve gotten. Unl ess |'m prohibited from answeri ng
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ot her than yes or no, | intend to provide a nore
conmpl ete response to the question.

The information that we have avail abl e at
the current time, the information that the
Comm ssion has avail able at the current time is
t hat the cost nunbers that we now have are the best
cost numbers that are avail able today. The entire
reason why utilities come before a Comm ssion is to
exam ne the options available in the Iight of the
information as we know it now.

Wth regard to the exposure of Otter Tail
Power Company and MDU to nonrecovery of any changes
t hat m ght occur relative to those costs by the
time that we would finish construction and put
facilities in service, | would object. And |I would
object for the reasons that there's no reassurance
that the alternative costs m ght not also change.
So this is a joint proceeding. W're com ng
forward with the best information that we have
avai l able to us today. That's not to say that
t hi ngs m ght not change. But the changes in the
alternatives could even be nmore far-reaching and
more dramatic than whatever changes woul d be
potentially possible to occur with the project that

we're proposing.
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Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) s that a no?

A |f the question was, would Otter Tail
agree to the risk of cost recovery should costs
change from those that are in the record today, the
answer i s no, we would not agree to that.

Q Is OTP willing to agree to limt its rate
recovery to any set percentage increase above the
current cost estimte?

A Absol utely not, because the alternative of
natural gas could result in the cost of the natural
gas alternative increasing even more, and there is
no utility that would accept the risk of being
deni ed recovery for a preferred alternative and
t hen being subjected to not being able to recovery
if the cost changes of a |l esser preferred
alternative. Or in the reverse, if the Comm ssion
were to say that there would be a limt as to cost
recovery for the preferred alternative and deny
t hat, would that mean then that the Conm ssion
woul d say that the changes that m ght occur in the
alternative would be costs that would then be
automatically available to be passed through to
customers?

This is not a -- this is not a situation

where a determ nation could be made to put risk in
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one manner and then be silent with regard to the
risk that you would then introduce with regard to
sonmething else. That's why we come before the
Comm ssion today presenting the information as
clearly and conpletely as we know it today. That's
why we have a dialog with the Comm ssion with
regard to the public good that results from making
decisions at a point in time based on the
information that's available at that point in tinme.

Q Does OTP intend to comply with the North
Dakota renewabl e energy objective that 10 percent
of all retail electricity sold in the state be
obt ai ned from renewabl e energy and recycl ed energy
by 20157

A We do.

Q And what anount of additional renewable
and recycled energy will be necessary on OTP's
systemto comply with this objective at a utility
| evel ?

A. That is nodeled in our integrated resource
pl anni ng anal ysi s.

Q But you're not famliar with those
nunbers, personally?

A M. Morlock -- Wtness Morlock is here for

t he purpose of discussing the details of that
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anal ysi s.

Q | refer you to your supplemental rebuttal

testi nony at pages 15 and 16.

MR. GUERREROC: At March 10t h?

MS. LA SEUR: | believe so, yes.

MR. GUERRERO: Whi ch page?

MS. LA SEUR: Let's see. 15 and 16. This
is April 23rd, I"'mreferring to.

THE W TNESS: Yes.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) And I'm | ooking
specifically with your reference to the testimony
from Wtness Hewson. M. Hewson has testified on
behal f of the applicants that it is reasonable to
expect that Big Stone Il will be allocated free CO2

al | owances under a cap-and-trade program correct?

A That's correct.

Q You testified to the followi ng at page 16,
lines 5 and 6, | think your words are, In other
words, effectively Big Stone Il would initially

need to purchase all owances at open market val ue

for only 35 to 50 percent of its CO2 em ssions;

correct?
A That's correct.
Q Can you point to any evidence in the

record aside from M. Hewson's specul ation that
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woul d support this conclusion?

A. Well, the purpose of having M. Hewson
avai | abl e as an expert to the project was to
analyze thoroughly the |egislation that would
apply, and that's what he has done here and we have
relied on that analysis, believe it to be correct.

Q And | will -- 1 understand that you have
referenced Mr. Hewson here. My question is if you
can point to any evidence in the record or any
ot her evidence you relied on to reach this
concl usi on.

MR. GUERRERO: | think he answered the
guestion. Asked and answer ed.

MS. LA SEUR: | ' m aski ng about evidence in
the record.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Well, certainly there are
many ot hers that have been providing analysis with
regard to the various pieces of |egislation that
have been suggested. The Lieberman-Warner bill
t hat has been passed out of commttee is one that
has been analyzed. There is discussion of that
| egi sl ation that has been made avail able by the
Edi son Electric Institute, by various parties. W

have read that. W know from our own reading of it
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t hat that proposed | egislation would grant
al l owances to new facilities.

The entire purpose of the underlying
phil osophy of that bill is to encourage to the
extent possible the addition of new resources that
woul d be more efficient than existing resources.
That's one of the underpinnings of the
Li eberman-Warner bill, is that it is designed in
order to try and nmove the country toward a nore
energy-efficient electrical generation scenario,
and that's the purpose for providing the allowances
t hat woul d be made avail able to new units.

A new unit like Big Stone Il is going to
be significantly nore energy efficient than the
current fleet of electric generation resources in
the country. If you just take a | ook, for exanple,
at one of the facilities that Otter Tail has in its
system it's a 50-year-old unit, the heat rate on
that unit is significantly higher than the heat
rate that would be available froma new unit |ike
Big Stone 11.

| drive a 1998 Canry that gets 29 mles to
t he gal |l on. My son just purchased a new Canry
hybrid that gets 35 mles to the gallon. There's a

great effort in this country to encourage people to
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purchase new vehicles that get nmore energy
efficiency. The increase in energy efficiency that
we get from going to the older electric generation
plants to the newer ones is the same order of
magni tude as going froman older Canry to a new
Canry hybrid. That is what the Lieberman-Warner
bill is trying to encourage.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) So getting back
to the 35 to 50 percent number, do you have
confidence in that pricing |level or that exenption

| evel for Big Stone I17?

A Yes, | do.
Q Who woul d bear the risk that M. Hewson is
wrong and that Big Stone Il would not be allocated

any free all owances?

MR. GUERRERGO: "' m going to object. Calls
for a | egal concl usion.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed. | don't think so.
| see where this is going. You may answer the
gquesti on.

THE W TNESS: Wbould you repeat the
gquestion, Ms. La Seur?

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Who woul d bear
the risk that M. Hewson is wrong and that Big

Stone Il would not be allocated any free
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al | owances?

A. Well, again, that's the reason that we're
before the Comm ssion, is that the decision that we
make in this application is based on the
information that's avail able and known to us today
at a point in tinme. | would rem nd everyone that
Li eber man- War ner has not been passed into | aw.

It's possible there could be changes to the | aw
before it would be enacted. We're not here, |
don't think, for the purpose of trying to establish
who's going to bear the risk of things that m ght
change in the future and things that are unknown.
The purpose of this proceeding is to make deci sions
on a timely basis based on information that is
known at the time. What we know at the time is
that the | eading candidate bill is the
Li eberman-Warner bill, and we have spent
consi derable time and expense to analyze the
implications of that bill as conpletely as possible
for this project to try and set the context before
the Comm ssion of this project relative to the nost
i kely scenario that exists as of today, and that
is what we have done in this case.

MS. LA SEUR: There's something you just

said that I'd like to be sure | understood
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correctly. Could the court reporter read back the
sentence where | think you said, we are not here to
decide who will bear the risk of future costs?

(Record read as requested.)

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) M. Ugger ud,
does that statement apply also to the risk of
increases in capital costs and increases in coal
supply costs?

A Absolutely. As | had indicated in a
previous response, things will change going
forward, and it's entirely possible that the cost
of the construction of Big Stone Il m ght be
different by the time it's completed than what we
woul d believe it to be the case today. But that's
not to suggest that any of the alternatives would
be free of any risk of changes, as well. | think
t hat we have been extrenely conservative in the
anal ysis that we have applied to the selection of
Big Stone 11. In fact, our testinmny indicates
t hat we have made conservative assunptions with
regard to the cost of the capital construction of
natural gas-fired power plants, we've been
conservative with regard to the pricing of natural
gas as a fuel. We have virtually elimnated from

consi deration the costs that would be necessary in
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order to build the transm ssion to interconnect the
wi nd. We have been conservative in our assunptions
in the selection of Big Stone Il as a resource by
assum ng, at least for Otter Tail's purposes, that
at the time of the conpletion of Big Stone Il that
the PTC would remain in effect. That may not be
the case. There are many assunptions that we have
made for the specific purpose of not to bias the
sel ection towards Big Stone Il, but to prove in the
application of this project before the Conm ssion
that in spite of conservative analysis, that Big
Stone Il is still the most prudent resource that we
could identify based on the informtion that we
know at this time today.

Q But doesn't a prudency finding in this
proceedi ng expose North Dakota ratepayers to a
| evel of unknown risk regardi ng expanded capital
cost, increasing fuel supply and potentially carbon
regul ation?

MR. GUERRERO: ' m going to object on the
basis of nultiple questions, but |I'm basically
going to object, Your Honor, that it does call for
a legal conclusion. The effect of the decision in
this case is a |legal matter. M. Uggerud is an

engi neer and a senior vice president. He's not a
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| awyer, and he's not testifying as to the | egal
effect of what decision -- what the Comm ssion's
decision in this case has or doesn't have with
respect to ratepayers or customers.

JUDGE WAHL: Obj ection is overrul ed.

MR. GUERRERO:. Well, could you repeat the
guestion then? There were multiple questions, |
guess.

JUDGE WAHL: No, | think it was one
gquestion. The question is -- M. Uggerud, do you
understand the question? Do you have the question
in m nd?

THE W TNESS: | understand the question
and | would repeat, | think that I've answered it
before, but let's just suppose, for exanple, that
we go where Ms. La Seur would have us go, and that
is that she suggests that the Comm ssion m ght find
that Big Stone is not a prudent decision based on
the fact that there are things relative to the cost
of Big Stone Il that m ght change by the time we
get the plant built and in service, and | would
suggest in nmy answer that, yes, that is true, but
the risk of that has to be weighed relative to the
risk of other things that m ght change, too.

We have model ed the price of natural gas,
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for exampl e. We' ve identified the price by year.
The price is already forecast by Gol dman Sachs for
this upcom ng winter season to be nearly $5 a
mllion Btu higher than what we have put in our
analysis with regard to the selection of Big Stone
Il. So if one is concerned about whether or not
changi ng econom cs would alter the decision with
regard to Big Stone II, | would think that it's
al so reasonable to expect that the Comm ssion m ght
be concerned about the cost inpact of forcing Otter
Tail and MDU to an alternative where the cost of
that alternative by this winter is expected to be
t hat much greater than what we have nodel ed for the
purpose of not trying to introduce a bias in the
sel ection of Big Stone I1I.

But there certainly isn't anybody with any
experience, whether it be building facilities to
provide electric generation to our customers or
whet her it's farmers that are maki ng deci sions
relative to whether they're going to plant corn or
wheat or soybeans or sugar beets -- there's changes
all the time and deci sions are made at pl anting
season based on the best available information that
you have at the time, and changes will happen. But

| would submt to you that the risk in terms of the
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i mpact on electric customers would be less with the
selection of Big Stone Il as a resource than they
would to go to an alternative that would involve
nat ural gas.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) So getting back
to the question |I asked, would a prudency finding
in this proceeding not expose North Dakota
rat epayers to the set | described of significant
unknown risks?

MR. GUERRERGO: Same obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL.: Overrul ed. You may have a
standi ng objection, M. Guerrero, to this question
of legal versus business decisions. You may answer
t he question, M. Ugger ud.

THE W TNESS: Well, of course. And |
think this is the third or fourth time that |'ve
answered it. Yes, the Comm ssion's decision in
this case carries with it an inplication that the
costs for electricity for the customers that we
serve will in fact be inplicated -- inmpacted by
this deci sion. However, any decision that the
Comm ssion makes in this case will expose our
customers to the risk of things that m ght change
by the time that these facilities would be put in

service. That's why we're before this Comm ssion,
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to have a thorough and conplete discussion with
regard to the context of providing electric
generation resources for the purpose of serving
electricity to retail customers. Any decision wil
have inplications with regard to what custoners
eventually will be exposed to in terms of cost.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Getting back to
your testimony that Big Stone Il will initially
need to purchase all owances at open market val ue
for only 35 to 50 percent of its CO2 em ssions, is
OTP willing to commt to limt recovery from
rat epayers to only this 35 to 50 percent of

em ssions all owances?

A. Absol utely not.
Q What reasons did Great River Energy give
the other Big Stone Il applicants for wi thdraw ng

fromthe project?

MR. GUERRERO: ' m going to object on the
basis of relevancy. The reasons that Great River
Energy or Southern M nnesota Municipal Power for
wi t hdrawing fromthis project have no rel evance
with respect to Otter Tail Power Conpany's deci sion
to move forward with this project.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.

MS. LA SEUR: | woul d argue that the
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answer to the question has a bearing on the
rel evance of the question. | f they withdrew for
reasons that affect the decision on the overall
prudency of the project, then it's information this
Comm ssion can and shoul d consi der.

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, they have the
opportunity to call Great River Energy into this
proceeding if they wanted to. M. Uggerud can't
speak on behalf of Great River Energy.

JUDGE WAHL: The objection is overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Wbould you repeat the
guestion?

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) The question is,

what reasons did Great River Energy give the other

Big Stone Il applicants for withdrawing fromthe
project?
A. If | recall, Great River at the time that

they withdrew made a statement with regard to four
different factors that weighed in their
determ nation to exit the project. | don't recal
of f hand before you today what those four reasons
were, but | think that they're a matter of public
record.

Q Isn't it true that GRE cited concern over

ri sing construction costs and uncertain
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environmental conpliance costs?

MR. GUERRERO: "' m going to object, facts
not in evidence and it calls for specul ation, Your
Honor .

JUDGE WAHL: Well, if the witness has --
if the witness has personal know edge, he may
answer the question. That's the Ilong and the short
of it. The objection is overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: As | recall, Ms. La Seur,

t hose were two of the four reasons that were
articul at ed. | don't believe that they were the
only reasons that they articul ated.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Going back to
your supplemental direct testinmony at page 2, you
testified that the North American Electric
Reliability --

MR. GUERRERO: Excuse me. Which -- are we
March 10 or April 23rd?

MS. LA SEUR: This would be March 10, the
direct as opposed to the rebuttal.

MR. GUERRERO: And page?

MS. LA SEUR: Page 2, and at lines 10 and
11, there's a reference to the North American
El ectric Reliability Corporation Long-Term

Reliability Assessnment, 2007 to 2016.
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MR. GUERRERO: Thank you.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUING) And | would like
to distribute some excerpts fromthat report. And
in referencing this NERC report, you testify that
nati onwi de our long-term capacity margins remain
i nadequate; correct?

A | testified that our nation's |long-term
resources are becom ng i nadequate.

Q |'mreferencing lines 12 and 13 on page 2,
"NERC reported that nationw de our |ong-term
capacity margins remain inadequate."” Is that your
testinony?

A Well, it's a matter of semantics. The
projection that the capacity margins in the future
are inadequate. The North American Electric
Reliability Council puts out an annual report.

What they are saying is that their previous
projections with regard to upcom ng capacity margin
deficits remains, that they've been -- the North
American Electric Reliability Council has been
maki ng this same statement in previous annual
assessments, so --

Q So you're speaking prospectively because
this is a -- this is a long-term assessment ?

A. Not hi ng has changed from the previous NERC
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annual report that would suggest that the deficits
that they're projecting have gone away; that the
projection of deficits remain.

Q And is the report excerpted before you --
does it appear to be the report that you refer to
in your testinmny?

A. Well, | referred to the 2007 reliability
assessnent, and this appears to be an excerpt from
t hat, yes.

MS. LA SEUR: Okay. | would |like to offer
t hese excerpts from the NERC 2007 Long Term
Reliability Assessment 2007 to 2016 into evidence
as Intervenors' Exhibit 17.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO: No obj ecti on.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: | nt ervenors' Exhibit 17 is
recei ved.

MR. GUERRERO: Would it be 1177

MS. LA SEUR: No. | think we're just,
yeah, straight nunmbers on ours.

MR. GUERRERO: Okay.

MS. LA SEUR: lt's I 17, so it looks |like

117.
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MR. GUERRERO: Thank you.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Referencing page
8 in this same report, and you'll have to just |ook
at the nunbers at the bottom of the page because
t hese are pages taken in order, but with pages
m ssing between them so it's actually the second
page in the packet you have. Isn't it true that
this same NERC report reads, at page 8, "Overall
comm tted capacity margins i nproved by
approximately two percent in the U S. over the | ast
year, but margins in some areas decreased. Several
areas established forward capacity market, which
will be relied upon to provide the necessary, new
resources to maintain reliability.” |Is that a
correct reading?

A. That's a correct reading.

Q And at page 2 of your supplemental direct
testinmony from March 10th, you testify that NERC
reports that a high reliance on natural gas in some
parts of the country require special attention to
reduce risks of supply and delivery interruption;
correct?

A Correct.

Q Does the NERC report identify this part of

the country that we are in now as having a high
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reliance on natural gas such that this special
attention is required?

A | don't know if the NERC report
specifically identifies the M dwest region as being
one of those regions, but |I can tell you, based on
my experience in the industry, that we are seeing
that at the margin, wi thout the addition of new
basel oad resources, we're becom ng increasingly
exposed even in this part of the country to the
pricing effects of electricity at the margin being
priced by natural gas.

Q So this is not NERC s concl usion, but your
own concl usi on?

A. | don't think that NERC would -- | don't

think that the NERC report would refute what |'ve

just said. ' mjust saying, Ms. La Seur, that I
don't think that -- based on a nore conplete
readi ng of the assessnent, |I'm not sure that NERC

was speaking specifically with regard to this part
of the region with regard to that statenment on page
8.

Q Do you know what percentage of electricity
consumed in North Dakota is produced by coal
combustion?

A. If you take a | ook -- and, again, |'m not




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

876
sure that the point that you're trying to make.
Certainly, if you take a | ook at the amount of
generation produced in North Dakota, the amount of
generation produced in North Dakota far exceeds the
| oad in North Dakot a. So if you take a | ook at an
average statistic on a statew de basis, you're
going to get a very m sl eadi ng answer. | can tell
you that the amount of electric |oad served by
Otter Tail Power Company in North Dakota does not
i nclude that same high percentage as comng from
coal . Otter Tail Power Conpany is going deficit.
And t he amount of energy that we are acquiring for
t he purpose of serving our load in North Dakota is
becom ng increasingly dependent on purchases that
we have to make from other utilities in order to
provide our load. That's why we are proposing this
proj ect.

MDU coul d respond relative to their own
situation, but | believe that it's simlar to Otter
Tail's, and that is neither Otter Tail or MU
currently have the generation resources installed
to provide electric service to all of our
customers. We are dependent on what is happening
around us with regard to the need for procuring

resources to serve our electric customers.
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MS. LA SEUR: l'd Iike to distribute the
Energy Information Adm nistration's nmost recent
State Energy Profile for North Dakota updated April
17t h, 2008.
Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) M. Uggerud, are
you famliar with the EIA's State Energy Profile?
A. General ly.
Q And does this appear to be a State Energy
Profile for North Dakota updated April 17th, 2008?
A. That's what it appears to be.
MS. LA SEUR: l'd like to offer this EIA
State Energy Profile for North Dakota as
| ntervenors' Exhibit 18.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero?
MR. GUERREROC: No obj ecti on.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?
MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection
JUDGE WAHL: Exhibit | 18 is received.
Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) And, M.
Uggerud, if you would turn to the 2006 part of --
t hat represents coal-fired electricity
consunmption -- or production nationwi de,
approxi mately what percentage of national
generation?

MR. GUERRERO: ' m sorry, counsel. M\here
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are we at?

MS. LA SEUR: Let's see.

JUDGE WAHL: Maybe this is a good time to
recess for 10 m nutes, Ms. La Seur.

MS. LA SEUR: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: We'Ill|l be in recess until
10: 35.

(Recess taken at 10:24 a.m to 10:35 a.m)

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Ms. La Seur, you
may conti nue when you're ready.

MS. LA SEUR: Thank you. To keep ny
guestions in order, |I would |like to go ahead and
offer the first page of the executive summary of
The Future of Coal Report recently released by the
Massachusetts Institute of Technol ogy, which is a
coupl e of pages.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | s the previous
guestion that was asked not going to be asked then
that related to the EIA information?

JUDGE WAHL: Apparently not at this point.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Al'l right. Thank
you.

MS. LA SEUR: "1l sort it out in just a
m nut e.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | did not get a copy
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COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Oh, here. Here's
your copy.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Thank you.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Sorry about that.

MS. LA SEUR: And | had asked one questi
just prior to the break referring to the EIA
report. | actually wanted to ask that question
reference to the exhibit |I have just passed out,
"1l ask a few questions about that and we can ge
back on track and should nove smoothly fromthere
on.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) M. Ugger ud,
does this appear to be the front page -- the |ist
of study participants in the first page of the
executive summary of a report titled The Future o
Coal ?

A. It appears to be.

MS. LA SEUR: | would like to offer thes
t hree pages of The Future of Coal report as
| ntervenors' Exhibit | 19.

JUDGE WAHL: Exhibit | 19, M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO:. Well, |I'm going to object
| don't know what purpose it's being offered for

t his point.
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JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur? Fair enough.

MS. LA SEUR: |*"m offering this just to
provi de an easy reference of sonme of the -- sonme of
the statistics regarding fossil fuel resources and
consunmption in the U.S. and abroad. There's a
table on this first page of the executive summary
that will help us to -- help me just to ask some
summary questions without having to force us to dig
t hrough a | ot of background data.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO: Well, can | voir dire M.
Uggerud with respect to this document?

JUDGE WAHL: Al'l right.

MR. GUERREROC: M. Uggerud, is this the
first time you've seen The Future of Coal ?

THE W TNESS: Yes, it is.

MR. GUERREROC: Did you prepare it?

THE W TNESS: No, | did not.

MR. GUERRERO: Are you famliar with any
of the information in it.

THE W TNESS: Not ot her than what 1've
just been scanning now as we sit here.

MR. GUERREROC: | guess, Your Honor, we
woul d object. This person has no persona

know edge of this particular document. I f Ms.
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t hought it was inportant to introduce, |

guess she could have done it through her own

wi t ness.

So we woul d object at this point. She

certainly can ask questions about it.

probl em

wi t hout

JUDGE WAHL: Yeah, | agree. That's the

You're asking to put this into evidence

a foundation, Ms. La Seur, so without a

f oundati on - -

MS. LA SEUR: We can certainly establish

foundation for this |ater. | just wanted to create

an easy reference for M. Ugger ud.

JUDGE WAHL: | think you can question the

wi tness wi thout offering the exhibit.

t hat .

Q

MS. LA SEUR: That's fine. Then "Il do

(MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) M. Uggerud, are

you famliar with the percentage of electricity

produced by coal conbustion nationw de?

A. General ly.

Q And approxi mately what is that percentage?

A Nati onwi de it's about 50 percent.

Q And turning back to the EIA state report
for North Dakota, if you turn to the top of the
second page in the -- let's see -- probably best to
call it the fourth page since these are printed
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back to back. It's the page that has a paragraph
at the top and the word "data" in the m ddle.

A. Ri ght .

Q And woul d you please read into the record
the second sentence in the bl ocked paragraph at the
top of the page?

A The one that starts "coal-fired"?

Q That's the one.

A "Coal -fired plants provide nearly all of
North Dakota's electricity generation."

Q Right. And turning nowto -- if you keep
turning through these in the order they're stapled
in, you come to "capacity” in the m ddle of the
si xth page, and under "capacity" in the m ddle of
t he page are crude oil refinery capacity of
electric power industry net summer capability, that
l[ist.

A. Ri ght .

Q Okay. And what is the total electric
power industry net summer capability in North
Dakota, according to this document?

A 4,839 megawatts.

Q And of that what is the total net
electricity generation, according to this document?

A. 2,843,000 megawatt hours.
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Q. O rather 2,843 -- it's written
confusingly, but | see what you mean, so it would
be 2,843, 000.
And of that total net electricity
generation for the State of North Dakota, what

wattage is coal fired?

A Watt age would be the incorrect term
but --

Q Megawat t - hour s.

A. -- the portion of generation from coa

woul d be 2,669,000 megawatt-hours.

Q And what portion is natural gas fired?

A 1,000 -- or 1 mllion megawatt-hours.

Q s it 1,000 or 1 mllion?

A | guess it says 1, 000.

Q And what proportion is hydroelectric
power ?

A. 115, 000 megawatt - hours.

Q And what proportion is represented by all

ot her renewabl es?

A 45, 000.

Q Okay. Turning to the -- let's see. This
woul d be the eighth page that has figures on
consunpti on per capita.

A. Yes.
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Q For electricity generation, what amount of
natural gas is consumed in North Dakota per capita
annual |l y?

A 8 mllion cubic feet.

Q And that constitutes what rank in the
United States of U.S. consunmption?

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, | don't intend
to disrupt Ms. La Seur's questioning, but this
document is in the record.

JUDGE WAHL: It is and we're not going to
argue, Ms. La Seur. We're going to brief. So you
have this evidence all in the record. If you're
| eading up to a question, fine.

MS. LA SEUR: |"mcomng to a concl usion
here, yes.

JUDGE WAHL: That's fine. W could up the
pace.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Based on the
numbers represented here, M. Uggerud, is North
Dakota natural gas consunption for home heating
wel | bel ow the national average?

A. "' m not sure that one can draw that
conclusion fromthis report. If you're talking
about the total anmount of natural gas consumed for

home heating in North Dakota, it could well be | ow,
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but North Dakota is not a very popul ous state. | f
you're tal king about the amount of natural gas
consumed per residence that uses natural gas for
home heating, | don't think you could make that
conclusion, so |I'mnot sure that you can draw a
conclusion fromthis report.

Q | f you would turn to the next page that
starts with the line "for home heating (share of
househol ds) ".

A. Ri ght .

Q Do those figures shed any light on North
Dakota natural gas consunption for home heating as
compared to the U.S. average?

MR. GUERRERGO: | guess sane objection.
This document is in the record already. If Ms.

La Seur wants to argue or brief information based
on this, she can certainly do that.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur, is there going
to be a followi ng question or are you sinmly
getting the informati on before the Comm ssion?

MS. LA SEUR: Revi ewi ng some of the
rel evant nunbers, then | have some questions based
on them

JUDGE WAHL: Let's do that. M. Guerrero,

l et Ms. La Seur proceed as she is. The objection
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is overrul ed.
Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) So the original
guestion is, is North Dakota natural gas
consunmption for home heating well below the

nati onal average?

A. | don't think that you can draw that
conclusion, Ms. La Seur. In fact, if you take a
| ook at that 43 conpared to 51 percent, | don't
think that that's significantly bel ow. | mean, |

won't reach that personal concl usion.

Q | s OTP concerned about overreliance on
natural gas for electricity generation in North
Dakot a?

A Yes.

Q Your Exhibit 114 regarding U.S. inmports of
gas, let's just turn to that for a moment. | t
woul d be fair to say that these -- this inport
trend for the United States does not reflect the
trend in North Dakota?

MR. GUERRERO: | guess | would object, no
foundati on for that particul ar question.

JUDGE WAHL: She's asking the question.
You can answer it. The objection is overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Can you refer me to where in

my testimony you're referring right now, Ms.
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La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: Exhi bit 114.

MR. GUERREROC: M. Uggerud, that would be
an exhibit to your March 10th suppl emental direct
testi nony.

THE W TNESS: Okay. And the concl usion.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTINU NG) It's |abeled net
U.S. Inmports of Natural Gas by Source, 1990 to
2030, if that helps. And this exhibit represents a
sharp increase in overseas LNG by 2030; correct?

A. That's correct.

Q Would it be fair to say that this trend is
not representative of any trends currently apparent
in North Dakota?

A. No, | wouldn't agree with that -- with
t hat characterization. | think to the extent that
natural gas as a fuel is made up of various sources
of that as a fuel, that the trends relative to the
increasing share of LNG relative to a declining
share of Canadi an natural gas would suggest to the
extent that North Dakota uses natural gas, that
it's exposed to the same trends with regard to
di m ni shing inports of Canadi an natural gas versus
i mported |iquefied natural gas. That's all | think

t hat one can draw a conclusion fromfromthis
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i nformation.
Q Nort h Dakota typically produces about 1
percent of the nation's annual natural gas

production; correct?

A. | won't dispute that. | don't know that
for a fact, but | won't dispute it.
Q And North Dakota is also one of only two

states that produce synthetic gas; correct?

A. | won't dispute that.

Q And North Dakota's consumption of natural
gas for electricity production equates to 0.0
percent of natural generation for natural gas;
correct?

A. In terms of the electricity produced in
North Dakota from natural gas, that statistic m ght
be correct. That's not the same as saying what the
exposure of custonmers relative to the usage of
natural gas for producing electricity m ght be.

Q And North Dakota's consumption of natural
gas for home heating is below the national average;
correct?

A Not significantly. It | ooked to nme |ike
we were | ooking at 49 percent versus 43 percent
versus 51 percent or something |ike that. I

woul dn't say it's significantly | ess.
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Q My question was, is it bel ow?

A. Well, it would appear that on average it
m ght be below, but | think that in this case
you've got a clear exanple of where averages m ght
be m sl eadi ng.

Q Your testinmony doesn't include any
i nformati on on North Dakota consumption or
production of natural gas; is that correct?

A. My testi mony does not, no.

Q Doesn't include any state-specific trends
on natural gas; is that right?

A. Because | don't think they can be drawn.
They woul dn't be -- they wouldn't be useful if they
coul d be.

Q Looki ng back to the NERC report at page 14
-- no, | don't seemto have the right page. 111
have to conme back to that question.

Does North Dakota's production of
synthetic gas mtigate against its exposure to the
ri sks of the open LNG market?

A. | don't think so. Not -- | don't think it
does, no.

Q Does OTP consider fuel diversification an
i mportant strategy to keep electrical rates down?

A As | indicated in my opening summary, Yyes.
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That's why we are proposing this project as a part
of a bal ance of portfolio of resources.

Q And does this project increase or decrease
OTP's fuel diversity?

A | would say that this project attenmpts to
i ncrease our fuel diversity.

Q WIIl OTP's system consunption of coa
i ncrease or decrease as a result of this project as
an overall proportion of generation?

A Our consunption of coal as a result of our
overall mx will increase. Our consunption of
natural gas as a part of our overall mx wil
decr ease.

Q So in what way does increasing dependence
on coal, when you already have a majority of
dependence of coal, increase diversification?

A. As | indicated in my answer, it decreases
our reliance on natural gas. Our purchases from
the market, which are an increasingly significant
part of our resource mx, is in |large part an
exposure to the natural gas generation resources.
This project would reduce our reliance on that
aspect of our resource m X.

Q How do you define "fuel diversity," M.

Ugger ud?
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A Fuel diversity is just the amount of fuels
t hat woul d be used to produce the various portions
of the supply that you provide to your customers.

Q You testify again at page 2 of your March
10th testimony that the NERC report states that
integration of wind, solar and nucl ear resources
will require special consideration in planning,
design and operation; correct?

MR. GUERRERO: \What page and line? [|I'm
sorry.

MS. LA SEUR: Page 2. Let nme get the line
for you. Wuld be lines 13 and 14 on page 2 of the
suppl emental direct testimny, March 10t h.

THE W TNESS: That's correct.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Isn't it true
that the NERC report also calls for maxim zing the
potential of w nd, solar and nucl ear resources to
meet resource requirements and reduce greenhouse
gas em ssions?

A. Yeah. That's not inconsistent with the
need to do that within the context of the special
consi derations necessary in the planning, design
and operation in order to do just that.

Q Are you famliar with NERC s

recommendation in this report with regard to
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integration of expanded wi nd, solar and nucl ear
resources?

A. Can you point ne to it?

Q Poi nt you back to page 14, the NERC
recommendati ons and concl usions and the NERC
actions.

MR. GUERRERGOC: ' m sorry, counsel. Coul d
you repeat the question?

MS. LA SEUR: The question was, is M.
Uggerud famliar with NERC s recomendati on
regardi ng expandi ng wi nd, solar and nucl ear.

THE W TNESS: At page 14 --

MS. LA SEUR: At page 14.

THE W TNESS: -- NERC i s suggesting that
there is work to be done to identify the
operational requirements to reliably integrate.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) And one of the
recommendations -- actually, the first and central
recommendation is that mandates for aggressive RPS
must be acconpani ed by active support for the
devel opment of and investment in the transm ssion
infrastructure required to reliably integrate those
resources into the bul k power system correct?

A | don't think that you read it as | read

it, but I don't generally disagree with what you
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sai d.

Q Didn't read it as you read it. How so?

A Woul d you read it again?

Q Well, if you would like to read it into
the record, that would be fine.

A. Well, you said the first bullet point. I
think you were reading fromthe second. So that's
why | wasn't sure where you were comng from

Q Referring to the recomendati ons and the
conclusions at the center of the page.

A. Okay. | see that.

Q And does OTP support an aggressive
renewabl e portfolio standard?

A. We have testified that that's what we are
including as a part of our |ong-range generation
expansi on pl an, yes.

Q What are you including specifically?

A. As | indicated in my summary of comments,
| think that Otter Tail's |long-range resource
expansion plan includes 39 percent of our future
resource needs to come fromrenewabl e energy
resources.

Q And so is that a yes, you do support an
aggressi ve RPS?

A That woul d suggest a pretty aggressive




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

894
expansi on of renewabl e energy resources, yes.

Q When | say an RPS, that's generally a

| egi sl ative enactment, is it not?
A. Yes, in all three states.
Q A standard as opposed to a voluntary act?
A. In M nnesota it's a standard. I n North

Dakota and South Dakota it's an objective.
Q And woul d OTP support a mandatory standard
as opposed to an objective?

MR. GUERRERO: ' m going to object on the
basis of relevancy and capacity.

JUDGE WAHL: Sust ai ned.

MS. LA SEUR: My question is to do with
whet her the conclusions of the NERC report are
accepted and endorsed only selectively and where
they suit the applicants or if they are endorsed
gl obally, and so this key recomendati on on
alternative resources seens |ike an inportant
poi nt .

JUDGE WAHL: Not to me, Ms. La Seur.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Has OTP
conducted -- oh, let's start with this one.

Does OTP accept NERC' s analysis only to
the extent that it supports OTP's plan to invest in

Big Stone Il and the associated transm ssion, or
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does it accept this further step that transm ssion
infrastructure for wi nd, solar and nucl ear nust
al so be expanded extensively?

MR. GUERRERO: "' m going to object based
on relevancy and the question is vague.

MS. LA SEUR: | ' m aski ng whet her or not
this report is endorsed fully by OTP or if it's
only bits and pieces that support the application.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Well, Ms. La Seur, | think
that you're reading the recommendati on and
conclusion incorrectly. | think what the
recommendati on and conclusion is saying is that the
mandat es for an aggressive RPS nust be acconpani ed
by additional things. So to the extent that there
are mandates out there that would require
significant amounts of additional renewable energy,
t hose nmust be acconpani ed by support for the
devel opment of additional transm ssion, and | agree
with that. |'ve testified to that.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) At page 3 of
your direct testinony, you testify with regard to
reserve margins. This is, let's see, starting with
"clearly" at the end of line 6 through lines 7, 8,

"Clearly something needs to be done, and quickly,
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to address these loom ng deficits or the
reliability of electric service to consuners and
busi nesses in this region will be inmpaired."”

My question is, the NERC report states at
page 27 -- if you just turn this over, you get to
page 27, the MRO section. The NERC report states,
does it not, that "For the 2007 to 2016 period
proj ected capacity margi ns are expected to be
hi gher than reported by the regional entity to NERC
based on past experience and the contractual
enforcement mechanism for reserves within a | arge
part of the MRO region"; correct?

A. That's what it says on page 27 of the NERC
report.

Q And on the same page, the NERC report also
states, doesn't it, "In this assessment, MRO
projects only include commtted generation projects
(from Load and Capacity reports) that have a
reasonabl e amount of certainty. Usi ng only
commtted projects may | ead to conservative
predictions of reserve margin/criteria, especially
in years six through ten. Hi storically MRO members
have consistently met their reserve margins." Is
that a correct reading?

A. That is correct.
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Q And so when you say that something needs

to be done, and quickly, to address these | oom ng

deficits or reliability will be inmpaired, that's

inconsistent, isn't it, with what NERC is saying?
A Not at all. What NERC is saying is that

historically utilities have provided additional

resources over a period of time fromthose which
m ght have been assumed to be in a particular
annual assessment. Because there are projections
for deficits, utilities do what is necessary to
install additional resources to deal with those
deficits. Hi storically that had been the case.
What we're at risk here is that there are projects
such as this one which are assunmed in the NERC
assessnent that if they don't happen to be would
actually exacerbate and make the deficits that are
in the forecasts now even worse.

Q Actually, the NERC -- the MRO projects
only include commtted generation projects;
correct? |Is this project at a stage where it would
be considered a comm tted project?

A. Well, it's a commtted project as far as
Otter Tail and MDU are concerned.

Q Have you signed any contracts?

A. We have not, but we're assum ng that
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within the context of our |ong-range planning.
This is our plan to nmeet our projected deficits.

Q Can you say with any certainty that this
is the kind of project that is considered by MRO in
its projections of reserve margin capacity?

A You know, | would have to check and see
what is in the MRO data, and that would take me
some time, but | think that that's beside the point
because we're here today establishing that Otter
Tail and MDU have a need in the future, and we're
proposing this project to deal with that foreseen
need that we have.

Q And so NERC is saying that the projections
of avail able capacity margins in your Exhibit 113
from your March 10th testinmony for sumer seasons
are in fact conservative; correct?

A. They're saying that based on past
experience and the contract enforcement mechani sns
t hat we have for reserves, that NERC is saying that
t hey would anticipate that there m ght be
additional resources brought on line in recognition
of the forecasts of those inmpending deficits.

Q And al so on page 27 of the NERC report --
let's see, looking for the sentence that begins,

"In the six- to ten-year time frame, the | ocation
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and magni tude of future generation is |less certain
as lead times are short for a nunber of generation
types, including wind and gas turbines."

MR. GUERRERO: \Which paragraph? [|I'm
sorry.

MS. LA SEUR: This is at the end of the
second paragraph under MRO.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTINU NG) MWth reference
to that sentence, is it the case then that w nd or
nat ural gas could be added to the OTP system
relatively quickly, much nore quickly than a coa
plant if concern increased about maintaining
adequate reserve margins?

A. General ly, yes. Historically it takes
| ess time to devel op a natural gas-fired power
pl ant than a coal -fired power plant. That says
not hi ng about whet her that would be the | east-cost
way of providing for future generation resources,
however .

Q Ri ght . But we won't just all wake up in
2013 and find that we flick the switch and not hing
happens?

A | would hope not.

Q And turning to page 48 again in the NERC

report, | think you just turn -- it |ooks |like
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there's one out of order. | f you turn a couple
pages over, you cone to 48.

This report also analyzes the inmpacts of
addi ng additional wi nd, demand-response and
nucl ear; correct?

A It appears to be.

Q And would you please read for the record
the first sentence of the | ast paragraph on page
48, the one starting, "A significant anmount"?

A "A significant amount of demand response
resources may reduce" --

MR. GUERREROC: "' m sorry. Sorry to
i nterrupt. | don't have a page 48.

JUDGE WAHL: Two pages ahead.

MS. LA SEUR: Yeah, 49 and 48 are flipped.
" m sorry.

THE W TNESS: Okay. That paragraph reads,
and I'm quoting, "A significant amount of demand
response resources may reduce the need for planning
and operating generation capacity margins,

i ncreases bul k power system flexibility, reduces

t he i mpact of fuel supply and delivery
interruptions, and can be used to enhance renewabl e
integration."”

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) So expanded




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

901
demand response woul d al so counterbal ance concerns
about reserve margin; correct?

A That's what it says.

Q Turning -- this is not forward, but back
to page 49 in the NERC report, and the concl usion
t hat the bulk power systemwi Il require changes in
system desi gn, operating margins and ancillary
service requirements to maintain reliability -- and
that is under conclusion m dway down the page -- to
accommpodate a shift in resource allocation
resulting from CO2 | egislation. ls it OTP's
position that this NERC recomendati on doesn't
apply to OTP?

A | think you're at risk here of taking sonme
t hi ngs out of context. It sinply says that if
there is going to be resulting CO2 | egislation,
that in order to accommodate that shift, other
t hi ngs would have to be done, and | don't think
that there's anybody that would disagree with it if
that comes to pass, that there would be required
changes that would be necessary in system design.

Q Then turning to your testinmny at pages 6
t hrough 10 of the supplemental direct from May
10th -- March 10th where you discuss coal supply

costs. s OTP at this time willing to take any of
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the risk of unexpected coal supply price increases
on itself rather than shifting the entire risk to
consumer s?

MR. GUERRERO: ' m going to object on the
basis it calls for --

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: And ny answer is as |
previously gave, no, Otter Tail won't accept those
ri sks because there's risks associated with
everything that we do. And the alternative is to
shift a significant risk to consumers with regard
to the price increase, the volatility of prices,
and | woul d suggest even the availability of the
alternatives that m ght be avail able out there.
That's why we have proceedings like this, to sit
down and explore with our regulatory comm ssions
the matter of the record that establishes the
recommendation with regard to resources based on
the information that's avail able today. The
information that's avail able today suggests that
the risks of the alternatives are significantly
hi gher than the risks of the proposal.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Has OTP analyzed
t he comparative econom c i mpact on the North Dakota

economy of buying into this share of Big Stone |1
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versus buying into any of the proposed North Dakota
generation facilities?

A. | think that that's a vague questi on. Of
course, this entire proceeding is about eval uating
the metrics associated with the whole range of
possi ble alternative solutions to our energy needs.

Q Well, you did quite a bit of analysis of
rate i mpact and energy needs, but nmy question is
about econom c inpact in a broader sense from
siting a generation facility out of state versus in
st at e.

A. Well, keep in mnd that what we're dealing
with here is evaluating the resource options for
t he purpose of supplying electricity to our
consumers. Okay. We're not doing anything nore
than that. And our consuners, whether they be
North Dakota consumers or Montana consumers or
Sout h Dakota consumers or M nnesota consumers, need
additional electric generation resources, and we're
proposing as a part of our testinony in this case
that the Big Stone Il project is the project that
m nim zes the impact on electricity consumers
associated with this recommended resource
expansi on.

Q Okay. So that's a no, no analysis of in-
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state econom c devel opment i npact?

A. We're not doing econom c devel opnment
analysis. W're doing analysis with regard to the
| east-cost way to provide electricity to the
customers in North Dakota, South Dakota, M nnesota
and Mont ana.

Q Okay. So not your job, anyway. That's
fine.

You testify at page 12 again of your
direct testimony that the L.E. Peabody forecast at
your Exhibit 116 is |ower than the OTP and MDU
forecast and you, therefore, characterize the
OTP/ MDU f orecast as conservative; correct?

A. That's correct.

Q But isn't it true that the L.E. Peabody
forecast is lower in |ater years because it assunes
a decrease in demand for coal due to carbon
regul ation?

A Tom Crowl ey will be here, and | would
suggest that the reasons for his forecast could be
better addressed by M. Crowley. W have used
them To the extent that you want to get into what
he was considering and why, | would suggest that
you m ght ask M. Crowl ey directly.

Q Do you know t he answer ?
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A | don't. We relied on the forecast of
Hill & Associates and L. E. Peabody. | think that
that's a detail that you would have to explore with
hi m

Q Looki ng at your rebuttal testinmny at page
13, there's a discussion of pitting sharehol ders
agai nst customers by trying to allocate risks out
of proportion, and my question again to you is, is
OTP willing to make a comm tment on this particul ar
risk that sharehol ders, and not consumers, wil
bear the risk of any future carbon regul ation costs
for BS I1?

MR. GUERREROC: ' m going to object. I
believe this question has been asked and answered
at length, Your Honor.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Well, | should have been
keeping a tally here because | agree with M.
Guerrero. | think this is maybe the fifth or sixth
time that |'ve answered that question.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) And, actually,
|'ve been referring to a separate risk that's being
laid entirely on ratepayers every single tine.

This is another one.

A. Well, you seemto ignore the fact that
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anything we do puts risk on our customers. Okay.
And |'ve indicated in every one of my previous
responses that, yes, of course, things can change,
and to the extent that they change, at the end of
t he day, there's no free lunch, customers pay for
the cost to do it. That's why it's our job to come
up with the nmost reasonable, the most prudent
resource selection that we can to mnim ze those
risks. We have never testified, nobody has ever
testified, and no business in this country would
ever say that they are going to absolve custoners
fromany and all risk. This is about m nim zing
risk, and we're suggesting that, yes, we
acknowl edge that there's a risk that things could
change with regard to electricity generation and
supply. There's no question about that. W're not
denying it. \What we're suggesting, however, in our
proposal in this project is that we believe that
this project mnimzes the risk to customers and
t hat makes it the prudent thing to do.

Q Woul dn't it be unfair for the PSC to
assign North Dakota consumers a bl ank-check
responsibility for future carbon regul ation costs
attached to generation at Big Stone Il when

rel evant evidence on those costs has been stricken
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fromthe record at applicants' request?

MR. GUERREROC: Obj ection, argunmentative
and calls for a legal conclusion.

JUDGE WAHL: | don't know that it calls
for a |l egal conclusion, but |I think it's
argunentative, so you certainly have that argunent,
Ms. La Seur, in spades.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) I n applying the
$9-per-ton assunption that you just testified
about, were OTP's assunmptions regardi ng carbon cost
| ower or higher than those of other parties in the
M nnesota proceedi ng, including the equival ent of
t he advocacy staff in M nnesota?

MR. GUERRERO: l'mto object, relevancy.

JUDGE WAHL: \What's the rel evance?

MS. LA SEUR: We're in a prudency
proceeding. We're tal king about the cal cul ati ons
t hat have been made in conparison to those made by
other parties in a simlar proceeding in another
state. We're not allowed to tal k about cost. He
rai sed the question of cost and how they considered
$9. | think | deserve a little latitude to probe
t hat .

MR. GUERREROC: May | respond, Your Honor?

JUDGE WAHL: You may.
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MR. GUERRERO:. This is a difficult
question, as Comm ssioner Wefald raised earlier.
We responded in our testimny not knowi ng exactly
how t he $9 question or any other environmental cost
value is going to be addressed. If -- we would be
happy to withdraw any reference to the $9 or the 4
to $30 if that's the predilection of this Court.
We struck -- we nmoved to strike M. Schlissel's
testi mony because the statute in North Dakota
clearly suggests -- clearly requires that in the
context of resource planning and eval uation of
acquisition of resources, that those val ues cannot
be used. We have a situation where we have
prefiled testinmony, we don't know what a ruling is
going to be ultimately, and so with respect to
information in the record that the applicants have
put forward, as Your Honor correctly noted earlier,
the reason it's still in the record is because the
intervenors haven't filed a nmotion to strike it.
And so there it lies. But | think that your ruling
on our motion suggested that at the end of the day
t he Comm ssion has to foll ow what the statute
requires, and the statute requires that no
consi deration be given to an eval uation of

environmental cost or externalities. Merely
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because M. Uggerud raised this issue prior to a

ruling by Your Honor of a $9 or a 4 to $30, or any

ot her number, does not give Ms. La Seur license to
i nqui re about this entire subject matter. And so,
you know, we will object to, you know, an unlimted

amount of questions with respect to this particular
gquesti on.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, let nme say, M.
Guerrero, that | understand the difficulty of
trying to mesh the considerations of three separate
jurisdictions. | understand that this proposal
depends in part as to how the rest of the
jurisdictions perceive it and treat it and how it
will do business in all of these jurisdictions.
al so point out again that it was ny intention to
apply the statute strictly because |I'm not sure
what decision the Conm ssion may make in the course
with the advice of its staff and counsel. So | do
not think that clearly as to an objection that the
parties can tal k about specific nunmbers and what
guantitative val ues, whatever the statute is as it
comes to m nd. But the subject is here. It's the
el ephant in the room And | think to that extent
the parties should be granted sone | eeway to make

the record so that whatever the Comm ssion's
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ultimate determ nation is, whatever they wll
decide the statute requires themto do, that they
have the record.

So there's no point in getting into
specific nunbers and val ues because | don't think
there's any question about that. But the nunbers
t hat we do have in the record are the numbers, as |
understand it, that M nnesota is using and that the
applicants used for the proceedings in M nnesota.
So by the same token, | would allow the intervenors
to address this question for what it may be worth
to the Conmm ssion in the end.

So with all of that, the objection is
overrul ed and, Ms. La Seur, you may proceed
careful ly.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) The question --
woul d you |like the question again?

A. Absol utely.

Q Yeah. Okay. |In applying the $9-per-ton
assunption, were OTP's assunptions regarding carbon
cost |l ower or higher than those of other parties in
the M nnesota proceeding, including advocacy staff?

A Well, you've got nunbers here and there
and everywhere, and what we were trying to

denonstrate with regard to our testimony in
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M nnesota, and because Otter Tail operates in
mul tiple-state jurisdictions, some of that is
spilled over and is being discussed here, too, it
was fully bedded in M nnesot a. But it was a good-
faith effort on the part of Otter Tail and the
ot her project applicants in Mnnesota to establish
anal ysis that would suggest what the inpact of
vari ous numbers m ght be to the selection of a
particul ar resource, in this case Big Stone 11

| think it's appropriate to put a little
bit of background, and so what we did and how we
didit. At the time that we were preparing the
filing of our testinony, the only information that
we had avail able to us was some anecdot al
information that the M nnesota Department of
Comerce was supporting the use of $9 a ton as a
proxy for carbon values, and that was what we set
out then to use in our M nnesota integrated
resource plan developnent. We applied that as if
it applied to every ton of em ssions. It was vague
as to how it should be applied, but certainly
that's a conservative way to apply it, to apply it
on every megawatt-hour of electricity produced from
a coal-fired power plant.

Bet ween the time that we subm tted our
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written testimony and the time that we had the
public hearings, there was a hearing before the
Comm ssion in Mnnesota on another matter rel ating
to the range of values that should be used for the
consi deration of carbon. And in the meeting in
front of the Comm ssion with regard to the adoption
of values, there was discussion anong the
Comm ssion as to what should be used. Some were
arguing that we should use the $9. | nt ervenors
were there suggesting that, no, the number should
be higher. Values considerably higher were
suggest ed. But there were also those that were
advocating that numbers considerably | ess should be
used because of the inpact that those resultant
numbers m ght have on the cost of resource
sel ecti on.

At the end of that hearing the M nnesota
Comm ssion established that it would probably be
most proper for themto adopt a position that a
range of numbers should be used, and the range of
numbers that they then settled on was 4 to $30 per
ton. We applied both -- at that point in time we
had already run our conplete |IRPs assum ng the $9 a
ton, so at that |ate date what we did then was

applied sensitivity analysis around the range of
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numbers. And, again, to be very conservative we
applied -- for the purpose of that M nnesota
anal ysis we applied the range of nunmbers and the
i mpact that that would have on the selection
process of resources, the 4 to $30 a ton. We did
the sensitivity analysis. Jeff Greig from Burns &
McDonnell is here today and can discuss that in
more detail. But | think that what's relevant is
t hat the manner in which the parties evaluated the
cost of carbon had the effect, when applied against
the most |ikely |egislative vehicle, the manner in
whi ch we analyze those by applying themto every
ton of -- of every megawatt-hour of em ssions had
t he i npact of making the effective range -- instead
of 4 to $30 a ton, it had the impact of making the
range that we effectively studied from8 to $60 a
ton. | would suggest that even the $30 number,
whi ch was at the high end of the range, was within
the m dpoint of intervenor testinmony. Certainly
the $60 that we have effectively considered is
clearly something that would, | think, pass what
was intended in terms of an exam nation of this
val ue. But in terms of what we have done, that's
what we have done, that's how we have done it, and

| think that the results speak for thenmselves in
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that in spite of that, the resource selection that
we have made results in Big Stone Il being the
| east-cost resource.

And | would further point out how
important it is for this Comm ssion to know that in
applying those nunbers, we still used conservative
estimates for the specific purpose of not biasing
t he decision toward Big Stone Il. W used natura
gas prices that were significantly |ower than what
they are today. We assumed construction costs for
gas-fired generation that is | ower than what one
could build projects for today. W assumed the
continuation through the entire planning period of
t he conti nuance of the production tax credit. We
assumed costs of wind that are significantly bel ow
what the cost of wind is today, and we assumed t hat
t here would be no cost associated for the
transm ssi on.

So all in all, | absolutely categorically
and unequi vocally stand by the analysis we've done
as being reasonabl e and prudent and definitely not
intended for the purpose of trying to bias the
selection toward resource -- of Big Stone Il as a
resource. In fact, we have done it to provide

reassurance to this Comm ssion and the M nnesota
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Comm ssion and the South Dakota Conm ssion, our
boards of directors and our customers that the
project that we are proposing is reasonable and
prudent and deli berately -- and in good faith it is
what it is.

Q Thank you for that speech, M. Uggerud.
You still haven't answered nmy question. Was the
$9-per-ton assunption | ower or higher than those
made by other parties, including the advocacy
staff?

A The $9 a ton as we applied it was within
t he range of what was recommended by advocacy
staff, and, furthernmore, the sensitivity that we
did around it definitely enconmpassed the range of

nunbers that were proposed by others.

Q Lower or higher?
A. Wthin the range, | indicated.
Q Did you include any inflation adder in

your $9-a-ton cal cul ati on?
No.
Q You just assunmed $9 a ton annually for the
life of the plant; correct?
A | believe that to be the case.
Q Did you assume no inflation for the life

of the plant for any other recurring costs
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associ ated with operation of Big Stone 117?

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, | guess |'m
going to risk an objection. My batting average
isn't that good this norning. But my comment
earlier was, and | think that you generally agreed
with me is that there would be a limted
opportunity to get into this issue. My sense is
t hat the questioning now has sort of gone beyond
any sort of limted analysis and we get into
basically retrying the M nnesota case. And so I'm
going to object on the basis of relevancy again.

MS. LA SEUR: It's the [ ast question with
regard to this $9-ton number.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed. That was really
what | was getting, we've really done it.

Overrul ed. Let's proceed to an end.

THE W TNESS: Well, Ms. La Seur, it would
be one thing if we had rules and regul ations that
we could follow, and one of the things that | find
to be alnost amusing relative to the debate with
regard to carbon is that there are no rules and
regul ati ons that a project sponsor can follow.

What we're engaged in is a debate that's purely
specul ation as to what those rules and regul ati ons

m ght be at sone time in the future. So to the
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extent that there are others that would want to
hypot hesi ze that there's going to be a different
standard in the future than what we have assumed,
that's an entirely legitimate thing to specul ate
on, but it's just that, it's pure specul ation. At
this point we do not have rules and regulation that
provi de gui dance to parties. All we have got is an
emoti onal debate about what those rules and
regul ati ons m ght becone.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) The question
was, did you assume no inflation for any other
recurring costs associated with operation of Big
Stone |17

A We assumed escal ation for the other costs.

Q Woul d you pl ease describe, and a list is
sufficient, the North Dakota energy efficiency
programs that OTP nmodel ed as part of the resource
pl anning that |led to proposing Big Stone 117

A. | will ask that you cover those with M.
Mor | ock, who has the responsibility within our
company to evaluate and analyze those in detail.

Q Well, you did testify at page 17 of your
direct testimny, M. Uggerud, that OTP is pursuing
conservation aggressively. On what basis do you

make t hat statement?




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

918
MR. GUERREROC: ' m sorry. \What |ine?
MS. LA SEUR: This is line 3, "Otter Tai
wi Il pursue conservation aggressively."
MR. GUERREROC: Of the March 107?
THE W TNESS: March 107
MS. LA SEUR: March 10, page 17
THE W TNESS: \What page?
MS. LA SEUR: Page 17, line 3.
THE W TNESS: Yes, | see that.
Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUING) And ny question

was, on what basis do you make this statement that

Otter Tail will pursue conservation aggressively?
A Well, it's a matter of fact. In the
selection of Big Stone Il as a resource, we are

assum ng conpliance with M nnesota conservati on
standards and we're also working with the States of
Nort h Dakota and South Dakota to inplement cost-
effective demand side managenment activities within
our system That's a statement of fact.

MS. LA SEUR: | "' m distributing applicants'’
response to intervenors' data request nunber 33.
This is Intervenors' Exhibit No. 20, | believe,
that | would like to offer.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO: No obj ecti on.
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JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?
MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection
JUDGE WAHL: Exhibit I 20 is received.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) This is a
response to a question about the anticipated cost
per avoi ded kil owatt-hour of any energy efficiency
programs nodel ed for OTP's North Dakota service
ar ea. M. Uggerud, it is the case, is it not, that
OTP has not model ed any specific energy efficiency
programs for North Dakota?

A. s the key word there "specific"? | think
that the response which was prepared by Kim
Pederson from our conservation department, she
i ndi cates that we have provided, and | think in her
wor ds, generic conservation inmpacts for North
Dakot a.

Q So these are conservation inmpacts based on
no specific program Coul d you explain how that
wor ks, how you get a generic response when you
don't know what program you're talking about?

A. You have to get an answer from Ms.

Pet erson on that, but |I do know that Otter Tail has
consi dered conservation inmpacts and opportunities
wi t hin North Dakot a. | think that the key word was

in your question, are they specific prograns or as
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this answer applies, are they generic programs?
We've worked with North Dakota in the devel opment
of conservation prograns. To the extent that Otter
Tail devel ops conservation prograns for use in our
system on a general basis, they're available to
customers in all three of our service territories.
We've been involved in a direct | oad management
control program for decades. The inmpacts of that
are known and they're as available in North Dakota
as they are throughout our entire three-state
service territory.

Q Actually, M. Uggerud, the question says
any energy efficiency programs, and "specific" is
the word used by the OTP staffer in the response,
just to clarify. But the foll ow-up question is,
will -- does OTP plan to pursue conservation
programs aggressively independently, or would that
be dependent on an order comng fromthis PSC to do
so?

A. Well, we've al ways applied them
i ndependently. Conservation is not something that
we've required an order. That's why | indicated
for decades we've had a direct |oad control
program which is a conservation program We' ve

got a program that we have applied within North
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Dakota as well as M nnesota and South Dakota with
regard to the use of demand controllers, where
customers can make el ections with regard to their
rate structure. They can -- by setting the demand
within their own homes and controlling their | oad,
they're eligible for rate reducti ons based on that
program So, of course, we've done that
el ectively, but probably even more inmportantly,
we've done it electively within the context of
wor ki ng col | aboratively with the North Dakota
Comm ssion and our North Dakota customers in the
devel opment of those programs.

Q It isn't really possible, is it, to know
what could be achieved by a specific energy
efficiency program wi t hout analyzing that specific
progranf?

A. Well, | suppose specific programs in order
to develop the cost metrics associated with those
programs woul d have to be analyzed as individual
conponents, but it's certainly true that what Otter
Tail has done is provided significant demand side
management and conservati on prograns avail abl e.

We' ve got work that we do with our customers in
terms of | ooking at energy efficiency

opportunities. W' ve got progranms, as | nmentioned,
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for direct | oad control, residential demand
controllers. W' ve got a whole department and
staff of people who work with our industrial and
| arge commercial customers. We've got people that
are available to work with our residential
customers. We sponsor trade shows where we nmeet
with contractors, and all of those things are done
for the specific purpose of influencing and
encour agi ng demand-si de programs. Taken
collectively, we've got the results of our
experience in doing that, it is nodeled, and as
this answer indicates, as generic responses to
t hose activities wherein our future |oad
requi rements are affected by the results that are
achieved from those things that we have done
relative to conservation and demand-si de
management .

Q Goi ng back to your anal ogy of the |ess
fuel -efficient car and the nore fuel-efficient car
and based on, too, perhaps performng the role of a
more efficient part of the generation resources and
t hereby constituting some form of carbon
m tigation. OTP and MDU are subject to M SO
governance of avail able capacity; correct?

A. Ri ght .
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Q So neither utility would have the
prerogative to decide independently to decrease use
of any existing generation facility; is that right?
A. If you mean is the output |evel of the
specific generator set by the M SO dispatch
protocol, the answer would be the specific output
of our generators at a given point in time is set

by the M SO generation dispatch rules.

Q That's the question. So it's not really
your decision to make, is it, whether you'll run
Big Stone Il all the time and the others |ess or

not at all?
A. That's right. They're dispatched by M SO.
Q And i f your projections of |oad are
correct, there will not be excess capacity on the

system that could be shut down; correct?

A. That was one confusing question.
Q If there is as nmuch |oad as you say there
will be over the life of the plant, there won't be

extra generation to shut down? That's the

gquesti on.

A. Well, certainly I think that the output of
the | ow-cost coal -fired power plants will be
i nfluenced by the M SO dispatch protocol. And to

the extent that our reserves are dwi ndling, | don't




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

924
t hink that conservation programs on the part of MDU
and Otter Tail Power Company would in and of
t hemsel ves change the anmount of hours that
coal -fired power plants are run. They will be
running in response to the |oad and the cost of
providing the resources to that | oad on a
regi onwi de basi s.

Q How do you know t hat when you haven't
model ed any specific prograns?

A. Well, it's a relatively sinmple and
intuitive thing to come up with. | f you've got
coal -fired power plants that can produce
electricity at $15 a megawatt-hour and the cost at
the margin in the M SO pool -- | didn't check
t oday, but on Friday it was in the $70-a-megawatt -
hour range, M SO is going to choose to dispatch the
$15- per-megawatt - hour generating units irregardless
of the load on Otter Tail and MDU system at a given
point in time.

Q Has OTP model ed the anticipated cost per
avoi ded kil owatt-hour of any energy efficiency
programs?

A. OCter Tail -- we've got, like | said, a
staff of people that models the cost of many of our

programs, all of our programs. That's a part of
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what the people do that are responsible for
devel opi ng conservati on programs and the depl oyment
of those conservation prograns.

Q So when we asked in this data request
number 33 for OTP to state -- well, for the
applicants to state the anticipated cost per
avoi ded kil owatt-hour of any energy efficiency
programs nodel ed for OTP's North Dakota service
area, why didn't we get that nunber?

MR. GUERRERO:. Objection calls for
specul ation.
JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed. He's t he CEO.

MR. GUERRERO: Your Honor, he's not the

CEO.

JUDGE WAHL: \hatever.

MR. GUERRERO. Well, you've overrul ed me,
SO --

THE W TNESS: Well, there's a difference

here between nmodeli ng generic conservation
opportunities and impacts within an integrated
resource planning nodel versus deploying those
conservation prograns in consultation and
cooperation with the customers that would choose to
i mpl ement. So, for example, if we make rebates

avai |l able to our customers for the purpose of
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installing high-efficiency appliances, if we make
assunptions with regard to the rate rebates that we
will give to people that enploy residential demand
controllers, to the extent that we have dual fuel
rates, to the extent that we have interruptible
rates, the cost inmpacts and the inmplications are
known on a case-by-case basis.

That's not the same, though, as saying
that for the purpose of doing |ong-range resource
pl anning that we will aggregate our collective and
hi storical experience with those things in a
generic basis for the purpose of defining the North
Dakota portion of our system resource expansion
requi rements. The integrated resource planning
model s don't include the detail on a | oad-by-1oad,
customer - by-custoner basis. Those are things that
are aggregated and nodeled for the purpose of
establishing total system | oad and the response to
conservation prograns. But the answer isn't in --
the modeling is not inconsistent with the -- with
the specific answer to the question.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Look again at
your Exhibit 113. This is the MRO-U. S. Avail abl e
Capacity Margins Forecast Summer Seasons out of the

NERC report, and it shows decreasing avail able
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capacity margins forecast for summer seasons in the
com ng decade; correct?

A. Ri ght .

Q And North Dakota is a w nter-peaking
state; correct?

MR. KUNTZ: Hm nmm

THE W TNESS: And, again, this is where
averages can get you in trouble. Currently Otter
Tail is probably wi nter peaking. | woul d guess
that MDU, and they can testify to this, is probably
summer peaking. But within the time range that we
are |l ooking at here, | would guess that one would
probably find that Otter Tail becomes a summer -
peaking utility. But | think that it would be
i mpossible to draw a conclusion as to whet her or
not that's even relevant to the thing that we're
trying to depict with regard to this graph.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) So the question
about North Dakota being a w nter-peaking state,
are you not able to answer that or you're just able
to speak on a system basis?

A. Well -- and, again, there's been a | ot
that you've tried to introduce relative to what
North Dakota is, but what North Dakota is is

irrelevant with regard to what Otter Tail and MDU
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ar e.

MR. GUERRERO:. Your Honor, | would al so
proffer that Mr. Morlock is here, he's avail abl e,
he has testified on this issue and he is avail able
to answer this particular question under the best
evi dence rul e.

MS. LA SEUR: This is M. Uggerud's chart.

JUDGE WAHL: Yeah, it is, M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO: | believe he's answered the
gquesti on.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) The question I'm
getting to is if indeed North Dakota is a w nter-
peaking state -- and I'm sure we can find some
explicit informati on about that before the end of
this hearing -- would you say that North Dakota --
t hat --

MR. GUERREROC: It's a hypothetical.
JUDGE WAHL: Let her finish the question,
to begin with.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Taking subject
to check that North Dakota is a w nter-peaking
state, would that mean that these summer capacity
margin projections are |less of a concern for North
Dakota than for MRO s summer-peaki ng states?

A. Well, our concern here is for the
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customers of Otter Tail Power Conmpany and
Mont ana- Dakota Utilities, so it's irrelevant as to
what the nunmbers may or may not be for North Dakota
as a state.

Q M. Uggerud, has OTP identified an
alternative to this proposal if the M nnesota

application is rejected?

A. Well, | think that nmy testimony indicates
that if the Big Stone Il project doesn't go
forward, that the nost |ikely alternative would be

natural gas or a combi nation of wi nd and natural
gas.

Q And OTP engages in ongoing research
resource planning; correct?

A Yes, we do.

Q So between now and 2013 there will be
opportunities to adjust the course along the way as
new i nformati on becomes avail able and adm ssi bl e?

A Well, | think that you were the one that
i ndicated that we won't |let the Iights go out, so
it's possible that our resource expansion plans
m ght change dependi ng on what we can or cannot do,
but that does not necessarily then mean that
what ever alternatives that we m ght be forced to

make woul d necessarily be the nmost cost-effective,
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most prudent options that we could have otherw se
foll owed had we gone through the deliberative
process of trying to optim ze what those future

resources m ght and shoul d be.

Q Turning to your rebuttal testinony, this
is the April 23rd, at page 2, lines 1 and 2, "Otter
Tail intends to inplement significant amounts of

renewabl e energy and energy conservation in the
comng years." |Is OTP willing to make a conmm t nent
to pursue the same | evel of energy efficiency
investment in North Dakota as it will make in
M nnesota in the next five years as a proportion as
a condition for approval of Big Stone I17?

MR. GUERRERO: Same objection, Your Honor.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Well, 1 think that our
testi mony has been that we will abide by the policy
t hat exists in our various state jurisdictions, and
| don't think that it's a policy requirement now
t hat North Dakota would have us do the same as what
M nnesota i s having us do. | think that it's also
i mportant to point out that the -- while M nnesota
has a mandate, the | egislative enactnment of that
mandat e does have a condition precedent in there

t hat says that those still have to be cost
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effective, and so it would be -- it would be
absolutely erroneous to reach a conclusion today
that a 25 percent penetration of renewables is the
standard that people would have to follow without
any further review and consi derati on of whether
that is prudent or not.

But in ternms of your question, if you're
suggesting that for some reason that North Dakota
shoul d i mpose the M nnesota requirement upon us,

t hat woul d be outside of the present |aw and
regul ation within North Dakota to make that sort of
a condition.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUING) M question is,

woul d OTP agree voluntarily --

A Of course not. We work with North Dakot a.

Q -- to -- I'"mnot done with my question,
and it wasn't about renewabl e energy. It was about
energy efficiency. -- to making the sane

proportional investment in energy efficiency in
North Dakota as it will make in M nnesota as a
condition for approval of Big Stone 117

A Not unilaterally and independently. Of
course not. The goal of -- whether it be renewable
energy or whether it be conservation, the goal

woul d be that we achieve those things that are cost
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effective. We will certainly work with the North
Dakota Comm ssion to adopt and inplement those
programs that are cost effective, but we would be
irresponsible to make a unilateral commtment to
say that whether those thing are cost effective and
prudent or not, we're still going to do them and
then come to the North Dakota Comm ssion and ask
for approval to do so. That would be
I nappropri ate.

Q Subject to a cost-effectiveness review,

woul d you consi der that a reasonable condition?

A To the extent that they're cost effective,
| propose that we would probably do them | mean,
t hat would be -- that would be what any utility

woul d do. To the extent that they're cost
effective, we will. But what's cost effective has
not yet been ascertained with regard to the
penetration that M nnesota by statute is going to
try and i nmpl ement. But even within M nnesota, and
that's why | pointed out in my answer that even
within M nnesota those are not absolutely

requi rements absent passing muster with regard to
whet her even in M nnesota they're cost effective or
not .

Q Go to your rebuttal at page 2, sanme page
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we were just | ooking at. You refer to a --
MR. GUERRERO:. \Which page?
MS. LA SEUR: Page 2 of the rebutta
testi nony.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) And down at |ine
20 you state that Otter Tail has performed in other
jurisdictions a reasonable assessnent of the
possi bl e inpact that future carbon dioxide
regul ati on may have on decisions regarding the
selection of future resources. What do you
consi der a reasonable assessnent of those inmpacts?

A | think that it was reasonable in this
case to apply the values as determ ned by the
M nnesota Public Utilities Comm ssion, and that's
what we appli ed.

Q And do you claimthat the assessment done
by OTP in other jurisdictions is consistent with
any legislation currently under consideration by
Congress?

A. | think that the determ nation of the
val ues that the Comm ssion in M nnesota determ ned
t hat we shoul d eval uate was done in careful
deli beration and consideration of those things that
are being discussed in Congress. That arrival by

M nnesota of establishing the range in a hearing
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before the Comm ssion certainly included testinony
with regard to what is being considered on a
federal level, and so | think that it was
i ncorporated by reference into the determ nation of
the M nnesota Conm ssion.

Q Also with reference to regul ation, has --
have the applicants performed any analysis of cost
increases that will flow from more stringent
mercury regul ati on subsequent to the recent
vacating of the Clean Air Mercury Rule by the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit?

MR. KUNTZ: "' m going to i mpose an
obj ection because the guestion went to the
applicants, and this witness is testifying on
behalf of Otter Tail Power when it becomes their
i ndi vi dual nmodel i ng.

MS. LA SEUR: | woul d be happy to make it
OTP specific.

MR. GUERRERO:. Again, | would just let you
know that Mr. Rolfes is here. He's the best person
to answer this particular question. | don't see it
anywhere in M. Uggerud's testinony.

JUDGE WAHL: | f that was an objection, M.
Guerrero, it's overruled. Your advice is

appreci ated and counsel m ght note it.
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Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTINUING) It's nmerely a
guestion as to whether the analysis has been
performed.

A. In spite of the vacating of the Clean Air
Mercury Rule, the project participants still
propose to utilize the mercury reduction design
features that we had previously proposed. Again,
it falls into the matter of we could have
di scussion at length with regard to specul ati on of
what m ght be. \What we have right now is an
absence of a mercury protocol. W believe that
it's a good-faith effort to assume the mercury
reduction protocol that we had previously proposed.
There is nothing else that would provide any
gui dance as to what we should do that would be
different than that. There's no discussion on a
federal |evel that would give us any nore gui dance
t han what we are proposing to do.

Q Do you acknowl edge that the Clean Area
Mercury Rul e was vacated as being too lax a form of
regul ation of mercury?

A. Well, while the -- and, again, |I'mnot the
wi tness that can respond in detail to that, but
whet her or not the Clean Air Mercury Rul e was

abandoned because it was too | ax doesn't
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necessarily mean that the proposal that we're
offering in this case would not be consistent and
in concert with what the goals of mercury
production woul d be. It m ght have been rel axed
because it was relaxed for other projects in other
pl aces. It m ght not have gone far enough with
regard to application for existing units in other
pl aces. But in terms of what we have proposed,
would find it hard to imagi ne that what we're
proposi ng would be inconsistent with what m ght
evol ve as a regul atory protocol for mercury.

Q Going to your rebuttal testinony at page
9, you refer to M. Schlissel and DRC and critique
the failure to submt a detailed proposal for
alternative generation options to this Comm ssi on,
correct, where, when facilities would be, how to
handl e variability in natural gas supply, that
| evel of detail? |Is that a correct summary? |Is
that a correct summary of your criticisn?

A. That's the essence of my criticism

Q Okay. Can you point to any evidence in
the record describing how OTP consi dered the wi nd/
gas alternative at this level of detail?

A Was your question can | point in the

record?
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Q Ri ght. Anything in the formal record?

A. Well, our integrated resource planning
process was all about establishing the analytics
associated with that. W evaluated -- in fact,
when you do a computerized model of the resource
expansi on process, all of your resource options are
available in the nodel, and there are hundreds and
t housands of scenarios that are considered within
t he context of perform ng those analysis, and the
resultant concl usion of those anal ysis was what we
have proposed in this application. But all
conmbi nati ons of all other resources were avail able
in this selection of Big Stone I1.

Q So your argument is then that intervenors
shoul d have filed a full alternative resource plan,
conplete with detail ed proposals for specific
resource generation alternatives?

A. Al'l I"m saying is that none has been
found, whether by us or by the intervenors. Nobody
has set forth an alternative that would be a nore
prudent alternative because none exists. And what
we're saying is that you can come forward and
criticize us for not having proposed sonething
that's better, and nobody has because there isn't

anyt hing better.
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Q Woul d you acknowl edge that the purpose of
t he prudency proceeding before this Comm ssion is
to consider all relevant evidence to decide if the
resource addition is reasonable and prudent to
ensure reliable electric service to North Dakota
consumer s?
A. Exactly.
Q And that burden of proof |ies on the
applicant; correct?
MR. GUERRERO: ' m going to object, calls
for a | egal concl usion.
JUDGE WAHL: Sure, it does, but he knows
as well as all of us do the answer to that
gquesti on. It's a fact, and you don't need to be a
| awyer to come to know that fact. The objection is
overrul ed, but you have your argunment, nonethel ess.
THE W TNESS: And, again, nmy frustration
is that, of course, we have anal yzed all
combi nati ons and we haven't found one. That's why
we've not testified. And we've said, okay, if
peopl e di sagree with us, they can show us where
we're wrong, and nobody has conme forward and
sayi ng, ah, you know, we found one that was better
t han what you proposed. Nobody has. Peopl e are

criticizing us that we haven't identified the nost
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cost-effective option, but nobody has offered a
better one, and our analysis, which makes all
resources available in all conbinations, was
avai |l able to our modeling to select and it doesn't
select it.

But having said that, maybe for the
pur pose of discussion with the Comm ssion, you
know, it's not irresponsible for engineers to be
fam liar enough with what they do to be able to
provide intuitive responses to some of these
t hings, too, and so let me just do that for the
purpose of maybe clarifying the record. Okay?

You know, you can build a natural gas-
fired power plant as an alternative to Big Stone.
Okay. And |I don't know if you build a natural gas
combi ned cycle power plant and have an all-in cost,
you're probably going to have $1,200 a kW
associ ated with that. In fact, | think that MDU - -
M. Heidell has testified to that, M. Morlock has
testified to that. If you spread that cost on a
| evelized fixed charge basis over the life of the
project to your customers, you can conmpute what the
capital cost component of that resource would be
and now you've still got to provide the energy from

t hat resource to provide your custonmer |oad, and
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you can pick a natural gas price, you can, you
know, give it to nme and you can cal culate then an
energy conponent. And if you build a natural gas
alternative to Big Stone Il and add the capital
cost of the gas plant and add the energy that comes
fromit, you get a cost that's higher than Big
Stone. You can do the same with the w nd/gas
alternative. You' ve got the cost of the w nd,
you've got the cost of the gas backup, you can
probably go with sinple cycle peaking and | ower
your capital cost and then you can come up with a
combi ned energy cost with -- let's just say
intuitively that half of the energy m ght come from
the wind and half from the gas backup, and, agai n,
you just add up your investnment conponent and your
energy conponent, you get a resultant number and
you conmpare that to Big Stone. W' ve done that,
but simple cycle peaking and wi nd together is going
to be $3,000 a kW significantly higher than Big
St one. Hal f of the energy is going to be free,
half of it's going to be at -- again, you pick the
natural gas price and you can tell me, but let's
just say that at today's price at $10 per mllion
Btu, half of the energy is going to be $50 a

megawatt-hour, it's a relatively sinple matter.
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Now you' ve got -- now you've got a $3,000-per-kW
installed resource with energy at $25 a megawatt -
hour. That just happens to be nore expensive than
$2,500 per kW of capacity with $15-per-megawatt -
hour energy. It's not -- it's not any nore
conplicated than that. And every analysis that we
have done shows that when you apply the rigor --
gave you a back of the envel ope, but when you apply
the rigor to that analysis, what we're submtting
as testimony in this record is that Big Stone Il is
the | east-cost resource expansion plan, and it was
deli berately done and carefully done within
standards that are accepted within the industry of
how you do it. That's why we hired other people to
come in and hel p us. OQur job is to provide
electricity to our customers as reliably and as
econom cally as possi bl e. Okay? And we have done
t hat .

Q Do you recall the original question, M.
Ugger ud?

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Let's not go

t here. Let's recess. We're past the noon hour.
This seens to me to be an appropriate place to
recess until one o'clock. You can begin your

testinony then and maybe get back on track.
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JUDGE WAHL: " m sorry.

MS. LA SEUR: "Il try not to testify.

JUDGE WAHL: We'l|l be in recess until one
o' cl ock.

(Recess taken at 12:08 p.m to 1:03 p.m)

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Ms. La Seur, with
you.

MS. LA SEUR: | have one other exhibit 1'd
like to offer. There is a settlement agreement on

the Big Stone project from August 31st of 2007
entered into by M nnesota Department of Conmmerce
and the Big Stone partners in the certificate of
need proceedi ng before the M nnesota Public
Utilities Comm ssion, and we had some di scussion
about this exhibit with M. Guerrero. M . Kunt z,
t hi nk, has an objection to having it entered. W
propose it as evidence of comm tnments made by the

applicants in other jurisdictions that may have

bearing on the prudency or the terns of the project

going forward in this jurisdiction.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero. Well, we
should identify it. This will be |I 21?

MS. LA SEUR: Yes.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.
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don't think I have an objection. It's a public
document. We actually filed a copy of this for
i nformational purposes with the North Dakota
Comm ssion some time ago. | question its
rel evancy, but |I'm not going to object.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.

MR. KUNTZ: From our standpoint, M.

943

Hearing Officer, this is cross-exam nation of M.

Ugger ud. It's got nothing to do, from what | can

see, to any cross-exam nation. The intervenors are

attenmpting just to offer a docunent. | understand

t hat Mont ana- Dakota may have been a signatory to

the settl ement agreement, but, as you know,

Mont ana- Dakota doesn't sell electricity to

M nnesot a. It has little, if any, application to

t his proceedi ng or Mont ana- Dakota's position in

t his proceeding. | don't see the relevance. I

don't think any's even tried to be laid for this

exhi bit. So we woul d object with respect to our

application.
JUDGE WAHL.: M. Binek.

MR. Bl NEK: | have no position on it.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, what if | receive the

exhibit with regard to the application of Otter
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Tail Power, Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: We would note that the
settl ement agreement is signed by the president of
Otter Tail Power and by the chief executive officer
of MDU, and we are offering it for its value as
evi dence of an agreenment entered into by the Big
Stone partners.

JUDGE WAHL: And you say it bears on the
prudence of the project -- as their comm tments
made for the project? That is, this agreement is
still -- still controlling for the Big Stone
project as it noves forward?

MS. LA SEUR: If and when it noves
forward, this agreement is relevant. And it
details ternms and conditions on which the project
may nove forward.

JUDGE WAHL: And it's binding on Otter
Tail and MDU?

MS. LA SEUR: Correct.

MR. GUERRERO: Well, if | could comment on
that, it's a little bit more conmplicated than that,
unfortunately. The settlement agreement was
entered into last fall with the M nnesota
Department of Commerce. Since the withdrawal of

the two partners, Great River Energy and Southern
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M nnesota Muni ci pal Power Agency, the M nnesota
Department of Commerce has indicated that they
have -- that their position is -- the settlenment
agreement has been put on the table or been set
aside, in their words, and so the question of its
| egality and whether or not it's enforceable
against either Otter Tail or Montana-Dakota or any
of the other parties, including the Department of
Comerce, remai ns somewhat of an open question at
t his point.

And so, again, this is a settlement
agreement that was offered for purposes of
settl ement. Typically settlement agreements are
not included as evidence in a case. | question the
rel evance, but just so that the Comm ssion is aware
that it's not as sinple as the position -- the
simple position that Ms. La Seur puts forward.
Agai n, we don't have -- the Comm ssion has it.

It's a public document.

MR. KUNTZ: Your Honor, | m ght make a
comment here that this is the same party that has
filed an objection to us submtting suppl ement al
testimony |ast Friday on a question that was
specifically directed to us regardi ng our

participation in this project. Now we're com ng - -
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if this is an exhibit that they want to offer, it
shoul d have been offered a long time ago. | t
wasn't offered. This isn't proper
Cross-exam nation. It seenms |ike we've got two
sets of standards here as to when evidence is going
to be offered. | did not have a chance to review
t his. | don't know that |'ve ever reviewed it. I
don't know what it provides for Montana-Dakot a
under that settlement agreement, so | have no idea
what the relevance would be to this particular
proceedi ng. | f our testinmony can't come in, then |
don't see any reason that this should conme in,
ei ther.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, this is not quite the
same thing.

MR. KUNTZ: It's exactly the sanme thing.

MS. LA SEUR: Okay. Coupl e of things.
thing M. Guerrero's clarification --

JUDGE WAHL: You know, let me ask first,
what has this got to do with the cross-exam nation
of M. Uggerud? Is --

MS. LA SEUR: This is being offered while
M. Uggerud is on the stand because it is a
corporate level, a chief executive |level comm tnment

made by the corporation he's here representing. W
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are not offering questions based on this exhibit.
We just want the exhibit marked so that it's part
of the formal record in spite of the fact that it
was mailed to the PSC for consideration as a piece
of information in this docket about nine nonths
ago. This is not new i nformation. It has been

fully available to the public and to all parties

for at | east nine nonths. It is not a settlement
of fer. It is a settlement agreement signed by the
parties.

JUDGE WAHL: Was this document docketed by
t he Comm ssion?

MS. LA SEUR: | don't think. W' re unable
to find it on the site, which is why I'ma little
puzzled by its status and | would |like to have it
mar ked and avail abl e.

MR. GUERREROC: My understandi ng, Your
Honor, is that it's not been docketed as a piece of
evi dence.

JUDGE WAHL: How is it part of the
Conmi ssion's record then?

MR. BREEN: May | address that?

JUDGE WAHL: No.

MR. GUERRERO: No, it's not part of the

Comm ssion's records. The applicants filed it with
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the Comm ssion for informational purposes only, not
to make it as a part of the record. In fact, |
don't think it was mailed as part of this case. |t
was mail ed just separately for informational
pur poses.

JUDGE WAHL: Are you going to use this
document for cross-examning -- further
cross-exam nation of M. Uggerud?

MS. LA SEUR: | plan to use it in nmy
briefing.

JUDGE WAHL: Fi ne. Let's postpone this.

Let's proceed with M. Uggerud's testimny while

we' re working on that. Let's -- let's -- after
we've -- after we've finished up today, let's talk
about this -- that document some nore --

MS. LA SEUR: That's fine.

JUDGE WAHL: -- and then I'll consider it
t hen. So let's proceed with M. Uggerud's
Cross-exam nati on.

MS. LA SEUR: | have no further questions
for M. Uggerud.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

MR. BI NEK: M. Uggerud will probably be
happy to hear |'ve stricken -- or crossed out nost

of the questions that | have, but | do have a
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coupl e.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:
Q There was -- in M. Schlissel's prefiled
testinony he tal ked about the M dwest Reliability
Or gani zation and tal ked about -- or basically, |

t hi nk, suggested that the MRO was expected to | ower

the 15 percent reserve margin. Do you -- is it
your opinion that that reserve margin will be
| owered, and if so, to what degree will it be
| ower ed?
A. | would recomend that perhaps that's a

guestion that you could address with M. Morl ock
who represents Otter Tail Power Conpany with regard
to the reserve requirements task forces.

Q Again in M. Schlissel's testinmny he
recommended that Otter Tail and MDU shoul d
i mpl ement portfolio alternatives to the Big Stone
Il project that would include energy efficiency,
more renewabl e resources, and to the most |limted
extent necessary the addition of new gas-fired
capacity. If M. Schlissel's reconmendati on was
foll owed, how much new gas-fired capacity woul d be
required?

A. | think that | offered as a part of ny
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summary coments that Otter Tail -- and |I'm
speaki ng now for Otter Tail -- proposes as a part
of our capacity expansion a portfolio of resources
t hat include renewables in the amount of 39 percent
gas, for the purpose of backing up and standing by
for the renewables in the anmount of 24 percent,
coal in the amount of 23 percent, and inmprovenents
t hrough conservation and demand side management of
14 percent.

Q Okay. Now, that's going forward, i s what
you' re recomendi ng; right?

A. Ri ght .

Q Okay. But this -- as | understood his
testinmony, he's tal king about you would not build
Big Stone I1; you would use other alternatives. He
tal ked about energy efficiency, nore renewabl e
resources, and to the nost |imted extent
necessary, the addition of the new gas-fired
capacity. So | think he's tal king about no Big
Stone 11. If that -- if that's the case --

A That's correct. So the 23 percent that we
have i ndicated would be our resource m x associ ated
with building Big Stone Il -- that 23 percent
conponent woul d have to be replaced with an

addi ti onal conponent of the wi nd and the gas.
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Q Okay. And nmy question was, if you can
answer it, how much new gas-fired capacity would be
required to meet M. Schlissel's recommendati on?

A Well, that's one of the issues we've had
with M. Schlissel's recomendation is that he
doesn't offer a specific proposal. He generically
i ndi cates that we should do more of sonmething el se,
and it appears that he's suggesting nmore w nd/gas,
but I would submt that if you're relying on an
alternative now to be a replacenent for your
basel oad component, when Big Stone's a basel oad,
and if you're going to replace baseload with now an
alternative that includes wind and gas, since wi nd
is an intermttent resource that you can't call
upon just at any time you want to, | would suggest
t hat the amount of natural gas capacity that you
woul d have to add woul d probably be equivalent to
t he amount of wind that you would have to add.

So now there's the possibility that you
could get some capacity credits in the M dwest
Reliability Organization for the wi nd, but if you
did, it would probably be imted to about ten
percent. So in the best-case scenario you would
have to install -- at |east 90 percent of the

amount of wi nd would have to be installed as an
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equi val ent amount of natural gas, and then the
energy distribution between the wind resource and
the natural gas for backup is a little bit more
complicated to calculate, but if you get a 40
percent capacity factor out of the wi nd, you would
be relying on 60 percent capacity factor fromthe
gas portion of the alternative.

So that hypothetical combination would be,
for all practical purposes, equal anmounts of
capacity of wind and equal anounts of capacity of
natural gas with the energy m x being about 40
percent fromthe gas and 60 percent from the w nd.

MR. GUERRERO: | think it would be --

THE W TNESS: " m sorry. 40 percent from
the wind and 60 percent from the gas.

Q (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG) So -- okay. We're
using the 500 megawatt Big Stone Il Plant. So what

size natural gas-fired generation plant would you

need?

A 500.

Q On page six of your rebuttal testinmony,
begi nning at line 11, you criticized M.

Schlissel's use of MRO capacity charts to make a
conmpari son. You say that the real story is energy

and the real story is what the charts would | ook
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i ke on an energy and cost basis. Would you pl ease
explain that statement a little bit nmore fully?
A If you'll allow me to just read that for
my menmory here.

MR. GUERREROC: s this fromthe April

23rd?
MR. BINEK: It's the rebuttal.
MR. GUERREROC: Thanks.
MS. LA SEUR: I s that page 117
MR. BI NEK: | have line 11, page 6.

THE W TNESS: Okay. MWhat |'m suggesting
in my testimony here is that in order to evaluate
the cost inpacts of what M. Schlissel is
suggesting is that we replace Big Stone capacity
with capacity of another sort. The cost to the
customers is really a function of the cost of the
capacity and the cost of the associ ated energy that
conmes fromthe resource m x that you propose.

If one just | ooks at a curve show ng
capacity nunbers, you have not evaluated or taken
into consideration what the resultant cost of
energy that would result fromthat m x of different
resources.

So, for exanple -- and again, this is

probably an answer in its simplistic form but if
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one were just talking capacity only, you could
reduce the cost of providing the capacity to meet
our custonmer | oad by going from $2500 a kw down to
a thousand dollars a kw, $900 a kw to build a
simpl e-cycle peaking unit, but that's not the whole
story because now you've saved some money on your
installed capacity costs, but the energy that
results fromthat with gas at $10 per mllion Btu
in a sinple-cycle peaking unit with a 10,000 Btu
per kilowatt heat rate is going to be $100 a
megawatt hour for the energy.

So it's the combi ned cost of the capacity
and the resultant energy that really has to be
factored into the rates that you recover from your
customers to pay for that, and so that's what |I'm
suggesting here, is that one has to | ook at the
combi ned effects of both the capacity and the
energy, which |I'm suggesting that M. Schlissel was
just overl ooking.

Q Woul d the potential long-term contract
wi th BNSF as di scussed in Exhibit OTP-120
materially change the forecasted price of coal used
to determne Big Stone I1's busbar cost?

A. Well, and again, we don't have a long-term

contract in place or ready for signature, and
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that's one of the issues that we've been discussing
here, but in our previous discussions with the
Burlington Northern they have indicated a
willingness to at | east consider a |long-term
contract that would be based on the current tariff
rates indexed to some sort of a -- of an
inflationary adjustnment factor, and what we have in
t he past discussed with BNSF relative to their
willingness to do is precisely the manner in which
we have forecasted our freight rates going forward.

So there's essentially, in my opinion, no
difference between what we are forecasting through
future freight rates and that which I think we
m ght be able to achieve if we were to negotiate a
contract with the BNSF. The question becomes
whet her or not that is the -- provides for the
| owest cost expectation of freight transportation
cost going forward, and there are two possibilities
t here.

One is without sonmething going forward, |
suppose it's possible that the BNSF could raise the
rates to Big Stone. Another possibility is that
somet hi ng m ght change that would afford the Big
Stone participants an opportunity to arrive at

| ower freight rates going forward than what a
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contract indexed cal culation m ght provide.

Certainly this Comm ssion is aware of the
i ssues and the conplications surrounding rail
freight transportation, and there has been exanple
for sure of things we had wi shed were otherwi se
with regard to freight transportation rates, but
that's not to say that we don't have sonme
protections in place for unreasonable freight
rates.

One of the dynam cs that has change, |
t hink even since | ast June when we were out here,
is that the railroads are now showing in their
annual cal cul ati on of revenue adequacy that they
are now revenue adequate, and so one of the
argunments that the railroads have used for ['1]
call light-handed treatment by the Surface
Transportation Board in the regulation of rates is
t hat because they were revenue inadequate, that
they were therefore entitled to some great
flexibility on their part in setting rates. That
dynam ¢ m ght change with regard to a revenue
adequacy determ nati on.

So -- but we're not unwilling to work with
the Comm ssion in North Dakota with regard to the

best way to deal with rail transportation going
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forward. The options are relatively sinmle. We
could rely on tariffs and the challenge of tariffs
if they're unreasonable, or we could take a | ook at
what | ong-term contracts m ght be and make a
determ nation as to which is the more advisable
approach, but from nmy perspective | think that our
experience with the tariff rates have been that
whil e we're paying higher rates than what would be
paid if you were | ooking at just purely the cost of
service, they have not escal ated di sproportionately
to the change in other costs that we have for
producing electricity.

MR. Bl NEK: | have no further questions.
JUDGE WAHL: Do the Comm ssioners have any
questions? Comm ssioner Wefald.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q In | ooking at the State | aw, 49-05-16,
advance determ nation of prudence, under 1(a) it
says, The public utility files with its application
a projectional cost to the date of the anticipated
commer ci al operation of the electric resource
addition, and then under 2 it says -- excuse ne,
under four it says, The Comm ssion's order

determ ni ng prudence of the resource adjustnment is
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bi nding for ratemaking purposes.

JUDGE WAHL: | don't think your m ke is
on, Comm ssioner.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: It is.

JUDGE WAHL: " m sorry.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: But maybe nmy m ke
isn't picking up. Okay. | thought they had a
wi der angl e.

JUDGE WAHL: There, 1'm going to give you
some nore juice.

Q (COMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG)  Al'l

right. My question is: G ven those two sections
of law, why wouldn't Otter Tail -- is Otter Tali
asking the Comm ssion -- when you file the

projections of costs that you have to the

Comm ssion in your application, is this -- is this
projectional costs, the ones that you want the
Comm ssion to approve as prudent?

A. Well, again, it's a question that | think
requires a |legal response, and |I'm not sure that
|'mthe one that's prepared to offer that, but from
a practical standpoint let me try this: | don't
think that it's our intention that we're com ng
before the Comm ssion today and saying that these

are the costs that we would propose for setting now
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to be the basis of future rate recovery. \hether
or not the words in the statute are somewhat
unclear, | don't know, but what we're com ng before
t he Conmm ssion to say is that based on our -- our
belief at this point as to what those costs would
be, these are what we believe that the costs of
buil ding a power plant for commercial installation
in 2013 would be, and what we're |ooking for is a
determ nation fromthe Comm ssion today that based
on that information that it would be prudent to
continue the work of then going out for the bids
for the specific components, for the negotiation of
the contracts, and there would be many of them

It's going to take us some time and

consi derabl e expense in order to come closer to a

final answer. The final cost of the plant probably
won't be determ ned until construction is conplete,
but | don't think that what we're com ng before you

today is saying that this is what we believe the
full and complete and only cost of the project wil
be.

We're saying rather that based on our
analysis at this point in time, this is the
magni tude -- the order of magnitude of the costs

that we think are representative of what this kind
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of a project will cost, and in order for us to
proceed further, we want to make sure that we've
| ooked at the facts and the information together
and del i beratively, and in order for us to get
closer to final numbers, it's going to take -- it's
going to take the passage of time, but it is the
best information that's available to us today.

Q And | remember in the 1980s in a case in
Il 1inois when they were building a nuclear plant,
one of their utilities, that at some point in the
process their Comm ssion said, you know, the cost
overruns for this project are just overwhel m ng and
we're going to make the sharehol ders pay for the
remai nder of the costs in this -- in this
situation. Do you have any thoughts on that to
gi ve reassurance to the Comm ssion that that --
what Otter Tail -- do you have any thoughts you'd
like to share with the Comm ssion as | consi der
t hat scenari 0?

A. Well, in fact, | think that it's the
experience that we had with some of those nucl ear
projects back then that | eads us to believe that
the right thing to do is to sit down with the
Comm ssion and review nmutually the cost information

data to have a determ nation -- we would like to
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have you sit with us as we review the business
j udgments and decisions to be made at this time.

One of us has got to make the
determnation if this is a prudent course of action
to follow, and it was our belief that it was a
better thing to do to make that as a joint and
del i berative review, you know.

The Texas Utilities Comanche Peak project,
t he Shorem project on Long |Island, those were
expensive projects, and |I think that it was
customary back then for utilities to commence
expensive capital intensive projects and then come
back to the conmm ssions | ater.

And as |'ve testified earlier this
mor ni ng, things will change, and with the benefit
of hindsight back then, people | ooked at those
decisions to begin projects and then there was
second-guessing as to whether those were reasonabl e
projects to have undertaken or not, and what we're
saying to you is that we think that it is nore
prudent, it's in the best interests of our
customers, it's in the best interests of our
sharehol ders to be forthcomng with regard to a
sharing of all of the information and saying that

based on what we know today, we are not in
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di sagreement as what would be the appropriate
busi ness judgment today.

That's not to say that things m ght not
change, but what we are asking for is a mutual
determ nation today as to whether -- does this seem
|i ke a reasonabl e and prudent course of action to
be foll ow ng?

Q Now, if there would be -- let's say that
you put out those bids and your costs came in --
some came in |ower, some came in higher, but let's
say sonme came in considerably higher -- and then
"' m | ooking at Section 5 of 49-05-16, If at any
time following an initial Comm ssion order, the
Comm ssion following a subsequent hearing
determ nes that continuation of a project is no
| onger prudent or that its prior order should be
modi fied, the public utility may recover in its

rates in a timely manner consistent with the public

utility's financial obligations the amounts the
public utility already has expensed, incurred, or
obligated on a project, including interest expense

and return on equity, okay, et cetera.
So would -- if a number of costs cane in
consi derably higher and let's say that the conmpany

was -- shared those then with the Conmm ssion at
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that time, it's my understanding then that the
Comm ssion's -- and let's say the Conm ssion at
t hat point determ ned the project was no | onger
prudent, then it's nmy understanding that all of the
costs up to that point -- forgetting all those bids
and forgetting all of that information and
presenting those nmore accurate information to the
Comm ssion -- would be passed through to
rat epayers; is that your understanding?

A That -- and again, |'mnot a |l awer and
we're getting into a |l egal issue now, but that is
my understanding of this Section 5, as well, and
that's one of the reasons why we propose to make
this a mutual review at this point in time. To the
best of our know edge, this is the best project to
proceed with now.

As a part of this advanced determ nation
of prudence we're, | think, both reading and
interpreting this the same way; that if at some
poi nt based on new information that's available to
both of us, if we decide otherw se, then the costs
t hat had been incurred to this -- to that then new
poi nt were costs that would have been reasonably
incurred. We had met, as we are today, based on

the evidence in April of 2008; this seems |ike the
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best project to proceed with. I f in Novenber of
2008 with refreshed bids and cost estimtes we make
a determ nation that, no, things have just gotten
out of control and we no |onger feel that this is
t he best kind of a project to go forward with, then
| do think that what this suggests is that the
costs that we spend between now and findi ng out
t hat new information in November was not
unreasonably expended noney. That based on where
we're at today, we think it's reasonable to
proceed.

If it's reasonable to proceed today and we
find out new information that tells us in the |Iong
run otherw se, that doesn't mean that the cost that
we spent between now and November was unreasonabl e
cost. It is reasonable today in our opinion.

MR. GUERRERO: M. Uggerud, would you pul
the m crophone just a little bit closer, please?

THE W TNESS: Sur e.

Q (COMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) Goi ng on
to anot her topic, on your slide presentation and in
your -- in your slides you referred to nuclear --
' m |l ooking for it -- it says -- | think it's slide
page four, New nuclear plants are prohibited by

M nnesota | aw.
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A. Ri ght .
Q If that's the case, how is Xcel able to
come to the Comm ssion and tell us that they're

updati ng and addi ng nuclear facilities to their

fleet?
A Well, Xcel is --
Q And what inmplication would this have for

Nort h Dakota that new nucl ear plants are prohibited
by M nnesota law? So | have two questions.

A. Wel |, new nucl ear plants are prohibited by
M nnesota | aw. Xcel has gone before the M nnesota
Comm ssion and | suppose before you people, too,
with the request for relicensing their current
pl ants for operating those for a |onger period of
time, but as it currently stands, M nnesota statute
woul d prevent the construction of a new nucl ear
pl ant in M nnesot a. Now, Xcel has gone on record
as saying they propose a change in the legislative
standard. They are now advocating for the ability
to proceed with new nuclear plants in the future,
but that would require a new M nnesota statute to
all ow that.

Q That's interesting. And then why -- but
what pertinence does that a new nuclear plant is

prohi bited by M nnesota law -- is that only in
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M nnesota, or could you build a nuclear plant in
Nort h Dakota and have it work for your North Dakota
customers?

A. Well, I --

Q And as well --

A. ' m not aware of any North Dakota | aw that
woul d prevent you from building a nuclear plant in
Nort h Dakot a.

Q And so that's why | wondered whet her your
whol e -- your whol e concept that you haven't
consi dered any nuclear is pertinent in this case.

A. Well, | think that it is because, you
know, heretofore Otter Tail has tried to come up
with a resource expansion alternative that's
acceptable in all three of our state jurisdictions.
We' ve not previously proposed that we would build
one set of resources to serve |loads in North Dakota
and then a different set to serve loads in
M nnesot a. We've tried to provide for the
optim zation that would come from planni ng our
system as an entirety.

Q But | wondered whet her a new nucl ear
plant, if it was |located in North Dakota, would be
prohi bited by M nnesota | aw?

A. Wel |, and again, that would probably
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require a legal interpretation, but | think that if
we were to as an electric utility seek to recover
rates from our M nnesota customers to pay for a new
nucl ear plant -- and | could well be wrong on
this -- but nmy interpretation as an engineer and a
| ayperson relative to the law is that we probably
woul d face some difficulty in getting approval to
recover an electric plant -- or a nuclear plant in

rates in Mnnesota if we built it in a different

state. | don't know. It's an interesting thought.
But aside fromthe law, as a -- and this
is just purely a personal opinion, | think that the

risk of building a nuclear power plant today would
still be beyond ny personal risk tolerance. The
cost run-up associated with the |last round of

nucl ear expansion was -- it was significant. I

t hi nk Comanche Peak, by the time it went online,
was over $5,000 a kw. That was back in 1987.

You see people that are suggesting that
maybe the nucl ear option should be revisited, and
|'ve seen numbers for nucl ear generation maybe down
in the 3,000 to $3500 per kw range, but yet 1've
seen others come forward and suggest that they
t hi nk that nuclear m ght be in the range of $5, 000

a kw, $6,000 a kw.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

968

The point is nobody knows. We haven't
built a nuclear power plant in this country for
over 20 years, and what the cost of one would be
will only follow after someone tries to do one, and
the permtting issues associated with that could be
very timely. | don't think that there's any
jurisdiction in the country where you could just
propose one and get a pass on the review that cones
fromthe permtting process. W don't have a
federal nuclear waste repository site.

| think all of the issues with nucl ear
that were present in the 1980s m ght |ikely emerge
again as still being issues, and |I don't think
we' ve got costs that have been refined to the point

where you've got an EPC contractor out there that

is willing to commt to building one at a fixed
price.
Q So those are the reasons you didn't

include that as a resource option in your m x?

A. Yeah. | -- and again, it's a judgnment
call, but I think that the cost and the
uncertainties of nuclear, | think, are still there.
| mean, conpanies -- conmpanies came to the brink of
bankruptcy when they last tried to build nuclear

power plants, and |I'm not sure that that would be a
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prudent thing for our conpanies that are small
compani es, and nucl ear power plants cost a | ot of
money, and it could drive us into a situation of
not being able to remain financially solvent if we
had the same experience now as we did 20 years ago.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: That's all the
guestions | have right now.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions?
Comm ssioner Cl ark.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Just a few.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q My -- as | sit here today, | realize that
we could pick apart any sort of fuel source, and we
could spend all day criticizing wind or gas or coal
or nucl ear or anything else and at the end of the
date haven't built any new plants, and at some
poi nt you just have to make a decision. So ny
guestions are geared with that in m nd, that at
some point the Comm ssion's job is to as best we
can, | think, look at all of the avail able
resources and then decide if given the alternatives
what the conmpany is proposing is a reasonable
t hi ng.

You went to sonme effort in your submitted
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testinony to draw a distinction between cap and
trade carbon regulation and just a sinple carbon
tax, and | was wondering why that distinction?
Because in ny mnd it's maybe a little bit of a
di stinction without a difference froma consumer
st andpoi nt, but you did draw that and |I'm wonderi ng
why.

A. Well, the primary reason was that in a
carbon tax scenario we're assum ng then that the
most |ikely situation would be that all carbon
em ssions are taxed at the same rate, so every
megawat t - hour produced woul d be subject to the sanme
price point. \Whereas in a cap and trade the
protocols would be slightly different specifically
with regard to McCain -- or with Lieberman-Warner.

That's a cap and trade mechani sm wherein
the right to emt carbon dioxide is given based on
a formul ate approach; whereas -- and | think in our
testinony we indicated roughly half of the
al | owances woul d be given. And so the outcome of
that is, is that, yes, there is still a value that
is applied to the carbon em ssions, but they only
apply to the portion for which you don't have the
underlying all owances. That's not unlike the

program that we have currently in place for the
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sul fur dioxide.

Q But at the end of the day isn't it the
same thing that happens as far as a cost of fuel
regardl ess of where you set the em ssions limts --

A. Ri ght .

Q -- and so on and so forth? The idea is
that you're inposing costs in the future on
somet hing that's free today.

A. | agree with you. And the point that |
was maki ng was nmuch nore the very sinmple and subtle
one, and that is that the -- in order to apply the
metrics to what a carbon constraint would have on
Big Stone, one has to make a fairly sinple
determ nation as how will the carbon val ues be
appli ed.

Now, if the carbon values are applied as a
tax applying to every ton, that's what we anal yze.
That's the sinplest approach to do, is to take that
and apply it to every megawatt-hour used. | f,
however, you take the same value and say we wi nd up
with a cap and trade and carbon em ssions are now
priced at the same dollars per megawatt-hour, the
i mpact on customers will be different if half of
the em ssions are granted by the receipt of free

al | owances. So that's the only point that | was --
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Q But it could be Iower if the carbon tax
were | ower than what the market clearing price of
carbon would be, too; right? | mean, it's all a
function of whatever Congress decides to either cap
it at or to tax it at.

A. Exactly. And that's another inmportant
poi nt . Under a cap and trade you would be free to
capture credits in terms of reduction of CO2
em ssions, and it could be that. As contrasted to
a carbon tax where your tax is based on a
megawat t - hour of output, in a cap and trade program
what you're really dealing with there is paying for
t he actual em ssions and you've got the alternative
of reducing em ssions for a credit, and that's
wherein | think that there's a certain amount of
appeal in a cap and trade program

So, for example, |and managenment
practices, the capture of landfill gas, the methane
to produce electric generation, there are ways that
one can offset carbon di oxide em ssions that m ght
come at a | ower cost.
The cap and trade program has as one of

t he underlying elements associated with it is |et
entrepreneurs and markets come up with ways that

are alternatives to just pricing a value agai nst




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

973
every megawatt-hour produced, and the experience
has been that there are, in fact, other ways of
reduci ng carbon em ssions and the resultant being
t hat you' ve achieved the same goal but at a
di fferent price.

Q Just as an editorial coment really on cap
and trade, | nmean, | personally believe that the
bureaucracy that would have to be set up to track
just what you're tal king about is far worse than --
| mean, carbon taxes are bad enough, but the type
of bureaucracy that you'll have to set up to

monitor and track the type of cap and trade system

t hat EElI and some of the utility industries seemto
be tracking to, |I think, is the bigger concern for
me.

Questions were asked about nucl ear, but |
woul d just encourage the utilities in North Dakota
to keep in touch and discuss with the Comm ssion
nucl ear. | mean, and it seems to me if we're
tal ki ng about a carbon-constrai ned environnment,
nucl ear has to be on the table, and |I understand
that the time frames may not be such that at this
time the utility conpanies are | ooking at nucl ear,
but 1'd certainly encourage the conversation be

kept up.
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In our |ast hearing there was sone
di scussion of carbon sequestration capabilities at
Big Stone 11. Have there been any further studies
bet ween then and now regardi ng any potential carbon
sequestration capability in that area?

A. Not specific to Big Stone Il. There has
been additional analyses and comentary with regard
to the state of the art relative to carbon capture
and sequestration but nothing that we've done
i ndependently for Big Stone I1.

Q Did -- when GRE dropped out and the Big
Stone Il was downsized, was there any internal
attempt to go back and | ook at Big Stone Il versus
ot her coal - producing facilities? |'mthinking
about specifically, say, Coyote Station here in
Nort h Dakot a. | notice that a | ot of the testinony
focuses in on Big Stone Il versus a w nd/ gas combo.
Was there any attempt to go back and | ook at now
Big Stone Il versus other potential coal plants?

A. Well -- and again, as long as | qualify ny
response as being an Otter Tail only response, and
maybe | can qualify it even further and say that
it's a Ward Uggerud response, if | take that
literally, my thought was always that if we are not

able to -- if we're not able to permt and recover
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the investment in M nnesota for a coal-fired power
pl ant because of the carbon issue, |'ve always
t hought that it's going to be a difficult thing for
Otter Tail to recover its share of the costs
associ ated with any coal plant. So that's why in
my testimony |'ve indicated that the most |ikely
alternative would be a wind/gas. A coal plant is
going to have the sanme kind of carbon em ssions as
anot her coal plant, and if we get in trouble with
M nnesota on the basis of carbon, any project is

going to be --

Q Ri ght . But ny question isn't so nmuch
M nnesota rate recovery. My question is: I f you
now | ooked at Big Stone Il 500 or 530 megawatts

versus what you would build here in North Dakot a,
how do those two plants compare from a cost
st andpoi nt ?

A. Well, from a cost standpoint -- and, of
course, our evaluation of the resource selection
all along has included the costs of a typical North
Dakota project, and what comes with a typical North
Dakota project is going to be -- you're going to
have a | ower heating value fuel, so you'll have a
poorer heat rate, and you're further fromthe | oad

centers, so the anmount of transm ssion that wil
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have to be constructed is going to be greater.
So that, you know, Otter Tail and MDU have

never | ost sight of the costs of an alternative

t hat would involve North Dakota generation. It's
just that when you -- and there's a | ot of
advantages to building in North Dakot a. | mean,

there are advantages of dealing with a climte that
is nore conducive to working with utilities for

i nvestments, but at the end of the day there are
just costs associated in building in North Dakota
that aren't there at the Big Stone site.

And the Big Stone site, if | mght go back
in history, was selected primarily not to avoid the
burning of North Dakota lignite. In fact, if you
will recall, we burnt North Dakota lignite there
for 20 years. The primary reason for the selection
of that site was because it was | ocated
geographically in such a way that it enhanced the
operation of the entire regional system

And the analogy that | like to use is that
if you built a clothesline from North Dakota to
M nneapolis and tried to hang clothes on it, you'd
be limted as to how many cl othes you could hang by
the sag in the mddle of the line. I f you put

anot her clothesline pole in the mddle of the |ine,
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you can hang more clothes along the entire |l ength
of the Iine, and that was the original rationale
behi nd a power plant at that |ocation, is it was
m dway between western North Dakota and M nneapolis
and - -

Q Right. And that's why | asked about the
droppi ng out of GRE, though, because with GRE
droppi ng out, | suspect if you kind of | ooked at
the | oad profile, Big Stone Il was about at the
center of the load profile geographically before.
You now have a project which as far as the weight
of the consumers that will be using it, it's a nmore
northwesterly centered project with MDU and Otter
Tail proportionately being a |larger share of that
proj ect. Does GRE dropping out, having a smaller
plant, merit re-looking at facilities in this part
of the region as opposed to still there?

A. GRE and SMMPA dropping out don't alter the
fundanmental delivery of power from generation to
consumers. We still have a significant bias from
northwest to southeast. So all electrons are
movi ng toward the sout heast, and GRE and SMVPA
droppi ng out doesn't alter that. You' ve got
roughly 5,000 nmegawatts of generation in North

Dakota and North Dakota's load is only about half
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of that. So you've just got a prevailing flow from
west to east, and those two partners dropping out

with their relative 160 megawatt share won't alter

t he fundamental flow of power in any way. It's
still going to nmove towards the southeast.
Q And just to clarify, the -- you'd

menti oned North Dakota coal burns a | ower Btu,
which we all realize, but at the same time that --
and to enphasize, that wasn't why you chose to go
this other route, was it? | mean, the Coyote plant
is, at worst, conpetent with -- as far as cost what
ot her plants in the region produce, in fact,
probably bel ow what other plants produce?

A. The energy cost is, you're right, bel ow,
but the total cost of a project includes the cost
of producing the energy, the cost of building a
pl ant, and the cost of building a transm ssion to
i nterconnect the plant to the system So you have
to add up all three of those components and then
factor themin over the entire megawatt-hours
produced over the lifetime of the project.

Q And you believe that today, even with the
smal l er plant, Big Stone Il is a |ower total cost
t han | ooking at a Coyote site?

A. Yes. And, in fact, that's the essence of
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testinony now, is to make a denonstration as to
what the economcs are of a smaller plant, and
we' re eval uating both 500 and 580, but the worst
case would be 500, and that is, in essence, the

primary purpose of com ng back before you now, is
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to denonstrate for you that, yes, when you | ook at

t hat specific option of a smaller plant with fewer

econom es of scale at Big Stone, it's still
conpetitive as conpared to a project in western
North Dakota with the associated additi onal
transm ssion that would be required.

Q Okay. And then just one |ast question:
The -- you had mentioned in response to sone
guestions that M. Binek had the 60/40 split
assum ng a 40 percent capacity factor for w nd.
s -- one of the things that |'ve heard w nd
proponents talk about is that that's not a fair
representation of how to run the cost model on it
because wind tends to blow -- you know, it's not

bl owi ng as much at night when the | oad profile is

much | ower. It may bl ow during the day or sonme of

t he peak hours. Could you talk a little bit about

that? 1s it fair to just do a 60/40 split and run

the costs as such or does it make sense to have a
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more, | don't know, sophisticated nmodel where
you're tempting to figure out exactly when the wi nd
is blowing for a given area and conmpare that with
the | oad profile?

A. And | apol ogize for my sinplistic answer
because, you know, you raise a good point. The
converse is also true, though, in that wi nd tends
to blow nore in the spring and the fall when the
| oads are |l ower, so -- and at tinme of peak, whether
it's extreme wi nter peaking or extreme sunmmer
peaki ng, those are the times when you would expect
the very | east amount of w nd out put.

So, yeah, you're right, Comm ssioner
Clark, it is more simplistic than my 60/40, but at
the end of the day it's my personal viewpoint that
an analysis of when the wind is blowing relative to
the need and the price, that the answer is not
going to conme out in favor of wind as a result of
t hat additi onal adjustment.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Okay. Thanks, that's
all 1 have.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cramer.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | have just a few,
and forgive me if the answer is embedded somewhere

in either this morning's testimny or in your
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previous testinony. "Il try to get it as sinmple
as | can.

EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER:

Q There was consi derable cross-exam nation
and di scussi on about the absence of specific
conservation or efficiency progranms in an effort to
reduce the need for baseload or | guess it was
maybe even nore specific to those margins --
reliability margin, but is there any nmost

optim stic application, theoretical or otherw se,

of efficiency -- efficiency or conservation
programs that would make Big Stone II inprudent?
A. No. And, in fact, |I think that there's a

| ot of potential for changes and i mprovenments in
conservation practices, but | would just offer that
| think that conservation is going to be driven in

| arge part by custoners. Customers will engage in
conservation activities and programs that save them
t he most money, and it's my belief and opinion that
they're nore likely to save at times of higher cost
and hi gher demand, and when prices are relatively

| ow, there's |less incentive for customers to save.
The end result of all of that is that extremely

effective conservation progranms will just increase
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the need for the basel oad resources, and it will

di mnish the need for the peaking resources.

Q Three-dol | ar-a-gall on gasoline forced nme
to trade in nmy Suburban for an Impala, | can tell
you t hat. | want to get to the transportation --

the rail transportation just a little bit nore
because to me that still is the nost troubling
uncertainty in all of this, for me personally, and
| appreciate the exhibits with regard to the
correspondence with the railroad, although I think
it only supports what your testimny was as it
results -- is it relates to the -- to a long-term
contract that would include normal rail inflation
adj uster and then the train fuel surcharge.

I n anal yzing going-forward transportation

costs, has -- have the partners considered $200- a-
barrel oil or nore? |In other words, is there some
analysis or is there some nunber, is there some

cost -- some fuel surcharge cost at which suddenly

it is inmprudent to rail PRB coal to Big Stone [17?
A Well, | think, Comm ssioner Cramer, that

whet her or not we were to pursue coal delivery

under a contract or under a tariff, | think that

ei ther mechani sm would include a fuel surcharge as

a component. | can't imagine that the railroad
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woul d offer us a contract that doesn't have a
portion of the contract indexed to the price of
fuel. So | think that whether it's tariff or
whet her it's contract, the issue of the volatility
of the transportation fuel is going to be a part of
ei ther.

Q And |'m not suggesting that they shoul d.
"' mjust suggesting that does -- even a year ago
did we have any idea that fuel prices would be what
they were today? And is it fair to say we have no
i dea where they will be a year from now or the
future? That uncertainty continues to haunt ne a
little bit.

Anot her question along those same |ines:

Woul d the approval of this application for pre-
prudence, as well as approval of other required
permts for Big Stone Il, should they all be
approved, prior to entering into a long-term
contract with the railroad, put the partners at a
di sadvantage i n negotiating what that |ong-term
contract m ght |ook |ike?

A. And again, right now we're uncertain as to
the manner in which -- let's just suppose that we
were directed to enter into a long-term contract

with the BN. An order requiring us to do that, |
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t hi nk, arguably could reduce our |everage in front
of the BNSF. A mutual commtment to ask for a
contract and then make a joint and deli berate
decision with regard to whether that's prudent
m ght give us nore |everage.

You know, there's certainly a | ot of

unknowns with regard to that aspect, but | -- you
know, as | testified |ast year in June, | do think
t hat one elenment that is there -- and how nmuch
confort it gives anybody, | don't know -- but we do

have a regul atory body that is supposed to | ook
after the reasonabl e devel opnent of fuel
transportation rates.

| think that there is some growi ng concern
in Congress with regard to the past that railroads
have had. | think some of that dynamc is
changi ng. \Whether -- you know, |'m not suggesting
that |I'm 100 percent certain myself as to which the
best approach going forward is, but | do know t hat
captive shippers pay a disproporti onate share of
the freight, and there are guidelines that are
supposed to protect captive shippers, and |I'd be
the first to offer that | would -- | mean, | was
involved in the form ng of the Alliance for Rail

Conpetition to get some nore, and it hasn't
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happened to the degree that | would |ike, but at
the same time | think the transportation, | think
electricity and energy are inportant to the econony
in this country, and | can't see us abandoni ng
| ong-standi ng protocols with regard to protecting
t he underlying consumer, and | would have at | east
some reason for optimsmthat rail transportation
rates won't get out of control.

Q | don't know that I'd characterize your
characterization as growi ng optim sm but at | east
it's a dimnishing pessimsmin the effectiveness
of the Surface Transportation Board, so | find that
somewhat encouragi ng.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Could | just
follow up on that real quickly --

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Go ahead. Sure.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: -- because | wasn't
sure | understood the response. You' d said that
you t hought you m ght have nore | everage if the
Comm ssion approved the project but then just said,
you know, go ahead and work with the BN on a
contract as opposed to saying the project isn't
approved until you get something in writing that we
approve of. How does -- how is that nore | everage?

THE W TNESS: And again, it would depend
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on the specific order of this Comm ssion, but if,
for example, the Comm ssion said we won't approve
the construction of Big Stone Il without a
| ong-term contract, then we're kind of in a
position with the Burlington Northern where they
know we' ve got to have one, and if that's the only
requi rement of the Comm ssion is that they have
one, | think we've got |ess negotiating |everage
than if the response would be that the Burlington
Nort hern has got to come up with a contract and we
don't have to take it if collectively we don't
think that it would be in the best interests of our
customers. So it's a fine point but I think that
if we were ordered --

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: But you have to have

coal; right? |1 mean, you're not going to build a
pl ant - -

THE W TNESS: Well, we don't need a
contract for the coal. W can always rely on the

tariff and we can al ways rely on whatever
protections there m ght be relative to the pricing
of the tariff. So that's our option. Now, if on
t he other hand we were told that we can't have a
pl ant without a |long-term contract, now if that --

if it were to be that sinply put, now the railroad
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woul d know t hat, hey, these guys are over a barrel,
t hey' ve got to have a long-term contract or they
can't build a plant, then I think we lose a little
bit of negotiating |everage.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: But don't they have
the skin in the game there, too, then? | mean,

t hey have an incentive to want to serve it, don't
t hey?

THE W TNESS: We believe so, but, you
know, | suppose that they would take a | ook at
what's their projection of natural gas prices going
forward, and they m ght be --

COVMM SSI ONER CRAMER: That's the problem

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: | mean, therein lies
the concern; that if the clearing price is natural
gas, then what advantage do we have in a coal plant
if they can always charge up to the natural gas
price?

THE W TNESS: And that's why | said that
if someone had the opinion that they could al ways
charge up to the clearing price of natural gas,
then we're in a bind, and that's why | say at some
poi nt you say can they do that, and I'm not so sure
t hat they can do that. ' m not so sure they can

price on a tariff basis up to the clearing price of
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natural gas because we have to have the coal rate
gui delines in place, and | think that that would
set sonme sort of bounds on their ability to just
uni |l aterally charge whatever they think that
natural gas prices will be.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Okay. Thanks for
letting me butt in.

COVMM SSI ONER CRAMER: That's fine. Thank
you.

Q (COMM SSI ONER CRAMER CONTI NUI NG) | have a
couple more questions related to this discussion
about natural gas versus coal, and |I'm going to
save some of my nore specific natural gas
questions, | think, for future witnesses, but a
coupl e of real basic ones | have that you can
probably answer given your experience. First of
all, I think it's enmbedded again in your previous
testinony, but does natural gas emt CO2?

A Yes, it does.

Q Okay. MWhich natural resource is in nore

abundance in the United States, natural gas or

coal ?
A Coal .
Q Do you think it's time for North Dakota

utilities to have North Dakota specific | RPs?
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A Wel |, again speaking -- this is clearly
speaking from me, and my boss --

Q Do | have to ask every witness?

A. -- my boss is sitting over there, and |
don't know what his answer would be. You know,
think that we have in good faith tried to come up
with a single resource expansion plant that neets
the goals of all of the states that we serve.
That's wherein you get the econom es of scale.

My goodness, you know, it seens to me that
when you get right down to it, we should as a
country all have the same goals and interests and
concerns, but I'll be the first to say that |I'm
t hi nking that M nnesota pushes us toward separating
our resource planning by state jurisdiction, and we
sel ected some software that would allow us in the
future to maybe nove towards that.

But there's no question that the public
policy goals as articulated in M nnesota are
different than those of North Dakota and South
Dakota right now, and |I'm not going to apol ogize to
anybody when | say that | think that M nnesota is
com ng perilously close to exposing M nnesota
customers to future prices for energy that m ght be

uni ntended, and if that would be the case, | think
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bef ore we would expose our customers in all of our
jurisdictions to the consequences of M nnesota
policy, that we would have to consider bifurcating
our integrated resource planning because we
woul dn't want to come to you people and say, well,

you have to approve this plan because it's what
M nnesota requires if that's not in the best
interests of our North Dakota customers.

Q One ot her questi on. |s there any
advantage to the shareholders of Otter Tail Power,
or anyone else, for that matter, to proposing the
second- most prudent or third-most prudent project
t hat you've been able to analyze and come up with?

A. You know, that's the irony of all of this.
| f our only concern in all of this were our
sharehol ders and if we were planning resource
expansion alternatives purely for the recovery of
the revenue associated with them and only had to
pass muster with regard to political correctness,
it would probably be far easier to make investnments
t hat woul d protect the sharehol ders' interests.

You know, | think that that would be an easier task
to make investments that would protect the

sharehol der interest, but that's different than

protecting the customer interest.
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And there are days upon days upon days
when | feel that the greatest burden that |
shoulder is to try and resist the tenptation to
come up with the easy thing to do on the behal f of
our sharehol ders and take stands that m ght not
al ways be politically correct, but at the same time
based on ny experience in the industry, | believe,
are those very things that are necessary in order
to protect our customers' interests in the
l ong-term

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Well, with that |
woul d just add ny editorial comment relating to
consi deration of nuclear, and, of course, with the
renewed interest in uranium mning in North Dakot a,
we' re advocating m ne nmout h. That's all 1 have.
Thank you

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wefald.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Yes.

FURTHER EXAM NATI ON

BY COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q This relates to the percentages you gave
earlier regarding your new resources that you need
across all the different conservation renewabl es
and natural gas and new coal, and you said that 23

percent of your new resource is coal. How many
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megawatts is that when you were figuring that? 130

or 123 or --
A. Or 170. ' m not sure. The percentages
are correct, and | would have to -- | would have to

go back and check my calculation to see if the 24
percent was based on 120 megawatts or 170 megawatts
of coal.

Q Do you want to cone back to the Conm ssion
during this hearing and tell us that information or
woul d you like that to be a late-filed exhibit?

A You know, what | would propose that we
could do is just offer that in M. Morlock's
testinony | ater. | know the percentages are right,
and I just -- 1 just -- | don't have the nunbers in
front of me to recall whether that cal cul ati on was
based on 123 or 170.

Q "1l accept that from M. Morl ock, and
then -- but do you have this answer: Then over
what time period is that? Because let's say it's
130 negawatts and that's -- 23 percent is just
about one-quarter, that would be 520 megawatts that
you're saying that Otter Tail needs?

A. That woul d be --

Q So over what time period?

A. That would be within the time frame of our
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integrated resource plan, which is a 2007 to 2022
time frame.

Q 2007 --

A. And again, I'll defer that to M. Morl ock
for confirmation, but that's within the planning
hori zon, which | believe we deemed to be our
resource planning horizon. We file -- biennially
we file a 15-year resource plan.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? M. Guerrero, followup?
MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q M. Uggerud, earlier this morning Ms. La
Seur was asking you questions about the M dwest
Reliability Organization

A That's correct.

Q | believe one of the questions she asked
you i s whether or not you knew whether the MRO had
considered the Big Stone Il as a commtted resource

for purposes of their assessments?

A. Ri ght .
Q Did you have the occasion to check that?
A. Yes, | did.
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Q And do you know whet her or not the MRO
has - -

A Yes. Big Stone is considered in the
reporting of the MRO to NERC. | indicated in ny
answer this morning I knew that Otter Tail had
considered it as commtted resource with regard to
our filings before the MRO. It has al so been
accepted as commtted resources by the MRO, so it's
in the MRO and the NERC nunbers.

Q What does that nmean when you say it's in
t he numbers?

A It means that Big Stone Il as a proposed
resource is included in the numbers that the MRO
and the North American Electric Reliability Council
are utilizing in making their forecasted
proj ections.

Q So without Big Stone Il the capacity
deficits would -- predicted capacity deficits would
be worse?

A. Ri ght .

Q Ms. La Seur also asked you questions, M.
Uggerud, regarding NERC, that's the National
El ectric Reliability Council?

A. North Ameri can.

Q Excuse nme. North American. And regarding
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their long-term assessment. Are you famliar with
t hat organi zati on?

A Yes, | am

Q And how are you famliar with that
organi zati on?

A | actually served as chairman of the
operating commttee of the North American Electric
Reliability Council from 1988 to 1990.

Q And have you continued to stay involved
with that organization?

Yes, | have.

Q Do you know whet her or not NERC, N-E-R-C,
gets involved in pricing of different generation
resources?

A. Not -- no, they do not. The pricing of
the resources are a function of the market
established by the M dwest | ndependent System
Operator. The North American Electric Reliability
Council is the reliability organization. They are
al so the organization that is charged with
perform ng an annual reliability assessment of the
nation's electric infrastructure.

Q You were asked a couple of questions by
t he Comm ssioners with respect to nucl ear power.

Do you have any opinion about when we m ght be able
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to see with any reasonabl e degree of certainty cost
i nformati on for new nucl ear power?

A. Not with any degree of certainty. It's --
there's certainly a discussion with regard to
nucl ear, but | don't have an opinion how long it
will be. You know, we're probably going to see
estimates sooner than we're going to see actuals,
and that was one of the dilemmas that we had with
Comanche Peak. You know, it took themten years to
build it and cost increases of some 500 percent
during the period of construction.

So if you're asking when we m ght see an
original, initial projection of costs, we m ght see
one in the next year or two or three, but it's
going to be, | would suggest, ten years before we

have the opportunity to observe what the actual

cost will have been.
Q Ms. La Seur asked you a question something
along the lines -- nmy notes reflect, M. Uggerud,

don't you have sinmply time to readjust as the
i nformati on devel ops? Do you recall that question?
A | do.
Q And what's -- what's your -- can you give
me a response to that? Why can't you just sort of

do more study?
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A. Well, you know, the more -- well, let me
put it this way: Yeah, we can readjust, and we'l
have to because we've got the obligation to keep
the Iights on. The dilemma with that is is that if
your opportunity to make the nost prudent, | owest
cost decisions is taken away from you and then you
readj ust, you can get closer and closer and cl oser
to a situation where you've got to undertake a
project at any cost in order to keep the |ights on,
and that isn't anywhere close to saying that at the
end of the day you come up with the | owest cost
pl an that would have been avail able had you been
all owed to proceed at the beginning with your
| east -cost pl an.

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, | have no
further questions. Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. LA SEUR

Q M. Uggerud, would you please turn back to
the Exhibit 17 offered by the intervenors, the
excerpts of the NERC, long-termreliability
assessnment? And |I'd refer you to the last -- the
second to |l ast two pages, 133 and 134.

A. Al'l right.
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Q And 133 shows MRO-U. S. avail abl e capacity

mar gi ns for summer; correct?

A. Ri ght .
Q And this would be the capacity margin data
that includes Big Stone Il; correct?

A. That's right.
Q I|f you would flip over to the charts on
page 134, these are MRO- Canada avail able capacity

mar gi ns for the wi nter peaking side of the system

correct?
A. That's correct.
Q This paints a very different picture from

t he summer peaking capacity margins, does it not?
A No. | don't think one could draw that
concl usi on.
Q One goes up and one goes down; correct?
A. Well, yeah. That's correct. But it
doesn't necessarily draw a different concl usion
with regard to the situation that utilities in the
United States would face thenmselves in. | think
what it suggests is an opportunity on the part of
t he Canadian utilities as to what the val ue of
t heir Canadi an energy products m ght be. The
pricing that Canada utilities are going to extract

are going to be a function of what you see in the
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m ddl e of page 133. It's not going to be a
function of what you see on page 134.

Q Page 134 indicates significant additional
avail abl e capacity up to 2015 on the MRO- Canada
system at the wi nter peak; correct?

A Sur e. And if I'"'ma Canadian utility, I'm
going to say, my goodness, what an opportunity I
have because |'m going to sell it into that United
St ates mar ket on page 133.

Q Thank you. Would he turn back one page to
129? And I'd refer you to the |ast paragraph on
t hat page. Wuld you please read the first
sentence of the |ast paragraph into the record?

A "Queued projects for wind generation total
several thousands of megawatts."

Q And what area is this in, according to the
heading in the m ddle of the page?

A The Dakotas area.

Q The Dakotas area. And would you pl ease
also read into the record the |ast sentence in that
| ast paragraph on page 1297

A "W nd generation typically has a very fast
pl anni ng and construction period, and it is
anticipated that wi nd generation will continue to

be installed in the Dakotas at 100 to 200 megawatts
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per year."

MS. LA SEUR: Thank you. Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek, anything further?

MR. Bl NEK: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oners, anything
further for this witness?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: No.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: No.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero, any foll owup?

MR. GUERRERO: Just one, Your Honor.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GUERRERO:
Q Wth respect to page 129, M. Ugger ud,

toward that --

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Which report?

MR. GUERRERO: " m sorry. The - -

JUDGE WAHL: Exhi bit 17.

MR. GUERRERO: | ntervenor's Exhibit 17,
t he NERC assessment, second to the | ast paragraph.

THE W TNESS: M- hmm

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) \Where it

references "Additional facilities in the Dakot as
areas associated with new planned generation wll
consi st of 230 and 345 kv additions from the coal

fields of North Dakota to the Red River Valley in
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western M nnesota and 345 and 230 kv additions in
Sout h Dakota to sout hwestern M nnesota." Did
read that correctly?

A Yes, you did.

Q Do you know what that 345 kv and 230 kv
additions in South Dakota to southwestern M nnesota
refers to?

A. That's the Big Stone generation outlet.
Big Stone Il generation outlet.

MR. GUERRERO: No further questions, Your
Honor .
JUDGE WAHL: Fol | owup, Ms. La Seur?
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR

Q s it possible to build this transm ssion
out of western South Dakota wi thout building Big
Stone 11, as well?

A. Well, we've been involved with entities
t hat have been | ooking for opportunities to expand
wi nd generation throughout our service territory,
and every project devel oper that we've talked to
said that the constraining factor in their ability
to build additional wind is how do you build the
transm ssion associated with it, because they found

that the cost feasibility, the econom cs of their
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proposed projects fall apart when they -- when they
have to be responsible for building the wind -- or
building the transm ssion to interconnect the wi nd.

So what we have done in the devel opnent of
the Big Stone Il proposal is we've said because of
the work that we have done with | ocal econom c
devel opment authorities and other parties, is we've
got an opportunity to build some additional
transm ssion associated with Big Stone Il for the
pur pose of enhancing wi nd generation devel opment.
Yes, it would be possible to build the transm ssion
outlet facilities associated with Big Stone |1, but
it would not be possible to do them and have the
rat epayers of the Big Stone Il participants agree
to pay for them

Q And at the rate of wind construction
anticipated by page 129, this 100 to 200 megawatts
annually in the Dakotas, what anmount of w nd
generation is anticipated by 2015 in this area --
new generation?

A. | can't speak for the entire region, but
agai n, throughout the morning and this afternoon
it's been repeatedly enphasized that in order to
build those amounts of additional w nd generation

resources, that's going to have to be done
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consistent with the exam nation of other things
that will also have to be done in order to
integrate those amounts of wi nd generation.

Just because there are proposals out there
to have those significant amounts of w nd doesn't
mean that there are other considerations wth
regard to the necessary installation, and that's
why page 129 is what 129 is. Ot her things will
have to be done.

Those plans will not just appear and be
realized wi thout significant other projects that
are going to be necessary that will come before
this Comm ssion at other points in time asking for
approval s necessary to fund the capital associ ated
with doing other things in order to achieve those
wi nd nunmbers.

Q Was that -- is it that you're unable to

cal cul ate a number by 2015 or you just don't w sh

to?

A What number do you want me to cal cul ate?
The amount of wind that will be proposed to be
installed by 2015? | have no idea. | mean,

there's thousands of megawatts in the queue, but
they're not all going to be built. So | don't know

what you're asking me to speculate on. Are you
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asking me to speculate how much of that | think
will be built? 1 have no idea how much will be
built. | know there's thousands out there trying.

They won't all happen.

Q Al'l right. Turning back to page 129, | ast
sentence, wi nd generation -- "it is anticipated
t hat wi nd generation will continue to be installed
in the Dakotas at 100 to 200 megawatts per year."
This is NERC talking. Do you di sagree?

MR. GUERREROC: ' m going to object. This
goes beyond the scope of ny redirect. | asked
about one specific line on page 129, and it wasn't
that |ine.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Well, 100 to 200 megawatts a
year doesn't add up to 8,000 megawatts in the time
frame that we're |l ooking at, so | won't disagree
with the 100 to 200 a year, but that's far |ess
than the amount that's in the queue.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTINUING) So you're in
agreement then that this 100 to 200 megawatts per
year in the Dakotas is realistic?

A. | said | would agree with the statement
that it's anticipated that wi nd generation in those

amounts may happen.
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Q Well, it doesn't say "may happen.” It
says "will continue to be installed.™
A And it also says "anticipated,"” and |"']|

agree with the anticipated.

MS. LA SEUR: Okay. As everything in the
future can only be anticipated. Thank you.
Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

MR. Bl NEK: Not hi ng.

JUDGE WAHL: Any follow-up questions from
the Comm ssion? M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO: No, thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you very much, M.
Uggerud. We'll be in recess for ten m nutes
until -- or not quite. Let's say until 2:40.

(Recess taken.)

JUDGE WAHL: All right. M. Guerrero,
when you're ready.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you. We would cal
M. Mark Rol fes.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Rolfes, | recall your
testinmony at the previous hearing for this matter
in June and have personal know edge that you have
been advi sed regarding perjury. Accordingly, I'm

sure you understand, M. Rolfes, your testinmny
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conti nues under oath and subject to penalties of
perjury.

MR. ROLFES: | do.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.
MARK ROLFES,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified further as follows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q Pl ease state your nane.

A. Mar k Rol fes.

Q And by whom are you enpl oyed?

A ' m enpl oyed by Otter Tail Power Conpany.

Q What is your current position again?

A. | am the project manager of the Big Stone
Il project.

Q And what does that entail?

A. That entails the overall management and
direction of the effort to make Big Stone Il a
reality.

Q And what's your empl oyment history, M.
Rol f es?

A. | ve been enpl oyed for alnost 31 years by
Oter Tail Power Company in different positions in

t he energy generation area. Most of them center
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around the Big Stone facility.

Q Did you --

JUDGE WAHL: |"m sorry, M. Guerrero.
Just a m nute. | have a technical problem |
guess. | don't show that |'m recording. Pat ?

(Off the record.)

JUDGE WAHL: \What's the procedure? Does
the Comm ssion require a recording in the
circunstances?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | think as | ong as
we have a court reporter present that we can go
ahead, and then when we're able to start the
recordi ng again, we will

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: That's certainly
acceptable to ne.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. You may proceed,
M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERREROC: Thank you.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTINUING) Did you have --
M. Rolfes, did you prepare or have occasion to

prepare and file prefiled witten testinmony in this

mat t er ?
A. Yes, | did.
Q Do you have those docunents up there with

you?
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A Yes, | do.

Q Coul d you identify them by exhibit nunber
for the record, please?

A Exhi bit 324 and Exhi bit 335.

Q 324 is your supplenmental direct testinmony
and 335 is your supplemental rebuttal testinony?

A. That's correct.

Q And if | asked you the same questions
today as set forth in those written docunents,
woul d your answers be the same?

A. | would |like to make one clarification
just so there's no m sunderstandi ng. In the March
10th direct testimony, at the end of the testinmony,
updated the status of the current permtting, and
of course this testimony is two nmonths old now and
some things have changed, so this --

Q Excuse me, M. Rol fes. Let's go to that
particul ar page. That would be OTP/ MDU Exhi bit
324.

A. And it would be on page ten. It begins
with Iine 13, "What is the current status of the
permtting for the Big Stone Plant?" There have
been really two changes in the South Dakota air
permt, sonetines referred to as the PSD. W have

had the scheduling conference, and because of some
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conflicts, we now expect that decision to be either
| ate into the third quarter or early fourth quarter
this year; and the other one in the federal
environment al inmpact statement, that schedul e has
slipped approximtely one nmonth since this was
written. Ot her than that, the testinony is the
same and correct.

Q Okay. M. Rolfes, with respect to the

final report record of the decision of the EIS,

woul d that still be within the third quarter of
20087

A. Probably the first nmonth of the fourth
gquarter. It was schedul ed for Septenber; nowit's

schedul ed for October.

Q Any ot her corrections or additions?
A None that |I'm aware of.
Q Do you also have in front of you, M.

Rol fes, OTP/ MDU Exhi bit 324A?

A Yes, | do.
Q And that's a summary of your testinmny?
A. Yes, it is.

MR. GUERRERO: Your Honor, we would offer
OTP/ MDU Exhi bits 324, 324A, and OTP/ MDU 335 at this
time.

JUDGE WAHL: 33257
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MR. GUERRERO: 335. 324, 324A, and 335,

all OTP/ MDU exhibits to signify that M. Rol fes
testifying as a joint wtness.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

i's

JUDGE WAHL: Exhi bits 324, 324A, and 335

are each received.
Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) M . Rol fes,
could you provide a brief summary of your

testinony?

A. Yes, | will. VWhen we were here | ast June,

our cost proposal was based on a 630 megawatt

nom nal unit. Since that time because of the exit

of the two participants, we have prepared cost

estimates for a 580 megawatt unit and a 500

megawatt unit. | believe that Otter Tail and MDU

use the 500 megawatt numbers in their modeling.

The 500 is a nore conservative or nore costly on a

per megawatt basis.

My testimony relates that the efficiency

of these units in this size is the same, so we are

not giving up any efficiency by |ooking at a
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smal |l er-sized unit, and the em ssions rates, the
pounds per megawatt-hour, will be unaffected. Of
course, there will be I ess em ssions -- total
em ssions for a smaller unit than a | arge unit, but
the em ssion rate does not change.

Currently we expect commercial operation
in the fall of 2013. That assumes the current
permtting schedule, and, of course, the project
schedule is still subject to permtting del ays.
This is still beyond our control.

The cost estimate for the 500 megawatt
unit is 1.272 billion or just over $2500 per
kilowatt. That number was arrived at through a
number of cal cul ations, but the nost inmportant one
to note is we used an EPRI, Electric Power Research
Institute, formula for scaling of the cost fromthe
630 nmegawatt size down to the 580 and the 500.
That's a common i ndustry practice, and the EPR
formula is just verification that it is current and
accurate. And we still have the biggest, potentia
cost increase would be due to delays for the
proj ect.

In my testinony | do make a brief coment
on the concern for escalating costs for power plant

construction. There's a lot of testinmny on both
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si des about this phenomena, but we all have to
remember that this is in effect a function of our
i ndustry because of the pool, because of | oad
sharing, resource sharing. W basically do
everything we can possible to defer the
construction of new facilities, and what this tends
to lead to is that everyone needs facilities at the
same time. So the conpetition for |abor and
materials, whether it's to build Big Stone or
natural gas-fired units or wi nd generation, all of
it tends to come at the same time. So some of the
concern for escalating cost is the nature of our
busi ness with peaks and valleys by deferring
construction. We can't build a plant when it's the
most i nexpensive to build. W have to build it
when it's truly needed.

And, finally, on nmy testimony | briefly
touch on the mercury control issue that was asked
of M. Uggerud. The plans and cost estimtes that
have been used include both capital and O&M costs
for mercury control that we believe will meet or
exceed any of the potential future standards.

And that concludes my summary.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you, M. Rolfes. W

woul d tender Mr. Rolfes for exam nati on.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1013
JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?
MS. LA SEUR: We have no questions for
this witness.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.
MR. BI NEK: | just have a few questions.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:

Q When | read M. Schlissel's testimny, he
was critical of your cost estimtes and questi oned
whet her your cost estimtes were current or out of
dat e. Is Mr. Schlissel's criticismprimarily your
estimate that the cost -- of the cost escal ati on of

the six percent per year?

A. | think that's probably a fair
characterization, but | guess he would have to
el aborate on that. | think that's probably the

easiest to take exception to, is the escal ation
rate that we used. However, from the information
we have, from monitoring other projects, from
| ooki ng at things that can easily be quantified,
and that's conmmdities, we believe the six percent
escal ation rate is very valid for what we are
seeing in the industry at this time.

Q You nmention | abor as one of the costs you

t hi nk may noder at e. | s | abor cost the primary
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factor that you think will keep costs within the
Si X percent escal ation rate range?

A Labor is probably the primary, but there
are others. | mentioned comuodities, and so far
the commodities, steel, pipe, wire, those things
have been running under our escalation. W were
usi ng eight percent rate for conmmodities. We talk
about a six percent for the overall project and
that's made up of a number of components, but our
estimates used eight percent for comodities. For
the |l ast couple years they have been running closer
to six percent.

Labor is also the one that | think wl
potentially nmoderate. Labor is very much tied to
ot her projects and the econony, and as the econony
wor sens, the | abor situation probably improves for
t he project.

So | think the purchased equi pment is nore
of a worldwi de phenomena and will somewhat follow
the trends in the world economy, but we still see
hi gh, robust demand for that equi pment but nothing
changing since this project was first estimated in
2006.

Q You state that the six percent escal ation

rate is the rate for the entire project and that
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escal ation rate for commodities in the Black &
Veatch analysis is eight percent, and then you go
on to say that six of the eight compbdities have
been bel ow ei ght percent for the time period of
March 2006 through February 2008, and the only two
t hat are above, one at 9.44 percent and the other
at 13.67 percent. What comodity has the 13.6
percent rate and which one is at 9.44 percent?

A. | believe the 13 percent escalation is
nickel, and that nunber has been slowly com ng down
in the last two years, and the one that's at nine,
| believe, is copper, and copper has been somewhat
volatile, but it has also been trending down from
t he high escalations that it saw in 2006

Q What percentage of the overall comodity
cost is represented by each of these two
commodities and what is the percentage of each, if

you can tell me?

A " m sorry, | can't.
Q Okay. I n your testimony regarding mercury
control equipment, you believe that that -- that

the mercury em ssion controls plan for both units
will satisfy the federal requirements; is that
correct?

A. Yes, we do. The project has made a
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comm tment -- | should maybe step back. In the
original technol ogy selection for the unit we
pi cked a bank house and a wet scrubber, and this is
the very best known technol ogy today or equi pnment
today to facilitate mercury renmoval . It's a better
combi nation than dry scrubbers or electrostatic
precipitators. So that alone gives us an advant age
over nost other units, but we have commtted to
install the technology that we believe will remove
90 percent of the mercury, which we feel is going
to nmeet any possi ble maxi num achi evabl e contr ol
technol ogy standard out there. So we're very
confortable that we have a good handle on mercury
control.

Q Now, 1'd like to refer you to page two of
your rebuttal testinony and | ooking at your answer
on lines 12 through 15. The question there at |ine
10 is: "Have you made any additional estimates for
the capital cost of a 500 megawatt pul verized coa
pl ant since you submtted testinony on March 10,
2008?" And my question is: From t he answer that
you've given, | assume you have not priced specific
conponents for the downsized version of Big Stone
1.

A. That's correct.
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Q When will you determ ne the prices and
availability of these conponents?

A. The first critical decision is what size
t he eventual plant will be. As M. Uggerud
testified, we are investigating the possibility and
tal king to potential partners, and that will --

t hose di scussions and the other permtting wil
determ ne whether we build -- move forward with a
500 megawatt plant, a 520, or 580 megawatt pl ant.
So we have to know the size before we can get
specific quotes on the actual equipnment.

Q What will happen if the prices are
significantly higher than would be expected from
the EPRI formula?

A. To begin with, we don't think they will
be, but if they are, it comes back to a business
decision that, you know, is this still a prudent
project if the prices are not in within what we
expect themto be.

Q s the contingency factor still set at

13.5 percent?

A. That's correct.
Q s this still appropriate?
A. Just a little bit of background, when we

began the project with Black & Veatch in the
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original cost estimate, they used what | believe is
their standard practice of 10 percent. As we nove
forward in the volatile arena that we are, we
increase it to 13-and-a-half percent as anot her
contingency or conservative assunption, and we
continue to use that 13-and-a-half percent
contingency in our estimtes.

MR. Bl NEK: Okay. | have no further
guesti ons.
JUDGE WAHL: Any questions fromthe
Comm ssioners? Conmm ssioner Wefal d.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q M. Schlissel in his testimony |listed a
number of coal plants that have been cancel ed. I
understand from your testimny that there are quite
a number of coal plants that are being built around
t he worl d. Does the fact that a nunmber of coal
pl ants have been canceled in the United States --
will that -- will that help the cost of this
particular plant? WII| perhaps equi pment costs or
| abor costs be | ess because of fewer plants being
built in the United States if this one goes
forward?

A. There still are a | arge number of coal -
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fired plants that are being planned and in the
pi peline in the United States. Yes, there have
been a number of them cancel ed, but there are still
an awful | ot of them that are being planned. So it
somewhat will depend upon if there is additional
changes and if those plants are in this vicinity, |
mean, what area are we conpeting for | abor. So it
may | mprove our | abor situation, but we have not
taken -- we've kept the original conservative

esti mat es and have not assumed that we can do

better because of those, and there are still many,
many coal -fired units still moving forward in this
country.

Q Are you the person who we're supposed to

ask questions about the cost of bonds, et cetera,
or is that another witness later in the
presentations?
A. |'mafraid | don't have any information on

the cost of financing.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Al'l right. Thank
you.

JUDGE WAHL: Any other questions fromthe

Comm ssion? Comm ssioner Clark.
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EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q s -- are the -- are the project
participants still in the process of seeking other
utilities who may wish to conme into Big Stone?

A We are still in discussions with other
interested parties. W're not -- the other owners
are not out seeking additional interested parties.
We have a nunber of parties that we have ongoing
di scussions with.

Q Okay. W th regard to this question of
some coal plants around the country that have been
scrapped, is it your understanding that the reason
t hat those have been pulled off -- well, let me ask
this: Why have they been put off? 1Is it something
with the technology or is it fear of Washington,

D. C., and what may happen there, is it something
el se?

A Well, to begin with, all | can do is give
you my opi nion.

Q Ri ght . | f you | ook back a year
year - and-a- half ago, there were |I think 150
projects -- coal projects being proposed, and to
begin with, | don't think anybody thought they were

all going to beconme successful. So some have just
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t he normal progression.

| think some utilities are becom ng nore

conservative and seei

know, if you're in a
judgment, that m ght
for Otter Tail, MDU,

t hey need this power.
to defer. Some of
what happens i n WaAshi
[ uxury of waiting,

still a nunber of

COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

JUDGE WAHL:

t hem may be conservative,

you probably will

them t hat

ng if they can wait -- you
position where you can defer a
be the thing to do. | believe

and the other partners, that

They don't have the option

seei ng

ngton, and if you have the

but there are

are going forward?
Thanks.

Any further questions from

the Comm ssion? M. Guerrero, followup?

MR. GUERRERO: No, thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur, anything
further?

MS. LA SEUR: No, thank you

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you very much, M.
Rol f es. M . Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO: Now we're noving. We would
call, Your Honor, M. Bryan Morl ock.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Morlock, | recall that
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you testified for the previous hearings for this
matter, and | have personal know edge that you are
advi sed and informed regarding perjury, and
accordingly, M. Morlock, you understand, of
course, that your testinony continues under oath
and subject to penalties of perjury.

THE W TNESS: Yes, | do.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.
BRYAN MORL OCK,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified further as follows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q Thank you. Pl ease state your nane.
A. Bryan Morl ock, M-o-r-1|-o0-c-k.
Q By whom are you enployed and in what

capacity?

A. OCter Tail Power Conpany. | am j ust
currently transitioning from manager of resource
pl anning to planning consultant at Otter Tail
Power .

Q How | ong have you been in resource
pl anning for Otter Tail?

A. Since 1986.

Q And did you have an occasion to prepare
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prefiled witten testimony and exhibits in this

case”?
A. Yes, | did.
Q Do you have those before you, M. Morlock?

A. That | do. Exhi bits 117 and 122.

Q Exhi bit 117 -- OTP Exhibit 117 al so has
exhibits attached to that, | believe, 117A -- oh,
excuse me. That's your summary. Do you have t hat
in front of you?

A Yes, | do.

Q Exhi bit 118, that's an exhibit?

A. Yes, | have that.

Q Okay. And what is 1187

A. 118 is a table that shows the summary of
t he resource planning modeling results of all the
participants in the Big Stone project.

Q Okay. And 122 is your April 23rd rebuttal
testinony?

A. Yes, it is.

Q And if | asked you the same questions that
are set forth in OTP 117 and 122, would your
answers be the same?

A. Yes, they woul d. However, | would like to
stri ke one question and answer in OTP Exhibit 122.

Q Okay. Why don't we go there, M. Morl ock,
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and tell people where you're at.

A Ri ght away on page number one, on |ines
eight three ten my prefiled rebuttal testinmny went
out with a blank there after OTP exhibit nunbers.
Those can -- that question and answer can just be
struck because those exhibit nunmbers are identified
in nmy prefiled witten testinony that was submtted
on March 10t h. So it's really unnecessary.

Q Okay. Any other corrections that you'd
like to make to your testimny, M. Morlock?

A. None that |'m aware of.

MR. GUERRERO:. Your Honor, we would offer
OorTP 117, 118, 117A, and 122.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. BI NEK: No objection

JUDGE WAHL: Exhi bits OTP 117, 117A, 118,
and 122 are each received.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) Pl ease provide
a brief summary of your testimny, M. Morlock.

A Yes, | will. As a result of a number of
factors, including the change in the participants

in the project, we conducted updated anal ysi s.
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Based on the change in participants, which as M.
Rol fes testified, had some effect on the changes in
t he plant size, the options, the cost, and the
in-service date of the project.

Since our earlier analysis, the State of
M nnesota had al so passed a couple of statutes.

One was increasing the amount of renewabl es
required in the State of M nnesota. The second one
was approving a very aggressive energy conservation
goal. Those were incorporated in the new anal ysis.
We al so had available to us an updated | ong-range

| oad forecast devel oped by a regulatory services
depart nment. That was included in the nodel. And
then to the extent we had information on updated
alternative costs, those were rolled into the
model , as wel | .

We then used the |IRP-Manager nodel to
devel op an optim zed plan just as before, and that
optim zed plan is one component of the whole
process of taking a | ook at Big Stone Il and
devel oping a resource plan.

In response to the Dakota Resource Counci l
and M. Schlissel, M. Schlissel has criticized the
| RP- Manager model as being obsolete, and from an

i nput / out put perspective | whol eheartedly agree.
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It is not Excel conpatible. In just some work |
did this week | had to input about 1200 val ues by
hand rather than being able to cut and paste those
in.

The key component, the analysis nmodul e,
the financial module, the core conponents of that
model are still valid and are in use in another
model known as EnerPrise currently avail able on the
mar ket. The model is valid. lt's difficult to
use, but it still provides good results. W did
both the modeling with the | RP-Manager, and M.
Greig also provided the Big Stone participants with
sonme | evelized cost analyses, and so forth, as part
of his work.

Thr oughout our nodeling we've used very
conservative val ues. M. Rolfes has just testified
that the project costs include a 13-and-a-half
percent contingency margin. W included sonme
sensitivity analyses that | ooked at a 10 percent
cost increase, as well as a 10 percent increase in
t hat contingency result. W updated fuel costs for
Big Stone Il project, and in the M nnesota docket
we took a |l ook at the inpact of carbon and the high
externality values that are required in the State

of M nnesota and the inmpact on those.
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The conclusion is over time the dockets in
M nnesota and North Dakota have been going on for
over two years, and in all the analyses we've done,
all the runs, taking a |look at all these different
vari abl es, the one thing that has been consi stent
in all of themis Big Stone Il project has been a
conponent of the results com ng out of the nodeling
and the pl anning.

M. Deason asked us for some
clarifications about a number of things, including
the wind federal PTC in the inpact. Our anal ysis
concluded the PTC being avail able through the year
2013, which means any wi nd plant put -- that became
operational before January 1, 2014, would include
t he federal production tax credit.

We chose that date, nunber one, because it
canme after the in-service date of Big Stone ||
Number two, AWEA was very confident -- the American
W nd Energy Association -- at that of the
possibility of a five-year extension but possibly
not hing after that or something that would be
drastically different. W also touched base with
some of our legislative staff, from our
Congressmen, North Dakota, M nnesota, and touched

base with themto see what their inpressions were
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at the tinme.

We used capital cost assunptions. M.
Deason asked for an explanation of differences
bet ween the capital costs MDU used and Otter Tail
used. I n our resource plan analysis we actually
gave the nmodel for conbined cycle gas turbine
facilities that it could evaluate. W chose four
because they use different sizes, fromroughly 50
megawatts up to 145 megawatts, approxi mately,
wi nter rating.

Some of them had more efficient
technol ogi es incorporated, some |ess efficient
technol ogi es, but we let the nmodel pick which it
felt would be the appropriate m x.

M . Deason asked whether or not we had
i ncluded consideration of AFUDC in the model .
| RP- Manager is a very sophisticated financi al
model . In fact, we used to use it for financial
pl anni ng analysis at Otter Tail up through much of
the Nineties. W now have a separate financia
model tool, but it does all those cal cul ati ons
internally. It calculates all the interest during
construction; it calculates the tax impact; flows
all those through the income statements, the

bal ance sheets, the whole works. So one great
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benefit of | RP-Manager is we don't have to make
t hose cal cul ati ons externally. The model will do
t hose.

In conclusion, the modeling results showed
that Otter Tail could use up to 170 megawatts of
the Big Stone Il project and the associ ated energy,
and that's in combination with complying with the
M nnesota renewabl es requirements, the North Dakot a
and Sout h Dakota renewabl e energy objectivity,
compliance with the aggressive M nnesota
conservation goal, as well as incorporating
conservation efforts in North Dakota and South
Dakota service territories.

In general, we took a | ook at the 500
megawatt size of Big Stone Il as the worst case
anal ysis, and the nodel continued to show that that
was the econom c thing to do, and so we did not do
a 580 nmegawatt anal ysis. Ri ght now total basel oad
need of all the five Big Stone |1l project
participants is in the range of 516 to 556
megawatts.

And that concludes my summary.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you, M. Morl ock.
Before | tender him for exam nation, just as a --

this is probably obvious, but this would be the
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wi tness to ask questions about the Otter Tail
resource plan, how many megawatts of coal, how many
megawatts of wind, et cetera, conservation. W'd
tender M. Morl ock.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. LA SEUR

Q Good afternoon, M. Morl ock.

A. Good afternoon.

Q Let's see. Just since you've already
given some initial testinony regarding the
| RP- Manager nodel, to be clear, is it your
testinony that | RP-Manager is adequate for
determ ni ng whet her participation in Big Stone 11

is prudent?

A. Yes, it Is nmy testinmony.

Q And are you able to name any ot her
utilities that still use this modeling software?

A. No, | can't, but | haven't gone out and

surveyed to find out whether or not anybody is.

Q Turn to pages two and three of your
suppl emental direct testimny, and |I'm | ooking
specifically for the discussion of the proposed
Thar al dson Et hanol pl ant.

MR. GUERRERO: That's Exhibit 1177?
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MS. LA SEUR: Yes.
MR. GUERREROC: Page three?

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Yeah. Begi nni ng
on page two with the very |ast sentence -- well,
taking into account the full response to the
guestion at lines 22 and 23 on page two, the
di scussion of the Tharaldson plant. Wth regard to
your testinony about the proposed Tharal dson
Et hanol project, has OTP explored any form of
co-generation or combined heat and power system as
an alternative form of generation at the site?

A. Coul d you repeat the question, please?

Q Yes. Wth regard to the Tharal dson
project has OTP explored any form of co-generation
or combi ned heat and power system as an alternative
form of generation at the site?

A. At that site specifically, no. In the
past we have taken a | ook at doing such with other
et hanol plants, one on the southern part of our
systemthat is currently under discussion. It
woul d I'i kely not be a good, suitable site for
natural gas-fired co-generation facilities because
there's really not much available in that site for
natural gas. So then we'd be tal king about a coal -

fired facility.
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There is such a facility under

construction in North Dakota, but the electrical

out put that's being proposed by that type of
facility is far bel ow what we're | ooking at for

out put fromthe Big Stone Il project, just even
Otter Tail's share.

Q And has OTP performed any anal ysis of the

potential energy savings that m ght be realized

t hrough a co-generation alternative for Tharal dson?

A. "' m not sure what you mean by "energy
savi ngs."
Q Well, let me put it to you this way and

"1l get back to that question again: Does the 22
megawatt estimate for the Tharal dson plant take
into account, for exanple, line loss from South
Dakota if that is indeed a proposed source of power
generation for Tharal dson?

A. Well, the power will come from wherever,
t he whole m x of resource not just --

Q Free-range el ectrons, right. | know.

A Yeah. It will come fromall of our
resources. We have not even evaluated that at a
| evel of 22 megawatts. It was only included at a
| evel of 14. Have we | ooked in specific detail at

that? No, we have not. Not with this project. We
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are already supplying steamto one et hanol plant
of f one of our facilities. W have worked with
Otter Tail Ag -- or Otter Ag Enterprises, another
et hanol plant. Just started operation outside
Fergus Falls, taken a | ook at providing them steam
as well, versus using natural gas and running on
t heir own. It takes two to tango, and someti mes
t hey deci de no because they want to do their own
t hi ng.

Q In the big picture has there been any
system | evel analysis of what kinds of efficiencies
or demand reduction could be achieved through
aggressively pursuing co-generation at biofuels
facilities?

A. It's a catch-twenty -- it's nmuch nore
conplicated than that, and I'll use the exanple of
the one we've | ooked at in detail within ny area,
which is one in southern M nnesota where actually
as part of the project an I PP would build a
co-generation facility that would provide the steam
necessary for the ethanol plant and Otter Tail
Power woul d take the electricity fromthe facility.

The thermal demand drives the operation of
the facility, and for us to participate in that

facility meant we would have had to take power 24
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hours a day off almst 100 megawatts of sinple
cycle combustion turbines whether or not it was
economc in order to make that project viable.

That woul d have severe negative inmpacts on the rest
of the system and our other generation when we're
backi ng down cheaper generation because such a
facility would have to run at full load all the
time in order to supply the demands of the ethanol
pl ant .

Q So understanding that there are chall enges
i nvolved in any given project, has there been any
system c approach, strategic approach to pursuing
co-generation more aggressively for biofuels
facilities?

A | thought 1'd already answered it. W
have dealt with a number of ethanol plants in their
anal ysis process. Sonme of them such as
Thar al dson, hit the track running, and they're
going to be on line within 14 nonths, 15 nonths
fromthe date we hear about it. There is no time
in those situations to say -- to take a | ook at
t hat project specifically, but we have been
involved in nore than a handful of these proposals
up front where we take a | ook at them and, yes, we

have one that has worked because they | ocated at
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our site, but a lot of times they may choose a site
t hat just does not work or they have other issues
t hat they want to deal with.

So, yes, we have taken a | ook at these, we
have some experience in that area, but you cannot
say bl anket, yes, it's a good deal, no, it's a good

deal, because al nost every situation i s unique.

Q Okay. Let me take one more run at this.
A. Okay.
Q We're tal king about modeling alternatives.

We're tal king about the future, not what's been
done in the past --

A. Yes.

Q -- but strategic approaches, ways of doing
busi ness that m ght have some inmpact on the overall
| oad growth or the overall ability to manage demand
on a going-forward basis. Has there been any
strategi c approach considered to expandi ng
co-generation as a way to slow |load growth or to
manage demand?

MR. GUERREROC: ' m going to object. It's
been asked and answer ed.

JUDGE WAHL: It really hasn't. The key
word is "strategic," | think. The objection is

overrul ed.
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THE W TNESS: What | am struggling with
here is your question about doing these in order to
control demand. As an electric utility with an
obligation froma liability perspective, it doesn't

matter where the power to serve that load is com ng

from It is still a load, it is still an
obligation, and it's something we still have to
carry reserves on. It does not matter whether it's

at the site or whether it's at Big Stone I1I.

Now, even if we did a co-generation
facility at the site, that facility can't run 100
percent of the time. So you still need all the
transm ssion investment to the site to bring in
power from outside, and that's why |I'm struggling
with your questi on.

You seem -- |'m hearing you relate it as
to some type of reducing demand and | oad growth,
but in reality on paper and our obligations to the
reliability council and to the power pool, it still
gets chal ked up on paper as our | oad.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Okay. Would you
acknow edge that if you generate electricity for a
| oad right next-door to the generation source, you
have an economy that exists because you are not

forced to transport that electricity over |lines?
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A. You may have some econony, but you are
al so going to lose significant econony. I f you
build a power plant to serve a 22 megawatt | oad,
you're going to suffer a substantial |oss of

economy of scale due to the small size of the

1037

facility. So it's not just a question -- yes, you

can probably save five percent or something of

| osses on the transm ssion side, but you're going

to incur significant other costs el sewhere with
such a project.

And to get to your question, each one of

those is going to be site specific because of the

transm ssion characteristics. So from a total
perspective, |ooking at a generic thing, no, we
haven't, but we have | ooked at a number of very
site-specific situations.

Q Woul d you acknowl edge that some of the

nation's | argest biofuels facilities have gone to

co-generation as a way to prop up the margina
econom cs of these facilities?

MR. GUERREROC: | guess I'm going to
obj ect. Facts not in evidence, calls for
specul ation.

MS. LA SEUR: | "' m asking if he knows.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed. | agree. The
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gquestion is, does he know.

THE W TNESS: ' m aware of an et hanol
plant at Little Falls, M nnesota, that is gasifying
waste to provide synthetic gas for some of their
processes. | don't know that they are generating
electricity there.

We have worked with the new et hanol plant
right there in Fergus Falls on -- they haven't done
it yet and they may not do it, but we've worked
with them on a research project and AURI, which is
an agricultural research facility, on using some of
their waste byproducts to create synthetic gas and
generate electricity onsite. We even ran a pil ot
project right there at Fergus Falls.

| don't have -- | can't cite a whole
litany of plants that | know it's happeni ng, but at
our Big Stone Plant we're providing steam right
there to an et hanol plant. So, yes, | knowit's
happeni ng and | know of a couple instances where
it's taking place.

Q And has OTP done any due diligence on the
viability of the Tharal dson proposal ?

A What proposal ?

Q The proposal for an ethanol plant.

A. If | understand your question right, |
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don't know that it's up to Otter Tail to decide
whet her or not Tharal dson builds an ethanol plant.

Q But when Otter Tail is asked to provide
electricity for a certain new | oad and includes the
fact of that projected |oad as part of its
application to this Comm ssion, does OTP then do
any due diligence as to whether that load will, in
fact, materialize?

A. The | oad that's under construction will be
operational by October 1st of this year.

Q So your original testimny was --

A They -- they had already broken ground

bef ore we even found out it was going to be an

Oter Tail | oad.
Q Okay. And turning to page five, lines 11
t hrough 12, where you say that Otter Tail is

expecting to inplement more North Dakota
conservation programs in the future, are these
programs that you're able to name?

A Off the top of nmy head, we have not | ooked
at specific programs in the North Dakota service
territory, but we have been running programs for
many years in Mnnesota. W used to run prograns
in North Dakot a. We have been working with the

Sout h Dakota Comm ssion for over a year to
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i mpl ement progranms in South Dakot a.

I n di scussions with Kim Pederson, our
manager of the market planning area that handl es
our conservation efforts, it is our expectation
that in the near future we will be approaching the
Comm ssion to implement specific conservation
programs again in the State of North Dakot a.

Q. So is this a firmcommtment to

i mpl ementing certain prograns or is this a general

hope that this will happen?

A. Well, any time you do anything with a
retail customer, it's subject to Comm ssion
jurisdiction. So it's going to be -- have to be

combi ned with participation of the Comm ssion and

t he Comm ssion staff. It's not something Otter

Tail can just arbitrarily do on its own since it
involves either rebates to the custonmer or charging
the customer some noney.

Typically, we have been criticized in the
past for not going through the Comm ssion in other
st ates. So we will work with the Comm ssion. So
it's not a commtnment | can make until we've
actually had discussions with the Conm ssion.

Q And is OTP planning to submt a proposal

to this Comm ssion or would the Comm ssion have to
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request a proposal as to specific programs?

A. | don't know that | could answer that.

That would fall within sonmebody else's area of
pl anni ng.

Q Getting back to your testinmony at pages
five and six, and I'm |l ook now at the testinony
fromlines 22 and 23 at page five, turning over
onto page six, discussion of modeling energy
efficiency gains. To make sure | understand, .5
percent of annual retail sales in kilowatt-hour
savi ngs are what you believe you m ght be able to
achieve in North Dakota if you were to inmplement
t hese programs that you have not yet identified?

A. | wouldn't characterize it that way. I
woul d characterize it as based off a short estimte
of what m ght take pl ace. It's an estimte of what
m ght be a result of progranms that we file with the
North Dakota Conmm ssion based on our experience in
our service territory in Mnnesota.

To say whether that's an optim zed amount
or that's a maxi mnum we coul d expect, | can't say
t hat because while we have done a DSM potenti al
study across our entire system it's now a number
of years old, but it's -- there are a | ot of

factors that go into what custoners will choose to
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participate in and what they won't. lt's just
based on what we have experienced in M nnesota with
t he conservation prograns we've inplemented there.

Q And is OTP making a firmcomm tment to
this .5 percent reduction or is this again
specul ative?

A. This is again just an estimate based on
what our manager of market planning thought m ght
t ake place if we do conparable to what we're
wor king on with the State of South Dakot a.

Q In this same testinmony you say that OTP
has historically achieved energy efficiency savings
of .6 to .7 percent of annual M nnesota
kil owatt-hour sales; correct?

A Yes.

Q But you specul ated that only .5 percent
reduction can be achieved in North Dakota?

A. Al'l of the -- not all of the conservation
savings in Mnnesota are cost effective. Some are
mandat ed as | ow-income prograns. There's no
consi deration for cost effectiveness. So if you
t ake those out of the m x and you | ook at what
we're doing that's cost effective, you're nmuch
closer to that .5 percent than you are to .6.

Q Have you submtted any data to support
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this conclusion in this docket?

A. | have not, no.

Q And you believe that North Dakotans cannot
achieve the 1.5 percent savings that M nnesotans
are going to get under their new plan?

A. My inpression is right now we are
struggling mghtily with trying to figure out how
we are going to do it in Mnnesota. There's a
great deal of concern and di scussion going on as to
how we are even going to be able to accomplish the
one- and-a-half percent in M nnesota, and nost
peopl e involved in that think we're going to have
trouble getting to one-and-a-half percent in
M nnesota, and that includes the fact that in
M nnesota only one percent needs to actually come
from customer conservati on.

The other half percent can come from
system i mprovenents, voltage conversions,
reconductoring lines, whatever you can do to reduce
| osses on the system and there's still a great
deal of concern whether or not we can neet the
one- and-a-half percent in M nnesota, but | can't
say, no, we can't make it in North Dakota, but it's
a matter of what's going to be economc, and | have

not been involved in the detail ed analysis of what
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we're | ooking at to conmply with that new M nnesota

| aw.

Q Okay. | " m going to refer you to
| ntervenor's Exhibit 17. It's the NERC | ong-term
reliability assessnment. | m ght need to hand it to
you.

MR. GUERRERO: Do you have a copy for him?

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTINU NG) And if you would
turn to -- well, let me ask you first: Are you
famliar with this report that M. Uggerud relied
on in preparing his testimny?

A. | don't believe |I've read this specific
one, but I amfamliar with the NERC assessnment
since resource planning over the years has been
responsi ble for supplying data to MAPP, the MRO,
and to M SO, which then after being processed by
comm ttees gets moved up to the NERC | evel

Q So you -- do you consider this a reliable
source of information?

A | don't know that |1'd use the word
"reliable source.” It is a source of information,
but it is a very high level, very grainy |ook
because of the process you go through to get
t hrough i ssues people deal with locally up to a

nati onal | evel.
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Q Okay. | " m going to direct you to page 65,
and this is excerpted, so you'll have to page
t hrough to find 65. When you've got it, 1I'd direct

you to the third paragraph that begins, "The FERC

suggests.”
A. Yes.
Q Okay. And woul d you please read into the

record the statement at the third paragraph by the
Federal Energy Regul atory Comm ssion quoted in this
NERC report beginning with "the potential"?

A "The potential immediate reduction in peak
electric demand that could be achieved from
exi sting demand resources i s between three and
seven percent of peak demand in most regions. This
represents a significant resource for neeting
demand. Expandi ng the penetration of these
programs or designing new ones may result in an
even greater resource inpact."”

Q And do you consi der demand resources a
part of the ongoing strategy for managi ng | oad
growth within OTP's systen?

A We' ve actually been involved with it since
the 1940s. The MAPP region, of which Otter Tail is
a menber, has been one of the most forward areas in

the country in terms of demand resource. W have
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procedures for accrediting it in the power pool and
counting it toward your demand reduction. W' ve
been a | eader. We have significant amount of
megawatts of demand side resources that have
al ready been inplenmented within the MAPP power
pool .

Q And do you see potential for increasing
t hose resources?

A. | see limted potential. On the Otter
Tail system we already have sufficient capability
where we can flatten our |oad curve for 16 hours
over the wi nter peak, and that -- we are at the
poi nt where that causes operational problens
because you need at some point to reestablish these
| oads, and we are able to control so well, we can't
find hours to bring some of these | oads back on
wi t hout the risk of setting a new peak in the
m ddl e of the night that we therefore have to add
capacity for.

Q Let's turn to natural gas. Would you
acknowl edge that natural gas-fired electrical
generation capacity in North Dakota is currently a
tiny fraction of the national average?

A If you're talking the physical |ocation of

natural gas-fired facilities, yes, | would agree
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with that.

Q And so you would make some sort of
stipulation as to natural gas |ocated el sewhere but
used on the North Dakota systenf

A. Both the natural gas and electric
infrastructures are regional systenms. They are not
t he state-border-by-state-border system The
energy we serve our North Dakota customers comes
fromfacilities we have located in M nnesota, South
Dakota, and North Dakota. W have our natural gas-
fired facilities |located in M nnesota, but it is

used to meet North Dakota | oad.

Q Well, you point out electrons go where
they will, but if the electrons produced in North
Dakota are 94 percent coal-fired, that will tend to

be what serves the North Dakota |oad, isn't it?

A. From a purely physical -- or physics
perspective, yes. From a ratemaki ng cost
perspective, no. That's a total different --
that's an all ocation methodol ogy that doesn't
necessarily follow the electrons from plant to the
met er .

Q So North Dakotans m ght, in fact, wi nd up
payi ng for nore expensive natural gas generation

produced out of state in spite of the fact that the
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generation actually produced in state would be in a
very high proportion coal-fired?

A. The custonmers of Otter Tail Power are
served by the resources of Otter Tail Power and the
spot mar ket energy and the firm power we buy off
t he market. So it's -- just because Basin Electric
or somebody el se has coal-fired generation in North

Dakota, that doesn't give us the right to use it

and bill our customers accordingly unless they sell
it to us.
Q Let's see. |'d Iike to distribute

applicant's response to intervenor's data request
nunber 34. Okay. You were the author of this

response to data request; right, M. Morlock?

A Yes, | am

Q And this is applicant's response to data
request nunmber 34. |'d Ilike to mark it as
| ntervenor's Exhibit No. -- are we up to 21 since
we're still discussing the settlement agreement?

JUDGE WAHL: That's ny number.

MS. LA SEUR: Okay. And I1'd like to offer
this as Exhibit 21.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO:. We don't have any

obj ecti on.
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JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?
MR. BI NEK: | have no objection, but what
is the number of the exhibit?
JUDGE WAHL: | 21. | 21 is received.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTINUING) And in this
response, M. Morlock, you state that because of
M nnesota | aw requiring the consideration of
environmental costs, and |I think your phrase is --
this is the |last sentence of the first page of the
response, Exhibit 21, as a result of M nnesota's
use of environmental costs or externality val ues,
you say in the |ast sentence, "there is a high
degree of probability that in the future Otter Tail
wi Il have resources that are fully allocated to
only one jurisdiction.” 1s that your testimny?

A Yes.

Q Woul d that jurisdiction be one of the
Dakotas or one -- North Dakota specifically?

A It could be M nnesota, it could be North
Dakot a and Sout h Dakot a.

Q So resources that would meet M nnesota's
goals for renewabl e energy, for exanple, m ght be
all ocated to that jurisdiction?

A. |f through the use of environment al

externalities and a carbon cost regul atory adder
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M nnesota says you should build this unit and under
North Dakota | aw we evaluate it w thout carbon
costs and wi thout externalities and it is not an
econom c resource, it would be up to the North
Dakota Comm ssion to deci de, yes, you can go ahead
and use that resource to serve North Dakota | oad,
or no, depending on how they interpret the statute,
but it's quite possible we could get ordered or
required to build something in the State of
M nnesota that the State of North Dakota woul d not
allow to be used to serve North Dakota ratepayers,
and the vice versa is true. It could be that
M nnesota will not allow us to build the most
econom c resource because it's only economc if you
don't use all these other adders, yet North Dakota
m ght say, yes, that is the proper thing to do.

Q Okay. So in the scenario that certain
renewabl e energy resources on the system have been
all ocated to M nnesota because of state |aw, would
that then result in nore fossil fuel generation
being allocated to serve the North Dakota | oad?

A. | don't know that | would agree with that.
We are transitioning to the Strategist model and
actually breaking the Otter Tail system down into

two systens within the nmodel. So it will
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si mul taneously develop a resource plan that works
for North Dakota and South Dakota as well as a
resource plan that works for M nnesota with the
renewabl e energy requirements with the requirements
for the use or non-use of environment al
externalities, and it will develop a resource plan
for the two jurisdictions.

Where those two mesh or overlap, we can
continue to have resources that will be used
systemwi de to serve all customers, not just one
jurisdiction, but in those cases where it selects
the resource only in M nnesota and not the Dakot as,
then we are facing the issue where it can only be
used in that jurisdiction, but that does not
necessarily mean that all the other resources that
are out there used to serve the joint system are
suddenly somehow going to change and be
real l ocated, if that's what you're saying.

Q No. MWhat |'m getting at and what |I'm
concerned about is that | wonder if it's possible
due to this jurisdictional allocation that carbon
costs that M nnesota has rejected could be
allocated to North Dakota ratepayers.

A. Only if that energy is used to serve North

Dakota ratepayers. If you don't use it to
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generate, you aren't going to incur any carbon
costs. So it has to go to serve some | oad before
you're going to incur carbon costs, and if it is
used to serve North Dakota |oad, then that's part
of the costs of serving North Dakota | oad, but just
arbitrarily having a resource dedicated to

M nnesota isn't suddenly going to shift other costs

to North Dakota that -- from energy that wasn't
used to serve North Dakot a. It's all cost-based.
Q So there are scenarios, possible, if I'm

under standi ng correctly, where North Dakota

rat epayers ri sk exposure not only to their pro rata
share of and carbon costs for this coal-fired
generation investment but also potentially to an

i ncreased allocation of coal-fired power on the OTP
system so that M nnesota's statutory requirements
can be met?

A No, that is incorrect. If we sell a
mllion kilowatt-hours in North Dakota, just
because now we have some resource that's dedicated
to M nnesota, that doesn't change the nunber of
kil owatt-hours in North Dakot a. The costs that get
al l ocated to North Dakota are the costs to devel op
that one mllion kilowatt-hours, nothing nore,

not hi ng | ess.
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There aren't some arbitrary costs over
there that get thrown out in M nnesota that
suddenly appear in North Dakota, because if you're
doi ng something else in M nnesota, that means, A,
either you aren't running the plant to provide that
and therefore you aren't incurring those costs; or
M SO directs it to be operated and it's going into
the M SO whol esal e market and the whol esal e mar ket
is paying the costs. It doesn't suddenly appear on
the North Dakota doorstep.

Q Let me ask this one other way and see if
this clarifies my question. Let's say for the sake
of argument that there are -- that there's a
hundred megawatt wi nd farm and a hundred megawatt
coal plant in North Dakota, the load in North
Dakota is a hundred megawatts -- let's see. ' m
having to invent this as | go. Let nme think about
this as | ask you a few nmore questions.

MS. LA SEUR: No. "1l pass. Your
wi t ness, M. Binek.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.
MR. BI NEK: Thank you
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:

Q I n your supplemental direct testimony you
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state that new | oad forecasts for Otter Tail have
i ncreased energy requirenments and that demand
forecasts have increased, and then you mentioned
t hat the Tharal dson Et hanol plant is one of the
| arge, new | oads. Have there been any other new
| oads of any particular significance?

A. Bet ween the time of our previous forecast
and this new forecast there were four very | arge
| oads that suddenly appeared and are com ng on the
system | ate 2007 and in 2008. In some of our prior
anal yses we had incorporated those four new, | arge
| oads on top of the previous |oad forecast. Those
are now i ncorporated into the new forecast. The
Thar al dson Enterprise's installation had not been.
Q Okay. On page 12 --
COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: \What page was that
previous question referring to?
MR. Bl NEK: I --
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: You don't know.
MR. Bl NEK: | didn't jot down the page
number .
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. Thank you.
MR. GUERREROC: Page t hree.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Page three. All

right. Thank you.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1055

Q (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG) Okay. In your
direct testimny, page 12, lines 1 through 3, your
model i ng showed that up to 170 megawatts at Big
Stone Il is the most econom c basel oad alternative.
Why is Otter Tail asking for only 120 to 130
megawatts at Big Stone |1?

A That's not a question | can respond to.
That was evidently something decided at the
executive |evel

Q Okay. | s there someone here who can give
us that answer?

MR. GUERRERO: M. Ugger ud.
THE W TNESS: | would presume M. Ugger ud.

Q (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG) You stated that in
the |l atest modeling the wind restriction was
removed and replaced by estimated transm ssion

costs of approximately $200 per Kkilowatt, |

bel i eve.
A Yes.
Q |'"'mreally confused by the testimony in

t his proceedi ng concerning transm ssion costs for
wi nd power. Sonme testimony tal ks about the
difficulty in estimating transm ssion costs and
consequently transm ssion costs aren't included in

t he cost of wi nd energy. Here you have -- you
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factored in transm ssion costs. What -- can you
expl ain what transm ssion costs you're factoring in
here, this $200 transm ssion cost? |Is that -- is
that fromthe wind facility to get the power onto
the grid or is it for updates to the transm ssion
system? What is it?

A It's a combination of things. "1l use
t he Langdon W nd Farm as an exanpl e. That project
included the need to construct some 115 kv
facilities, just as a matter of having sufficient
outl et capability fromthe wind farmto get the
power off the site. The second component of that
IS now you've got the transm ssion there to get it
off the site, but you may cause constraints
el sewhere on the system You've got the high
vol tage substation transformer that becones
over| oaded or you get another |line segnment that
beconmes overl oaded, and now you have to reconductor
it, that type of thing.

That is the situation I'mtrying to nodel

wi t hin | RP- Manager. The other situation that M.
Uggerud testified earlier regarding the Big Stone
Il project transm ssion and buil ding that
transm ssion wi thout the plant just to support w nd

generation where you're trying to build whole new
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hi gh-voltage 230, 345 facilities. Just to support
wi nd generation the cost per kilowatt is going to
be much higher.

Now, at Edgel ey and at Langdon and
hopefully other spots we can identify on our
system we've been able to add wi nd generation of
significant amounts without triggering that massive
230, 345 kv transm ssion construction, but we
aren't going to get off Scott free. We still have
some stuff at the |lower voltage |levels and some
constraints we have to make sure are taken care of,
and so | believe Langdon came in somewhere close to
t hat $200 kil owatt range, and that -- you know,
that was from-- fromthe perspective of the size
of that wind farm that was mniml transm ssion
i nvest ment.

MR. BI NEK: | have no further questions.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wefald.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q | heard a statenment recently at a
conference | attended that there's the possibility
t he production tax credit wouldn't be extended,
let's say, five years from now because if carbon --

if a carbon tax or cap and trade programis put in
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pl ace, that there would no | onger need to be a
production tax credit in place because wi nd would
conmpare favorably to other resources. Do you have
a comment on that?

A | have not heard that. Everything |'ve
seen has been couched in ternms of a federal
renewabl e portfolio standard. That if such a
standard is inplenented, then there really isn't
need for the federal PTC. | have not seen anything
about -- equivalent of the same effect being caused
by having a carbon tax or a cap and trade system

Q Okay. On -- then I"'minterested in the
nunmbers from Ward Uggerud that he presented this
morning orally in his report, and then | was asked,
if I had questions, to go over those with you. So
do you know those by heart or should |I go over
t hose agai n?

A. Comm ssioner, if you could ask me your
guestions again, |I'll answer the best | can.

Q Okay. He had said this norning that of
the new resources that are needed -- and | added up
his numbers and they came to 100 percent. Okay.

He said 14 percent would be from conservati on,
39 -- I"mgoing to ask you about these nunbers, so

if you want to write them down -- 39 percent from
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renewabl es.

A. Okay.

Q 14 percent from conservation, 39 percent
from renewabl es, 24 percent from natural gas, and
23 percent of new resources would come from coal.

A. Yes.

Q And when | asked him he said that

reflected plants from 2007 to 2022.

A 2020.
Q 2020.
A. Yes.
Q And this is nmy question that | had for him

t hi s norning: Is the 23 percent of new resources,
which are coal, does that reflect 123, 130, or 170
megawatts of coal ?

A. The 23 percent would be the 170 |evel.

Q 170 level. All right. So then when | did

some math, let's say that's approximtely 25

percent of new resources that are needed -- so are
you anticipating 680 megawatts of new -- 680 new
megawatts of capacity will be needed in the -- by
20207

A. Comm ssioner, | believe -- and |I'm going

off the top of my head here, but | believe that by

2020 the nunber is closer to 400 negawatts, and
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that includes within the plan the retirement of 145
megawatts of coal. Now, we have not made --

Q Okay. So just say that again slowly so |
can write that down.

A. The nunber is about 400 megawatts,
roughly, based on the summer peak through 2020.

Q And that's based on -- how do you get to
that then fromthe -- is it because -- if you said
t hat 23 percent of your new resources need to be
coal, then how do you get from 680 megawatts down
to 400 that are needed? Because that's 280
megawatts | ess.

A. "' m not sure how you got to the 600.

Q | f 23 percent of your new resources needed
are coal and that's 170 megawatts of capacity, |
did sinple math and nultiplied it by four. Did |
do the math wrong?

A. No, you did the math right. The
difference is the nameplate rating of w nd versus
the accredited rating of wind. W've --

Q Al'l right.

A Okay. The graph that you're seeing that
shows 39 percent renewable, this is based off the
namepl ate rating of w nd.

Q So that nameplate rating of wind is --
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t hat woul d be 40 percent of that total nunber, 680.

A. It's 200 -- if you go in the M nnesota
plan, | think it's 280 megawatts. If you go with
the North Dakota plan, it's 220 or 240 megawatts
namepl ate of wind. The 400 megawatt nunber | said
is the accredited capability that we need or the
reduced capability; and wi nd generally on our
system we can count about 20 percent of namepl ate
for the winter capacity and about 15 percent for
t he summer under the current MAPP rul es.

Q You have different nunbers for that, too,
as we've heard through this because sonmeti mes today
you've tal ked about 10 percent for MAPP or
what ever, but now you're saying 20.

A. Yes. Based on our experience, 15 percent
summer, 20 percent winter.

Q And so is the 130 megawatts -- let's say
the -- again, it was 24 percent of natural gas. So
t hat woul d be about 170 megawatts of natural gas
t hat woul d be needed then to supplement that?

A. | believe roughly that's right, yes.

Q And then the 14 percent of conservation,
is that demand only then when we're talking about
capacity, demand response? Because | know there's

a difference between energy conservation, which is
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energy, and demand response, which relates to
capacity, but 1'"'m not too far beyond that.

A Yes, Comm ssioner. In the model we
actually nmodel the energy conservation, the anount
of kilowatt-hours we need to conserve annually, but
that is applied to a curve that's based off the
esti mated conservati on savings we've gotten through
t he prograns we've been running. So that curve
then inside the nmodel devel ops an estimated demand
reduction as a result of the energy conservation,
and | think that 14 percent was pretty close,
including the reserve inmpacts to about 100
megawatts due to conservation by 2020.

Q And so does that conservation -- | just
need to ask that one nore time to help ne
under st and t hat. Does that reflect 100 megawatts

then of demand reduction?

A Yes. Demand and reserve requirements.
Q Demand and reserve requirements.
A Yes. So if you're carrying a 15 percent

reserve, it mght be about 88 megawatts of energy
reduction -- or demand reduction directly plus then
the 15 percent reserve margin would get you to
about 100 megawatts.

Q When you responded -- when Otter Tail
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responded to the request for information from
Dakota Resource Council regarding -- let's see. | t
was Exhibit No. -- the one that was asking
guesti ons about energy conservation, what number
was t hat?

JUDGE WAHL: 20. Exhi bit No. 20.
Q (COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) Number
20. Did they ask -- they didn't ask you about
demand response. They only asked about energy
conservation.
A. | believe there was one question about
demand response as a result of the NERC

publicati on.

MR. GUERRERO: | have it.
Q (COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTINUING) |I'm
referring to Intervenor's Exhibit No. 20. "Pl ease

state the anticipated cost per avoided kil owatt of
any energy efficiency program nodeled for Otter
Tail Power's North Dakota service area." So those
only related to energy conservation programs, isS
t hat the way you answered this, versus -- | know it
wasn't you. It was Kim Pederson, but since you're
in charge of integrated resource planning --

A Yes.

Q | f they had asked the question, please
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state the anticipated cost of any demand side
management program would you have been able to
answer that differently?

A. No, we woul d not, because as of yet we
have not | ooked at what specific prograns we m ght
i mpl ement in North Dakota. We certainly have cost
information for the prograns we've inplemented in
M nnesota, and what we're planning to do in South
Dakota we have estimated for that, but in our
model ing for the resource plan, all we did was put
in the conservation savings. W did not include
any costs for those since we do not know yet what
t hose specific progranms woul d be.

Q However, but this morning M. Uggerud
responded that we already have demand side
management programs in place in North Dakota. W
don't have as many energy conservation prograns,
but we have demand side management progranms in
pl ace in North Dakota, and he went through and
listed some of them Don't you know what the costs
are for those?

A. No, | don't. | work on analyzing future
resources. That's a resource that's been in place
for 25 years. So it's nodeled -- when we take the

| oad forecast that goes into the planning nmodel, we
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actually go through and we pre-manage the demand
forecast for the capability of the | oad management
system which includes the North Dakota service
territory.

Q So you're |l ooking at new -- if you were to
answer this, it would be for new demand si de
management i nstead of existing?

A Yes.

Q Al'l right. And then anot her question |
have is: As of yet -- and tell nme if | need to ask
this of other person -- what -- when we were here
for the | ast round of these hearings, the
Comm ssion received specific informati on of how --
what the cost is per kilowatt-hour of the new
pl ant, and | haven't heard that number yet, and
when | read through the testinony, tell me -- maybe
| didn't find it, but where is it? The cost per
kil owatt-hour of the energy produced with the new
size plant, both at 500 and 580.

A. M. Greig may be able to answer that.
That's not a number or a calculation we do in using
an integrated resource plan. You put the resource
in and |l et the model determ ne how it wants to use
the resource. You can determ ne a |levelized cost,

but that's not a component of the process that |
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do, but | believe M. Greig's analysis was done on
t hat .

Q But I'"'minterested in as a conm ssi oner
knowi ng what energy conservation programs coul d be
put into place that are equal to or at |ess cost
than the cost of the plant. So that nunber is
i mportant to me.

A. | understand that, but the caveat to that,
Comm ssioner, is conservation is an orange, Big
Stone Power Plant is an apple.

Q But | thought you're putting both in,
capacity and energy, and that you need both.

A. You are. But if you take a | ook at a
cents per kilowatt-hour basis, the Big Stone Pl ant
is going to give you X ampunt of capacity. For
that same -- if they cost exactly the same, the
cents per kilowatt-hour for the conservation is
going to give you an entirely different amount of
capacity benefit. So there are sonme differences
you have to recogni ze. If you're putting it in
terms of a cent per kilowatt-hour basis, you have
information there on the energy aspect. You do not
have information there on the capacity aspect
resource.

Q No, but | thought that some of your
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programs are energy only. That's what energy
conservation is versus demand response, which is
anot her group of prograns. So why wouldn't | be
able to ask you for the cost per kilowatt-hour for
energy and then ask you to submt to me prograns
for energy conservation that are equal to or under
that? | didn't quite get it. You need to go
t hrough it one more time.

A. | lost your question. Coul d you ask it
again, please, Comm ssioner?

Q | understand that demand side managenment
programs relate to capacity costs, but |'m asking
for an energy cost of how nmuch it would cost per
kil owatt-hour for customers for the Big Stone Pl ant
at 500 and 580. Because what | want to be able to
do then is ask for energy conservation programs
that are equal to that cost or less that could be
devel oped in North Dakota. That's why it's
i mportant to me. So can you do that for nme, give
me those programs -- energy conservation prograns
that are -- if we can get that number of what it
costs per kilowatt-hour for the --

A. ' m sure that we could get you numbers,
but again, you need to understand the difference

bet ween the two. Most energy conservati on programs
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will also result in a demand reduction, not all.
Street lighting will not for Otter Tail. But nost
conservation programs will result in some capacity
benefit.

Q But some of them don't because they could
be used at night.

A Well, some of themw Il only give you a
partial benefit compared to the same cost on the
Big Stone Il unit. A Big Stone Il unit -- just
arbitrarily let's say at seven cents -- is going to
give you that energy at seven cents, but it's also
going to give you that equival ent capacity benefit
for your reliability requirements.

If you take a | ook at a seven-cent
conservation number, it's going to give you the
energy benefit, but it may only give you a third or
a fourth or a half of the capacity benefit that the
Big Stone Plant will give you, and then you're

going to have to do something else on top of

t hat --

Q Alittle more math.

A -- to get the same amount of capacity
benefit. The energy works out the same, but the
capacity will not Iikely.

Q Okay. At least |'ve got an idea.
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A | hope that hel ped.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Conm ssion?
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER:

Q | would just ask the same question | asked
of Mr. Uggerud. And maybe you could answer on
behal f of the partners, Otter Tail, or yourself.

s it time for North Dakota to have its own IRP for
the North Dakota utilities? Because everything |
keep hearing you guys say |leads me to that
direction.

A. | can answer fromthe Otter Tail
perspective in that's the direction we are going
simply because the | aws between M nnesota and North
Dakota are dianmetrically opposed. That's one of
the key reasons we're moving to the Strategist
model, is it's really inefficient for us to do a
M nnesota resource plan and turn around and have to
create a whole new database and then devel op a
Nort h Dakota resource plan. So we're hoping to use
Strategist with a single database, devel op
si mul taneous resource plans, one for M nnesota and

one for the Dakot as.
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COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Thank you.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have one nore
gquesti on.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wefald.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q And what is your present nunber of
megawatts that you have to serve your North Dakot a,
Sout h Dakota, and M nnesota | oad?

A. Woul d you like nme to include the | oad
management system and - -

Q "' m | ooking at Jerry.

A Roughly -- and it varies by time of year
because especially --

Q Okay. Let's say wi nter peak.

A. W nter peak. | just did some
cal culations. W own over the wi nter peak about
695 nmegawatts of generating capability. On top of
t hat we purchase 50 nmegawatts from Manitoba Hydro,
we get 2 from M nnkota, we get about 5-and-a-half
from WAPA. That's part of the Native American
al l ocation. W' ve got any number of customer-owned
di esel s, probably 12 to 15 megawatts that we have
under contract in all three states, and then on top

of that we have a nunber of short-term capacity
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purchases where we're buying fromother utilities,
and that's part of what M. Uggerud referenced, is
we buy the capacity from others and then we're
buyi ng, you know, to the extent we have to the spot

mar ket energy off the pool.

In total | don't know exactly the number
off the top of my head. | ncl udi ng | oad management
and everything, | think we have the capability of

meeting | oad plus 15 percent reserves of sonmewhere
about 840 nmegawatts.
Q Okay. Thank you
A But that would result in actual | oads
somewhere of 730 or 750, somewhere in that range.
Q So you're anticipating, when you said you
need about 400 megawatts by 2020, about a 50
percent increase?
A. Well, the 400 megawatts also includes
retiring 145 megawatts of generation, so --
Q Okay.
A. -- it's not all | oad growth.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? M. Guerrero, followup?
MR. GUERREROC: "Il try to be brief.

Thank you, Your Honor.
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REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q M. Morlock, M. Binek asked you a
guestion about the Tharal dson Ethanol plant and
t hen four other new, |arge | oads. | wasn't sure |
understood that answer. Could you clarify that for
me ?

A. M. Binek asked about other | arge | oads
we' ve had cone on. "' m not aware of any at this
time since being informed of the Tharal dson Ethanol
Pl ant, but prior to that we'd received notification
of four other large |oad additions; two of them are
et hanol plants, one is an agricultural processing
facility, one is a pipeline expansion. But those
four | oad additions were incorporated into the new
| oad forecast already that we used in the nost
recent anal ysis.

Q Okay. Thank you. M. Binek -- you had a
di scussion with M. Binek about the cost per
kil owatt for transm ssion associated with w nd
devel opment . Do you remember that discussion?

A Yes.

Q And | think you said the cost per kw for
wind is higher than for thermal resources; do you

recall that?
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A. No, | did not. If | said that, that was
i ncorrect.
Q Okay. Well, is the cost per kw for

transm ssion associated with wind more expensive
than for a thermal resource; do you know?

A. It would depend on the situation you're
| ooki ng at. I n our case we're working very hard to
try and find situations where we can add wi nd
resources without being required to do full-Dblown
transm ssion additions. Trying to find places
where we can use what's there to the maxi num extent
possi ble. For wind we use $200 per kilowatt as a
rough estimte. For nost of our thermal resources,
conbustion, turbines, and other things, we use $250
a kilowatt, with the exception of the Big Stone
Pl ant . That one is substantially nore than that.
| don't recall the number, but --

Q Well, it's true, isn't it, M. Morlock, in
order to get the same amount of capacity on a w nd
resource, which has a | ower capacity factor, versus
a thermal resource, which has a higher capacity
factor, all else being equal, if you want to get
t he same anmount of output, you're going to need to
build nore transm ssion; is that correct?

A. Yes, you are, assum ng you want to avoid
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curtail ments.

Q Yes. Now, |I'm going to ask you a couple
of questions about the 14 to 39 percent. I n your
own words, could you tell the Comm ssion how many
megawatts -- what does your resource plan | ook Iike
from 2007 to 2020 under an assunpti on where you're
including 120 megawatts of Big Stone I1? What's
the remai nder of the resource plan look Iike?

A. Under 120 megawatts | have a hole. The
resource plan that | laid out has 160 megawatts
namepl ate of wind that's going in as we speak. 60
megawatts just came on line as part of the Langdon
wind farm  We have possibly another dozen projects
all the way froma single, small turbine up to 50,
60 nmegawatt wi nd farm components that are being
wor ked on that, you know, will help to fill that
160 megawatts, which we're trying to get in place
as soon as possible because of the risks of |o0sing
t he PTC. The next maj or component is the Big Stone
Il addition in 2013.

Q Just to clarify, M. Morlock, 160
megawatts of wi nd between now -- 2008 and 2020, is
t hat --

A No. That 160 is now from as soon as we

can get it in.
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Q Okay. So between now and 2020 - -

A There's nore.

Q And how much?

A | was trying to go in sequence --

Q Okay. Sorry.

A -- through the plan. So in 2013 is the

Big Stone Plant, and in the analysis or resource
pl an |l aid out by the nodel, that was at 170
megawatts. On top of that in 2013 in the North
Dakota anal ysis, the model also selected another 40
megawatts of wind -- nameplate wi nd generation.

The next component of addition would take
pl ace about 2017 and 2018, and that would be all
nat ural gas conbustion turbines partially as a
repl acement for Big Stone -- or for Hoot Lake
retirement, partially to back up the wind. Also to
ensure that we had sufficient renewabl e resources
in the nodel to conply with M nnesota renewabl e
energy standard and the renewabl e energy objectives
in North Dakota and South Dakota, | had forced in
anot her 20 megawatts of wind in 2018, which
woul dn't be needed since the nmodel did pick nore
wind in 2013, but that's essentially the components
of it.

| think the natural gas in 2017, 2018, if
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you -- it really varies, depending whether you're
talking winter rating, summer rating, in the range
of 174, 175 megawatts, | believe.

Q Okay. So approximately 200 to 280
megawatts of wind; is that about right?

A In the North Dakota plan w thout carbon
and externalities | believe there's a total of 220
megawatts of wind in the resource plan. In the
M nnesota one, which we did, assum ng all of Otter
Tail was in Mnnesota with the carbon, with the
externalities, there's 280 megawatts of w nd, and
there are differences in the CT technol ogy.
Ot herwi se the resource plans are the sane.

Q And 170 megawatts of natural gas,
approxi mately?

A. Roughly, yes.

Q And roughly 120-30 negawatts thereabouts

of coal ?
A Yes.
Q And the rest is conservation?
A. The rest is conservation
Q Thank you. | f you could turn to page six

of your March 10th, testimny, M. Morlock, there
was some questions about -- from Ms. La Seur about

your energy savings. The top of page six, would
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you descri be or explain what it is that you did
with energy conservation in North Dakota as part of
your integrated resource planning nodel ?

A What we did was we took -- we have a
separate energy forecast for M nnesota conpared to
the total system So we took the M nnesota portion
and cal cul ated what the requirements would be
annually to meet the M nnesota conservation
requi rement. We also took the remaining portion of
the | oad, which is North Dakota, South Dakota, and
assumed about half a percent of that energy would
be handl ed through conservati on. Now, within the
| RP- Manager model, itself, we took that total
amount of annual energy conservation and those were
manual ly entered into the nodel.

Now, the model also includes a curve
shape, it's actually 48 curves, four per month, one
for a peak day, one for near peak, one for a | ow
weekday, and one for weekends, and that's based off
actual conservation analyses fromthe prograns
we' ve done in M nnesota, and we overlaid this new
manager conservation ampunt on top of that curve so
t hat the nodel would use that curve to shape it,
but it would be at a magnitude to neet the one-and-

a-half percent in M nnesota and the half a percent
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in North Dakota and Sout h Dakot a.

Q So if | understand, the nodel is assum ng,
regardl ess of whether it's cost effective -- that
it's assumng that you will -- Otter Tail wil

achi eve approximately .5 percent energy savings
going forward in North Dakot a.

A Yes.

Q And with those savings the nodel's still
pi cki ng additional amounts of thermal and other
resources.

A. Yes, it is.

Q How | ong has Otter Tail been doing
conservation in M nnesota?

A. This would be a guess, but |I'm assum ng
since about 1988 is when -- sometime in there when
some of the official CIP process in M nnesota got
goi ng.

Q Has Otter Tail won awards for its
conservation in M nnesota?

A. That | don't know.

Q Do you know whet her or not Otter Tail's
conservation in M nnesota is considered robust
vis-a-vis other utilities' conservation efforts?

A | woul d be specul ating. | don't know.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: How does that apply
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to North Dakota?
MR. GUERREROC: "1l try to get there.

Q ( MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) \What was your
answer ?

A. | guess | don't know. | mean, the
conservation stuff is handled through market
pl anni ng ar ea.

Q Okay. You' ve been doing it since the

Ei ghties, and you're at about .6 to .7 percent;

correct?
A. Yes.
Q And woul d you agree that the M nnesota

Comm ssion, as well as the Department of Commerce,
has been fairly active in your conservation
programs?
A. Absol utely.
MR. GUERRERO: No further questions, Your
Honor .
JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR
Q M. Morlock, was | correct to understand
t hat you do not have any know edge of the cost of
exi sting DSM programs on the North Dakota system

for OTP?
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A When you say "North Dakota system™" | can
say no because we don't -- let me back up. Are you
saying for | oad management or are you saying for
conservation?

Q In this case I'm tal king about DSM

A. DSM i ncl udes both | oad managenment and
conservati on.

Q That's not how |I've heard it defined.

Let's say we're tal king about | oad managenent.

A Load management, no. Off the top of nmny
head, | have no idea of the costs.
Q Okay. And would you know the costs of

conservation?
A A rough rule of thunmb that 1've heard
m ght be in the range of three cents a
kil owatt-hour for short-term programs, | believe.
Q I n deciding what new | oad managenment wi |
be cost effective, wouldn't it be helpful to know
what existing | oad managenment programs cost?
A Yes. And those are evaluated in our
mar ket pl anni ng department, not in the resource
pl anni ng department. We provide them the outputs
from the | RP-Manager nmodel in terms of avoided
capacity and energy costs and hourly | oad patterns,

which they then inport into the DS manager program,
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and that is used for all of the conservation and
| oad management eval uati ons.

Q But you don't use any inputs in your
modeling to do with what's been successful or cost
effective in the past?

A What they come back with me -- as a result
of their analysis, they provide me with the inmpacts
and those are incorporated into the nodel. I
don't -- when | nodel those types of inpacts, |
don't put costs associated with those because those
costs are already enmbedded within the financial sub
model , which has been bench-marked agai nst the

expense budget, capital budget, and so forth. So

it's -- if | was to incorporate it as a separate
component, it would get double-counted in the
model .

Q Do you recall Comm ssioner Wefald asking

you in |last year's hearing about the cost

effectiveness of DSM programs?

A | don't recall that. It may have taken
pl ace.
Q Woul d you accept, subject to check, that

the transcript fromthe June 26th, '07, hearing in
this matter reflects a question by Comm ssioner

Wefald to you asking for a late-filed exhibit
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l'isting which DSM programs under consideration by
OTP woul d be under the cost of Big Stone I|1?

A. | don't recall that. "1l have to accept.
Q Do you recall being asked for a late-filed
exhi bit on that subject?
A It's not an exhibit | would file. It
woul d come from someone else at Otter Tail.
Q So you did not file that exhibit?
A | don't know. It's -- | can't answer that
because that's out of my area of responsibility.
Q And you have not then performed any
anal ysis of which DSM prograns under consi deration
by OTP woul d be under the cost of Big Stone 117
MR. GUERRERO: Well, | guess I'm going to
object. The exhibit was prepared and was fil ed.
So I"'mnot sure if the question is intended to be
m sl eading or it's just accidentally m sl eading.
MS. LA SEUR: Well, the question was about
bei ng asked pretty nuch the same question in
repeat ed heari ngs and apparently not having gained
knowl edge from the process we've all been through
over the | ast year.
MR. GUERRERO: | think what he said,
counsel, was that he didn't prepare the exhibit.

JUDGE WAHL: And he doesn't know.
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MS. LA SEUR: That's all

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek, followup?

MR. Bl NEK: | have no questions.

JUDGE WAHL: Any followup fromthe
Conmmi ssion?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Nope.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero, anything
further?

MR. GUERREROC: No, thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Thank you very
much, M. Morl ock.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Oh, should |I ask him
then if I want the exhibit again the next time? I
do.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, the representation is
that it's filed.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Well, no. There's a
new exhi bit that's needed because there's new costs
now. There's new cost for -- we don't know what it
is yet -- for the per kilowatt-hour cost of this
new pl ant. Someone's going to tell us what that
is, but that means | need a new exhibit filed now
from both MDU and Otter Tail that tells me what --
what -- the same thing | asked for | ast year only

under the new costs for this new plant, because
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otherwise I'll have dated information and it won't
be correct on the record.

MR. GUERREROC: If I could, Your Honor?

JUDGE WAHL: Pl ease.

MR. GUERRERO:. To clarify the cost, |
believe M. Greig does have the | evelized-cost
figure. The cost has actually gone up a little
bit.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | woul dn't be
surprised.

MR. GUERRERO: And so to the extent that
there was information that showed it was under the
previous per kilowatt-hour price of the plant, that
i nformati on probably would still be valid given the
fact that the plant cost has gone up slightly.

COVM SSI ONER WEFALD: However, there could
be additional progranms that would fall under the
cost if this cost has gone up that the Comm ssion
may want to take -- at |east be aware of that
woul d - -

MR. GUERRERO:. That's certainly possible.
What ever you want .

JUDGE WAHL.: So is that going to be
resolved with the testimny of a further w tness or

not, is the question, M. Guerrero.
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COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | don't believe so.
| believe this is the witness | would ask for that
exhibit to be filed.
JUDGE WAHL: Al'l right.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: But | need ny staff

to help me with what exactly we want. So is it
okay if | --
JUDGE WAHL: It is. Wy don't you --
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: -- delay?

JUDGE WAHL: \Why don't you prepare a
request, Comm ssioner, and at some opportunity,
either at the beginning -- at any opportunity just
rai se that question. All right. M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERGO: May we proceed?

JUDGE WAHL: You may. We would call M.
Jeff Greig to the stand, please.

MR. GUERRERO: Pl ease state your nane.

JUDGE WAHL: Just a m nute. M. GCreig,
you'll have to refresh my recollection. Have you
testified previously for the hearings in this -- of
this matter?

THE W TNESS: | did by tel ephone | ast
June.

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, that was it. All right.

Well, in any case, M. Greig, | have personal
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knowl edge that you are advised and informed
regardi ng perjury, and do you understand, sir, that
your testinony continues under oath and subject to
the penalties of perjury?

MR. GREI G | do.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.
MR. GUERREROC: Thank you.
JEFFREY J. GREI G,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified further as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q Pl ease state your nane.

A Jeff Greig, Gr-e-i-g.

Q By whom are you enployed and in what
capacity?

A. Burns & McDonnell Engi neering Conpany.
am t he general manager of the business and
technol ogy services division.

Q And what do you do in that capacity?

A. Burns & McDonnell is a design engi neering
and construction firm The business and technol ogy
services division is the consulting arm of the
company. As general manager | manage a staff of

about 100 professionals in areas including resource
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pl anni ng, transm ssion planning, feasibility
studies, rates, and information technol ogy
consul ting.

Q And did you have an occasion to prepare or
cause to be prepared direct and rebuttal testinony
in this matter?

A. Yes.

Q And is that marked as OTP/ MDU Exhi bit 326
with Exhibit 327, also OTP/MDU 336 and OTP/ MDU

Exhi bit 326A, which is your summary?

A. Yes.

Q And you have all those before you?

A. Yes.

Q And if | asked you the same questions as

are directed in that testimny, would your answers
be the same?
A Yes.
Q And do you have any corrections or
clarifications?
A No.
MR. GUERRERO: Your Honor, we would offer
what' s been premarked as OTP/ MDU Exhi bits 326,
326A, 327 and 336.
THE W TNESS: | would note that nmy copy of

the summary is | abel ed 362A.
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MR. GUERRERO: |f you could make that
correction manually, M. Greig. Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Let's be sure |
have this for the record. Exhi bits OTP/ MDU 326,
326A, 327, and 336 are received. |Is that correct,
M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO: That's correct.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) M. GCreig,
could you give a brief summary of your testinmony,
pl ease?

A Yes. Good afternoon, Comm ssioners.
Burns & McDonnell has been engaged by the
applicants to prepare vari ous econom c conparisons
of basel oad generation alternatives, and we have
updated those anal yses periodically as significant
changes have occurred in the project structure.

My direct testinony, which is included in
Exhi bit 326, and Exhibit 327 is from November of
2007, and the purpose of that update was due to two
of the participants withdrawing fromthe project.

We updated our econom c evaluation. W focused on
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six different basel oad generation alternatives, the
original 630 megawatts Big Stone Unit |1, as well
as two smaller sizes of 500 and 580 megawatts
reflecting the wi thdrawal of the two partners. W
al so conmpared the econom cs against a gas-fired
combi ned cycle unit with a nom nal rating of 500
megawatts, and a combi nation of that gas-fired
conmbi ned cycle unit with purchases of non-firm wi nd
energy.

The exhibits in nmy direct testimony
primarily focused on the 500 megawatt size since
t hat represents the highest cost alternative due to
a decline in the economes of scale as the size of
the project is decreased.

Some of the assunptions that have changed
since | appeared before the Comm ssion in June of
| ast year were new capital costs were devel oped for
t hese new two project-size alternatives. As M.
Rol fes has testified to, we've continued to nodel
wi nd as a purchased, non-firmresource within the
anal ysi s.

We've continued to evaluate the cost of
wi nd both with and wi thout the production tax
credits since today it is due to expire at the end

of this year, and it's not known with certainty
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whet her or not it will continue to be available in
the future to |l ower the cost of w nd.

Wthin the nost recent -- or within the
2007 study we did evaluate the cost of the
different alternatives with no carbon cost
included, as well as a carbon cost of nine dollars
per ton for all CO2 em ssions, and that was as a
result of direction fromthe Department of Commerce
in Mnnesota as part of that filing.

Ot her than that, mpst of the other basic
assunptions in the analysis remain the same as when
| appeared before the Comm ssion in June of 'O06.

There was a subsequent update, which is
covered in nmy rebuttal testinony, which is included
in Exhibit 336, and the changes that | was
addressing in that were to do some further
eval uation of potential carbon costs, and the
reason for that was because since the time of the
November 2007 study, the M nnesota Conmm ssion
adopted a range for CO2 cost values of 4 to $30 per
ton as opposed to the single $9 per ton val ue.

|'ve also tried to clarify some questions
requested by staff witness, M. Deason, as well as
provide some rebuttal to some issues raised by

i ntervenor witness M. Schlissel.
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Wthin the 2008 update, which is included
in my rebuttal testimony, the same six alternatives
are being conmpared. As | noted across a range,
with no carbon tax, as well as a carbon cost of 4
to $30 per ton. We have applied those costs to all
em ssions, and that's been a subject of discussion
this norning as to whether or not a project such as
Big Stone would receive sonme no-cost allocations,
but in the analysis | presented before you we're
applying those costs to 100 percent of the CO2
em ssions.

Again, we've carried forward to the
assumptions with and wi thout the production tax
credit, since that's such a significant driver in
the overall cost of wind energy, and within ny
rebuttal testinony we ran some scenarios around the
wi nd cases of |ow market -- or |ow-cost case, a
mar ket case, and including transm ssion costs.

Overall conclusions from both the November
2007 study, as well as the updates we ran in 2008
and are included in ny rebuttal testinmny, is that
Big Stone Il remains a |ow cost of basel oad
resource on a levelized cost basis. That is true
with no carbon costs. When carbon costs are

included, if the production tax credit is not
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val ues as high as $30 a ton applied to all

em ssions fromthe project.

tax credit
was a break-even point
Stone Il Unit and the next
was the conbined gas-fired
$17

purchase case of about

that there are a nunber of

whi ch were incorporated throughout

remai ns true even for

is extended on wi nd,

bet ween the cost of
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carbon cost
CO2
And if the production
we found that there
the Big
best alternative, which
combi ned cycle wi nd
per ton, but I will note
conservative assunptions

t he anal ysi s,

and that break-even cost only holds if all five of
t hose conservative assunptions remain true. I f any
of those do not prove out to be true, then the

break-even cost

case goes up

bet ween Big Stone |1

and a gas/w nd

That concludes nmy summary.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you. We'd tender M.
Greig.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: | have no questions.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

MR. Bl NEK: My notes say probably no
guesti ons.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioners?

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: I

have a question on
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page.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wef al d.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q Just go over your |ast statement in just a
little nore detail for ne. | f every one of five
conservative assunmptions -- what are those five

conservative assunptions? Show me again where they

are in your testimony so | can just find them

A.
Q
A.
Q
A.

Okay. | f you would turn to Exhibit 326.
That's in your original testimny?
Correct.

Page?

' m sorry. | apol ogi ze. It would be in

my rebuttal testinmony in Exhibit 336, on page 14.

The five major assunptions that drive that result

of the break-even cost being $17 a ton are, first

of all,

t hat that would apply to 100 percent of the

em ssions as has been discussed. Secondly, ny

anal ysis has been focused on a busbar cost basis,

so | have not -- |'ve been comparing the generation

alternatives, basically the plant substation, not

i ncluding potential transm ssion cost inpacts. And

then the three additional assunptions are listed

here on page 14 and the top of page 15, which would
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be that we've assumed that the wi nd capacity factor
that is included in the purchases is 40 percent,
which is a conservative assunpti on.

Wthin the gas cost forecast that we
utilized in terms of putting together the overall
cost of the conbined cycle case, we've reflected a
transportati on cost on the gas of about 40 cents
per mllion Btu, which is significantly bel ow what
utilities generally pay for gas transportation.

And then, finally, at the top of page 15,
in our nost recent analysis we're actually using an
escal ation rate on the cost of coal of
t hree-and-a-half percent conpared to a | ower
escal ation rate of three percent for natural gas.

So we've been conservative in ternms of the
assumptions that we've used in the analysis, and to
the extent that if you change any of these
assunptions to nmore realistic or nore market-based
assunptions conpared to where we're at today, that
break-even cost would go up.

Q So when you're using the word
"conservative," you nmean that, for exanple, on
number one on page 14 -- at the bottom of page 14
if you used a net capacity factor of 32 percent for

the wind resource, are you saying that 40 percent




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1095
is a more conservative factor than 32? | just need
to know what conservative nmeans.

A Yes. |f you go to the --

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | think it's a great
gquesti on.

THE W TNESS: |f you go to the question, |
outlined that in a little more detail. When | use
the word "conservative" on line 14 of page 14,
conservative in favor of the conbined cycle plus
wi nd case. So we've tried to put together a case
that's robust and fair and possibly overly fair to
a gas plus wind case being sel ected.

Q (COMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) | just
have to think about that for a mnute. All right.
So you think that a 40 percent capacity factor for
wind is alnmost the best that could be there?

A. It is higher than most operating w nd
farms have. Now, moving forward, there will be a
couple of factors comng into play. One is that as
wind farms generally try to pursue the best w nd
sites that they can now and as nore and more w nd
gets added and the best sites are taken, you're
going to have to move to more margi nal sites, so
the wind capacity factor would tend to decline.

Count erbal ancing that is the technol ogy
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has been improving in wind turbines thenselves, and
so for | ower wind speeds you're able to get a
little higher capacity factor, but overall |
believe that this is a conservative number fromthe
st andpoint of historically the wind farms that
are -- mpst of the wind farms that are in
production do not achieve this |level.

Q And then the next one, for exanple, number
two on page 14, 40 cents per MVBtu, that translates
into a -- | usually use therms, so would it be
about four dollars a thern?

A. No. A mllion Btus is approximately a
decatherm so it would be about 40 cents a
decat herm

Q 40 cents a decat hern?

A Correct.

Q And so that would be about four dollars --
conmpare it to the price of natural gas that we have
right nowin MDU territory, which is about nine
doll ars a decatherm isn't that right? All right.
So this is using a price of 40 percent a decathern??

A. Well, the delivered cost of gas is a
function of two cost conponents, the commodity
cost, the supply, and then the transportation cost.

What we' ve got in our analysis in Novenber of 2007
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when we updated it, the NYMEX futures price for the
supply conmponent of natural gas was about $7.90.

On top of that we added a transportati on conponent
of 40 cents to arrive at a total cost of about
$8. 31.

Q Okay. So this is just for the
transportation.

A. Just for the transportation.

Q Al'l right. Okay. So that's 40 cents on
top of the --

A. The supply piece.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: -- supply cost.
Okay. Thank you. | needed to have help with that.
And then -- all right. And then my other question
related to -- I"'mgoing to wait on that one. " m
going to wait on that one because | think I
understand it a little better than | did yesterday
when | first read it. So I'lI'l stop for now.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Cl ark.
EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q Just quickly, your assunption of the gas/
wi nd combi nation, $17 a ton carbon cost break-even
poi nt, does that take into consideration gas al so

being all ocated, sonme form of carbon cost to it?
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A. Yes, it does.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Okay. Thanks.

That's all | have.
COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | don't have any
questions, but | do think Conmm ssioner Wefald's

guestion is instructive in terms of understanding
what the applicants' witnesses all mean when they
say "conservative," because it can be confusing. I
early on was confused and before |I realized
whenever they've said conservative, what they're
referring to is it's conservative toward the favor
of a gas or a gas/wind, and so it doesn't
necessarily mean it's a conservative estimte of
wi nd productivity, for exanmple.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | "' m going to ask Pat
Fahn to just help me with this question.
JUDGE WAHL: You may.
COVM SSI ONER WEFALD: Pat, would you just
ask this question for me? Thank you.
EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. FAHN
Q M. Greig, on page 11 of your testinmony,
of the direct, you show the prices -- or the cost
for -- levelized busbar cost for a 580 megawatt

unit and a 500 megawatt unit.
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A. Correct.

Q Comm ssioner Wefald is interested in
comparing the cost of demand side managenment
programs to the cost of this alternative -- of a
500 nmegawatt pl ant. s this the cost number that
she should be conparing the demand side managenent
prograns to?

A This is the all-in costs of both the
capital and the operating costs. So if you're
tal ki ng about an energy efficiency program you

woul d not conpare that to this. You would conpare

it nore to the system energy costs of the utility,
not the all-in cost of this plant alternative.
Q Aren't we trading off a kilowatt of plant

for a kilowatt of conservation --

A. If it --
Q -- or kilowatt-hour or megawatt-hour?
A Again, it goes to the issue of you can

t hi nk about demand side managenment programs in two
cont exts. One is to reduce peak demand, and that
woul d be directed at what is the utility's avoi ded
capacity cost, because that's what you save. | f
there's a kilowatt | ess demand, then there's a

kil owatt | ess of installed capacity that needs to

be put in; or you can think about it in terms of
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energy efficiency projects, which reduce
kil owatt-hours, and for a kilowatt-hour savings
from an energy efficiency program you're going to
reduce generation or power purchases by one
kil owatt-hour.

Thi s has got both of those conmponents
withinit. So it mght be applicable to certain
types of programs that offer both capacity and
energy savings, but it wouldn't be applicable if
you were only thinking about energy on one hand or
only thinking about capacity on the other hand.

Q Well, could they convert -- for each of
their programs -- each of their demand side
management prograns, could they convert the cost of
t hat programinto one of these megawatt-hour --
cost per megawatt-hour numbers?

A I n general, yes. A utility should be able
to define in ternms of the costs of a programin
terms of either energy savings or capacity savings
and what the avoided costs are from that.

MR. FAHN: And | think that's what
Comm ssioner Wefald is |ooking for for late-filed
exhi bits.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Yes, it is. And

this is the number that | was | ooking for, right,
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from --

MR. FAHN: It's simlar to what we had
before.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: But this is slightly
di fferent. It's a different number than what we

had before. All right. Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Let's deal with
this now, M. Guerrero.

MR. KUNTZ: Maybe |'m the only one who's
not sure here what we're supposed to do with the
| ate-filed exhibit, but I'll question M. Greig.
Can we tell from your testinmony, if we were to
break these out by capacity and energy, what the
| evelized busbar cost is for both of those?

THE W TNESS: Yes. | guess another way of
expressing the question would be that, yes, in ny
analysis | could also break this nunmber down into
an energy conmponent and a capacity component. I
don't have those figures with me. | ve not done
that in any of my filings, but | would be happy to
do that as a suppl enent.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: That woul d be
hel pful. And then how do you tell us how we
combi ne thent

THE W TNESS: They would be additive.
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There's -- the overall busbar cost has both a
capacity feature and an energy feature that would
add back up to this number.

MR. KUNTZ: "' m thinking we may need that
cal culated if the Conmm ssioner is asking us to
prepare a late-filed exhibit for those pieces. ' m
not certain, but it strikes me that if that's to be
t he benchmark we're supposed to provide for, |
don't know that we know those benchmarks wi thout
M. Greig's providing those to us.

THE W TNESS: And one point of
clarification. When a utility |ooks at those types
of progranms, they're |ooking at their overall
system costs, not a specific project cost. For
exampl e, an energy efficiency program you know,
woul d be unlikely to offset coal-fired generation
out of a highly efficient unit |like Big Stone |1
but it still m ght be beneficial to offset power
purchase costs or gas-fired costs. So while | can
gi ve you the correspondi ng capacity and energy
values for the Big Stone Il project, | guess I'm
still not sure that that's where you're headed with
your question.

COVMM SSI ONER CLARK: All right. ' 11 keep

t hi nki ng about it then, but those numbers, | think,
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woul d be hel pful to supply to the Comm ssi on.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. So what? \hat
are we -- have we now defined a |ate-filed exhibit?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: One. One late-filed
exhibit, but there will be another request for
anot her still tomorrow from me.

JUDGE WAHL: So this is going to be --
help me, counsel -- OTP/MDU what, maybe 3517

MR. KUNTZ: There will probably be two
| ate-filed exhibits, one for each conpany.

MR. GUERRERO: Let me see if | can take a
stab at what | understand will be fil ed.

JUDGE WAHL: Listen, | don't want to take
the time to do this like this. Let's do it this
way : Let's -- counsel, why don't you work with M.
Greig and define what it is that you -- and M.
Fahn and define what you propose to offer, and then
let's bring it forward tomorrow, whenever.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Fi ne.

JUDGE WAHL: In fact, why don't you go
ahead and review it with Comm ssioner Wefald, and
t hen when you' ve settled on what you've got, let's
just offer it as a late-filed exhibit, and then we
can -- the record -- we won't have to wonder what

the record says. | s that acceptable --
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COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: And also Ms. La

Seur ?

a

JUDGE WAHL: Well, certainly. She'l |l have

-- Ms. La Seur and M. Binek will have a | ook at

it, but let's get it defined first and then it can

be of fered as any other exhibit. Ms. La Seur is

not going to object.

MS. LA SEUR: No.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Furt her questions

fromthe Comm ssion?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: | just have --
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cl ark. Yes.
m sorry.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: | just have one as a

followup to this.

FURTHER EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q So | understand when we get this

i nformati on, whatever it is exactly, as |

understand it's going to be something along the

I ines of what the cost of demand side managenent

and/ or conservation prograns cost conmpared to costs

of

the new plant. Wuld it be an appropriate or

i nappropriate use of that to then say, well, if you

can save X nunber of -- you know, three megawatts
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t hrough a demand si de managenment program that you
t hen knock down by three megawatts the amounts that
either Otter Tail or MDU should be allowed to
build? Wbuld that be an inappropriate use for it?

A. Well, again --

Q And the reason | ask you is because you
made the statement along the lines of something
t hat you can't compare it to efficient coal -based
units, and maybe you could talk a little bit about
the difference between baseload and -- | just want
to be able to use this once we get it.

A What | can provide is for these
alternatives, which I've eval uated, the six
alternatives. | can break these all-in busbar
costs down into the capacity or fixed cost
component and the energy or variable cost component
and provide that to the Comm ssion. The utilities
wi Il have to generate what their costs for their
programs are. | don't have that information.

But then | made the further comment that
t hose costs of the program ought to be conmpared not
just to Big Stone but to the total system cost,
because, for example, Big Stone will be a very | ow
vari abl e-cost unit and it will be a very low -- it

will be a difficult benchmark for any energy
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efficiency programto offset generation out of a
unit i ke this. That's why it should be a system
compari son

Q Sure. As conmpared to natural gas or oil
peaki ng.

A. Correct. Ri ght .

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: And this is

consistent, as | recall, fromthis same discussion
| ast year. It was more an area of interest in how
we manage going forward with our utilities than it
was, well, comparing it to Big Stone I, but it was

an opportunity to raise this issue, as | recall
and it seens |like we're at the same place again.

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? M. Guerrero, followup?

MR. GUERREROC: No. | just have one -- |
don't know if it would be hel pful for Comm ssioner
Wefal d, but there is a graph in M. Greig's Exhibit
327 -- OTP/ MDU 327 where there is on a per
megawatt - hour basis cost for each -- on a levelized
cost basis for each of the different resource
alternatives exam ned, and if she was | ooking for a
pl ace for informational purposes to have that, |

just wanted to point that out in the event she
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hasn't seen that. No further questions.

Gr ei

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: Not hi ng.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you very much, M.
g. M. Guerrero?

MR. KUNTZ: Well, we would call Ms.

Stomberg. Are we going to do that this evening?

JUDGE WAHL: | really don't think so

unl ess -- no. The answer i s no.

MR. KUNTZ: Okay. That's where we're at.
COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Good answer .

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Very good.

Counsel -- | want to see counsel. Let's deal with

this exhibit, Ms. La Seur, but it's not necessary

f or

we' |

the Comm ssion to be present for that. So

| be in recess until what, nine o'clock

t onorrow norni ng?

f or

j ust

MR. KUNTZ: Or 8:307?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: 8: 45 would be better

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: All right. Then

make it nine then.
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JUDGE WAHL: Ni ne o' cl ock
MR. BI NEK: Your Honor, did you want Pat

Fahn here for this discussion?

JUDGE WAHL: No, | don't think so. I
don't think I need staff. | don't see this as a
staffing witness question. | think this exhibit is

a matter for the | awyers.

MR. KUNTZ: Except | need -- | certainly
need staff people because | need --

JUDGE WAHL: Well, they're wel cone.

MR. KUNTZ: -- to make sure that we're
communi cating here.

JUDGE WAHL: No, no, no. ' m not saying
staff can't be here. |"m saying it's not for my
poi nt of view.

MR. Bl NEK: Because Pat was hel ping with
formulating this thing, that's why |I'm wondering if
he shoul d be present.

JUDGE WAHL: Al'l right.

(Recess taken.)

JUDGE WAHL: All right. For the record,
let's -- let's identify what we're tal king about.
" mgoing to mark this as -- this will be Exhibit |
22. Ms. La Seur, tell me about this again, please.

MS. LA SEUR: This is the settl ement
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agreement made between the M nnesota --

JUDGE WAHL.: -- Department of Conmerce.

MS. LA SEUR: Ri ght . And the project
applicants back in August, and, of course, there's
a |l ot of water under the bridge since then, and as
M. Guerrero rightly states, there is some question
as to the ongoing binding nature of this agreenent,
and so we're offering it for briefing purposes and
as evidence of terms and conditions that may still
apply to the project as a whole in one applicable
jurisdiction.

JUDGE WAHL: Which go to its prudence.

MS. LA SEUR: Yes.

JUDGE WAHL: And OTP has no objection?

MR. GUERREROC: (Shakes head.)

JUDGE WAHL: And MDU' s objection, M.

Kunt z?

MR. KUNTZ: It wasn't timely. | f she was
offering it as an exhibit, it should have been
offered with her original testinony for the same
reason she sought to exclude our suppl enment al
testi nony, which was relevance. "' m not sure what
the relevance here even is as it relates to MDU.
There's been no connection to this agreement to MDU

in this proceeding, and it's --
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JUDGE WAHL: Wel |, except MDU was a
signatory, for whatever that means.

MR. KUNTZ: Well, but it hasn't been
of fered through any of your wi tnesses. Just
because we're a signatory to a document, what's the
rel evance to an issue in this case?

JUDGE WAHL: Well, | -- to the extent that
any term binds MDU and to the extent that any term
goes to the question of the prudence of the project
it seems to me it's relevant.

MR. KUNTZ: And what termis that that
she's saying it's relevant? She hasn't laid the
foundation for it, she didn't offer it when she was

supposed to as part of her original case in chief.

Now it's being dunped into the record. It's not
proper cross-exam nati on. It's not a proper
wi t ness.

JUDGE WAHL: No. She's not offering it
for cross-exam nation. She hasn't used it for
Cross-exam nation.

MR. KUNTZ: Well, that's my point. Then
it should have been offered as part of her original
case when she was supposed to submt her testinony
and exhi bits back two weeks ago. So to the same

extent that she can contend that she was prejudiced
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by receiving our supplemental testimny | ast
Friday, how am | not prejudiced when this was
dumped in my |ap today?

JUDGE WAHL: Well, because this is what it
iS. | mean, this docunment is a done deal. It's
not anybody's --

MR. KUNTZ: But the point is --

JUDGE WAHL: It's not anybody's testinmony.
It's not anybody's anal ysis. It is what it is.

MR. KUNTZ: But the point is --

JUDGE WAHL: That's the difference.

MR. KUNTZ: -- if we had timelines and
Your Honor was saying that we had timelines and
therefore she was prejudiced, the timelines apply
to both parties and --

JUDGE WAHL: Well, | agree with that.

MR. KUNTZ: -- this should have been

subm tted.

JUDGE WAHL.: So should this -- | guess
what | wasn't clear about, is this under the
timelines -- let me talk to you, M. Kuntz. Under

t he procedures was the idea that this would have
been part of a witness's testimny, or at | east
what, just submtted as a docunent, | suppose.

MR. KUNTZ: Somet hing in support of her
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case presumably --

JUDGE WAHL: That should have been pre --

MR. KUNTZ: -- that should have been
prefiled. |f she thought it was relevant to the
position she was taking -- our witnesses haven't

even had a chance to address what's in there
because we don't know what it is she contends it's
rel evant to. Ordinarily I wouldn't have a problem
with this, Your Honor, but I"'ma little irritated
with the position that counsel took this norning

t hat she was prejudiced by a sinple, one-page piece
of supplenmental testinmony, and |'m making nmy point
in that regard. To say that somehow she was
prejudiced by that and we're not prejudiced when
she can come in the day of the hearing and bring
this in, to me | see is a distinction without a
difference.

JUDGE WAHL: Maybe. So your contention is
that if -- if the intervenors were going to offer
this evidence, it should have been offered as part
of prefiled testinony.

MR. KUNTZ: That's correct.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: Judge, there was not an

appropriate place in prefiled testimony to offer
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this kind of exhibit. It's the applicant's own
document. They sent it freely to the PSC nine
mont hs ago, and we offered it while M. Uggerud was
on the stand. Because his boss is one of the
signatories, he is able to identify it as the
agreement to which his enployer is a party.

JUDGE WAHL: So | guess | don't know if it
makes any difference or not. So where does this
document come fron? Can somebody tell nme that?
How does this docunment -- this document was
obvi ously made by the Big Stone partners and
M nnesota Department of Commerce, of course, how
does this come to the North Dakota Public Service

Conmm ssi on?

MR. GUERRERO:. As | indicated earlier,
Your Honor, | believe the -- 1'd have to go back,
subject to check, but | believe we filed it as an

update just to keep the Comm ssion informed of the
status and progress with respect to the case in
M nnesota as it may affect the matter in North
Dakot a. | can't recall whether or not we actually
filed it under this docket number. In fact, |
believe we did not.

But | do agree with M. Kuntz's statenents

that if she thought it was relevant, she should
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have had a witness testify to it in her case in
chief. There's |lots of documents out there that
are related in some fashion to this case that if
they were relevant, they should have been made a
part of the record, and they weren't, and how are
we to judge what is supposed to be relevant at the
time this comes in in her brief apparently? So --

MR. KUNTZ: Your Honor, if | mght --
JUDGE WAHL: You know, | guess |I'm kind of
shifting. "' m beginning to get a better
under st andi ng, Ms. La Seur. | think I"minclined
to agree with that argunment and with M. Kuntz;
that is, the idea is we're going to put this in the
record wi thout any advance notice to the parties as
to the purpose of the evidence, and then besides
that we're not going to tell them what the purpose
is. They get to find out in your brief, and
then -- and then I"minclined to agree with M.
Kuntz. This -- what's sauce for the gander is

sauce for the goose. That is, we are then -- |

will then put the applicants in the same position
that | was unwilling to put the intervenors in.
That is, had you -- had you filed this with -- in

connection with some witness or at least filed it

with a statement that said, here's Exhibit X, and
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the reason for this exhibit is because it shows

that the project is imprudent as a result of this,

t hat, and the other thing, then | -- then |
woul dn't have any problemwi th it, but | guess
unl ess you can show me otherwise, | -- |'m agreeing

with M. Kuntz that |I'mputting himin exactly the
same position | wouldn't put you in earlier.

MS. LA SEUR: The docunment was -- was
al ready before the PSC in some capacity and we just
hadn't really defined what the status of the
document was, and so when | went back to | ook for
it in the docket, assum ng it was there, because |
had a copy of it in my file, it had been served in
some way -- perhaps not formally served -- it
| ooked as if it should be part of the record, I
wanted to make sure it was formal and that there
was some sort of formal status for the docunment.

M. Breen tells me, and | wasn't aware of
this, that he had made a request to cross-exam ne
the signatories of this document at the time it was
originally distributed and that hearing didn't take
pl ace. So there has been -- there has been an
attempt to formalize the status of this document
t hat seems to have just fallen through the cracks

and we hadn't made a fuss about that.
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We'd Iike to -- we'd like to brief it. It
is the applicant's own docunment. It is well aged.
It is not a surprise to anybody. Its content is

not a surprise to anybody.

JUDGE WAHL: No. But it's purposes are.

Here's the problem | think M. Kuntz's argument
is well made, and | -- and | just -- in the
circumstances | -- it's nobody's fault, but for the
same reason that -- for the issue of due process,

it makes no difference how justified the del ay was,
it makes no difference how reasonable, it makes no
difference as to the urgency. The point is that
due process is denied, and |I think we have exactly
the same situation here. If I just put this in the
record and then allow you or anybody to make
what ever use of it occurs to them as they -- as
t hey prepare their brief for the hearing, |'ve done
exactly the same thing I wouldn't do this morning.
MS. LA SEUR: But then my question would
be: What is the prejudice to the applicants in
having this public document that they thensel ves
signed made part of this record?
JUDGE WAHL: Because they don't know what
pur pose you're putting it to. They haven't had a

chance to consider that, to review that with the
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peopl e that have to deal with -- that are dealing
with this project.

MR. KUNTZ: Our - -

JUDGE WAHL: It makes no difference that
t he document is in existence or even that it's
t heir document. It's the purpose that you're going
to put it to. | rather suspect you're not in a
position to tell me right now what purpose you're
going to put this document to.

MS. LA SEUR: Well, | could read through
the terms and conditions one by one.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, you see, there you are.
You're too | ate.

MR. KUNTZ: Your Honor, the thing, too, is
this was signed before the two participants
wi t hdr ew. | don't even know and |'m not sure
anybody knows what the status of that particul ar
agreement is anynore in |ight of the fact that
t hose two participants withdrew fromit. ' m not
even sure it's binding. So now, like I said, |
have the sense that it's being used for something,
but 1I'm not sure what because |I'm not even sure
what that agreenment means nyself anynmore and none
of the witnesses were asked what it means.

JUDGE WAHL: Exhibit I 22 is denied.
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Anyt hing further for the record, Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No, thank you

JUDGE WAHL: Anything further for the
record, M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO: No. Do we want to talk
about the late-filed exhibit tonight? Okay. We'II
do that off record.

JUDGE WAHL: Anything further for the
record, M. Kuntz?

MR. KUNTZ: No.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. The record wll
be closed. We'lIl be in recess until nine o'clock
tomorrow norni ng.

(Recessed at 5:13 p.m, Monday, the 28th

day of April, 2008.)
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